

# Defining the effector(s) and mechanism(s) by which enteropathogenic *E. coli* (EPEC) inhibits Akt signalling upstream of PI3 kinase

Manoj Kumar

Submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Biosciences Institute Faculty of Medical Sciences Newcastle University August 2021

## Abstract

# Defining the effector(s) and mechanism(s) by which enteropathogenic *E. coli* (EPEC) inhibits Akt signalling upstream of PI3 kinase.

Disease associated with enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) depends on a Type 3 Secretion System (T3SS) that delivers 'effector' proteins into infected cells. The EPEC E2348/69 strain has approximately 6Mb of horizontally acquired DNA provided, mostly, by 21 prophage (PP) and integrative element (IEs). The T3SS, six effectors and two chaperones - latter aid the export of T3SS substrates - are encoded on an IE named LEE (Locus of Enterocyte Effacement). The remaining effectors are encoded on 7 other IE/PPs. EPEC inhibits the activity of a host kinase, Akt, that regulates important cellular processes, including cell survival, but the responsible effectors and inhibitory mechanism remain undefined. Previous work discounted roles for 17 of 21 known effectors but linked the inactivation process to Akt dephosphorylation in a manner requiring the LEE chaperone, CesT. Here, additional screening strategies undertaken to identify the responsible effector(s) uncovered key but redundant roles for two, previously unexamined, T3SS substrates: LifA (3223 residue, IE6-encoded) and LifA-like (2624 residue, IE2encoded) proteins. These proteins have putative glycosyltransferase and protease activities with LifA thought to be delivered into host cells. Other studies support CesT dependence of the inhibitory process and, surprisingly, revealed LifA's inhibitory activity requires IE2-encoded factor(s). Screening IE2-related fragments implicated factor(s) on a cloned 1.7kB region but further studies are needed to confirm the results and provide mechanistic insights. Studies on LifA's inhibitory mechanism revealed its T3SS- and CesT-dependent accumulation with host membrane proteins with dephosphorylation of Akt not requiring motifs needed for glycosyltransferase protease activities. its known and Bv contrast. immunoprecipitation studies linked the inhibitory mechanism to O-glycosylation of Akt and revealed infection-induced O-GlcNAc of an Akt-sized band that gradually disappeared in a T3SS-dependent manner. Studies described in this thesis not only identify the EPEC effectors responsible for inhibiting Akt activity, but also provide important insights into the inhibitory mechanism.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the following people who have supported me in some way or another throughout this project.

Firstly, my sincere thanks are extended to Prof. Brendan Kenny, for providing the opportunity to undertake my doctoral training, his continued support and guidance throughout this PhD project. Your support has been greatly appreciated these last four years and I would not have made this far without you. In addition, the members of the Kenny group for the support and advice provided over the years.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my thesis review committee: Dr Judith Hall and Dr Viktor Korolchuk for their encouragement, insightful comments, and hard questions.

I sincerely thank Dr. Andreas Werner, for supporting me over the past four years.

*I am grateful to Professor Mark Stevens, Edinburgh University for providing EPEC LifA mutant strains and antibody that were used in chapter 5.* 

*My* appreciation also extends to my laboratory colleagues past and present Dr. *Elyas* Oliver Amin, Dr. Aseel Al-layla, Dr. Azzeldin Madkour, Bian Almesseri and Bolaji Akanbi for your help, patience, and friendship over the past four years. To Dr. Guru Manickam and Dr. Peter Banks thank you for those stimulating discussions to answer my questions.

Personally, I acknowledge with a deep sense of reverence, my gratitude towards my parents and member of my family, who has always supported me morally as well as economically. I hope I have made you proud and will continue to do so. I would like to offer my sincere thanks to my fiancée Manorama (Dolly) for your love, patient, support in these past few years and letting me focus on PhD project. Last but not the least, my sister Anita and brother Yogesh for the unwavering support, love, and encouragement throughout this process.

Finally, gratitude goes to all my friends and past colleagues who directly or indirectly helped me to complete this project.

Any omission from this brief acknowledgement does not mean lack of gratitude.

# Table of contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of contents	iv
List of Tables	1
List of figures	2
Supplementary figures	4
List of Abbreviations	5
Chapter 1. Introduction	7
1.1General introduction	8
1.2 Overview of the gut microbiota	10
1.3 Escherichia coli (E. coli)	11
1.4 Pathogenic <i>E. coli</i>	13
1.5 Bacterial secretion systems	13
1.5.1 The Sec Secretion Pathway	13
1.5.2 The Tat Secretion Pathway	14
1.5.3 Type I secretion system (T1SS)	15
1.5.4 Type II secretion system (T2SS)	15
1.5.5 Type III secretion system (T3SS)	17
1.5.6 Type IV secretion system (T4SS)	18
1.5.7 Type V secretion system (T5SS)	18
1.5.8 Type VI secretion system (T6SS)	19
1.6 Enteropathogenic <i>E. coli</i> (EPEC) pathogenesis	22
1.7 The Locus of Enterocyte Effacement (LEE)	24
1.8 The EPEC Type-III-Secretion System (T3SS)	24
1.9 Other key virulence factors	29
1.9.1 Bundle Forming Pilus	29
1.9.2 Non-LEE-encoded (NIe) effectors	29
1.10 Discovery of EPEC T3SS effector proteins	33
1.10.1 LEE effector proteins	33
1.10.2 Non-LEE-encoded effector proteins	36
1.11 Effector functionality	36
1.11.1 Studies with non-polarised cells	37
1.11.1.1 Мар	37
1.11.1.2 EspF	38
1.11.1.3 EspG	38
1.11.1.4 EspH	39

1.11.1.5 EspZ	39
1.11.1.6 Tir	39
1.11.2 NIe effectors	42
1.11.3 Studies with polarised cells	45
1.11.3.1 EPEC induced Diarrhoea	45
1.11.3.1.1 Rapid onset of watery diarrhoea	45
1.11.3.1.2 Alteration of other transporter activity	45
1.11.1.3 Microvilli Effacement	48
1.11.1.4 Disruption of epithelial tight junctions (TJs)	48
1.12 EPEC interaction with M-cells	51
1.13 The PI3K/Akt/mTOR signalling pathway	51
1.13.1 PI3-Kinase and phosphoinositides	51
1.13.2 Protein kinase B (Akt)	52
1.13.3 Akt Structure and Function	53
1.13.4 PI3K-dependent Akt phosphorylation	55
1.13.5 Akt and protein phosphatases	55
1.13.6 Dysregulation of PI3K/Akt signalling	56
1.14 Prior studies on EPEC interference of PI3K/Akt signalling	58
1.15 Aims and objectives	59
Chapter 2. Materials & Methods	60
2.1 Cell Culture	61
2.1.1 Mammalian cell culture	61
2.1.2 Bacterial strains	61
2.1.3 Measurement of Bacterial Optical Density	62
2.2 Molecular Biology	62
2.2.1 Plasmids	62
2.2.2 Plasmid Purification	62
2.2.3 Polymerase Chain reaction (PCR)	62
2.2.4 Restriction enzyme digestion	65
2.2.5 Agarose gel Electrophoresis	65
2.2.6 DNA ligation	65
2.2.7 Bacterial Transformation	70
2.2.7.1 Heat-shock method	70
2.2.7.2 Electroporation Method	70
2.2.8 Construction of EPEC gene/gene complex knockout mutants	71
2.2.9 DNA sequencing	71
2.3 Bacterial infection-related	72
2.3.1 J774.A1 infection	72

2.3.2 Isolation of protein fractions from J774.A1 cells	. 72
2.3.3 Sodium dodecyl sulphate -Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE).	. 73
2.3.4 Immunofluorescence microscopy	. 74
2.3.5 Immunoprecipitation	. 75
Chapter 3. Identifying EPEC effector(s) with role in pAktSer473 loss	. 77
3.1 Introduction	78
3.2 Results	81
3.2.1 Re-establishing the Akt phosphorylation assay	. 81
3.3.2 Role for CesT chaperone in loss of pAktSer473 signal	. 83
3.2.3 T3SS-dependent pAktSer473 signal loss is a shared feature of other A/E pathogens	86
3.2.4 EPEC does not require LifA to inhibit Akt signalling	. 90
3.2.5 An integrative element (IE5) and two prophages (PP2, PP4) are not needed for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling.	or 90
3.2.6 Linking IE2-encoded factors with inhibition of Akt signalling	. 94
3.2.7 Key role for IE2-encoded factor(s)	. 98
3.2.8 Redundant roles for LifA and LifA-like effectors	103
3.2.9 The <i>lifA</i> ::Km gene product does not inhibit Akt signalling	106
3.3 Discussion	109
Chapter 4. Role of IE2 Pathogenicity island in EPEC's ability to inhibit Akt	113
4.1 Introduction.	114
4.2 Results	118
4.2.1 IE2 encodes factors needed for LifA to inhibit Akt signalling	118
4.2.2 Search for IE2 factors needed for LifA to inhibit Akt signalling.	123
4.2.3 Search for Fragment B <i>orf</i> /s restoring the Akt inhibitory activity of the IE2 muta	ant 128
4.2.4 Generating $\Delta$ <i>Frag-B,</i> $\Delta$ <i>Frag-B</i> / $\Delta$ <i>LifA-like and</i> $\Delta$ <i>Frag-B</i> / <i>NleS</i> deletion mutants in	n
EPEC-WT	133
4.3 Discussion	140
Chapter 5. Investigating the mechanism(s) by which LifA homologues inhibit Akt signalling	144
5.1 Introduction	145
5.2 Results	150
5.2.1 Plasmid expression of LifA	150
5.2.2 LifA expression does not require the CesT chaperone	153
5.2.3 LifA detection in the macrophage infection model	156
5.2.4 T3SS-dependent LifA localisation to the host membrane	158
5.2.5 CesT-dependent localisation to the host membrane	158
5.2.6 DXD motif-independent inhibition of Akt signalling by LifA	161

5.2.7 CHD motif-independent inhibition of Akt signalling by LifA.	. 164
5.2.8 LifA inhibition of Akt signalling does not require other NIe effector activity	. 166
5.2.9 pAkt signal loss is linked to O-GlcnAcylation of Akt	. 169
5.2.10 O-GlcNAcylation of Akt by EPEC depends on LifA	. 171
5.3 Discussion	. 175
Chapter 6. Final discussion	. 178
Supplementary Figures	. 184
Bibliography	. 204

# List of Tables

Table 1 Strains derived from Kenny Laboratory stocks	63
Table 2 Strains derived from Litvak Laboratory EPEC E2348/69 stocks	64
Table 3 Strains derived from Cepeda Laboratory EPEC E2348/69 stocks	64
Table 4 Plasmids used in this study	66
Table 5 Standard PCR reaction mixture	68
Table 6 Standard PCR reaction condition	68
Table 7 Oligonucleotide Primers used in this study	69
Table 8 Antibodies used for western blot and immunofluorescence studies	76
Table 9. Genotype of effector deficient EPEC strains	99

# List of figures

Figure 1 Schematic of epithelial cells lining the intestine and of the enterocyte	. 9
Figure 2 Crossian between microbiola and numan gut	12
Figure 4 Models for Gram-negative bacteria's substrate secretion mechanism	21
Figure 5 Attaching and effacing (AF) lesions on enterocytes infected by EPEC 2348/69	2 ' }
	23
Figure 6 Schematic representing the genetic organization of the locus of enterocyte	20
effacement (LEE) region from EPEC E2348/69	26
Figure 7 Schematic of the EPEC Type three Secretion System (T3SS)	28
Figure 8 Mobile genetic elements in EPEC E2348/69	30
Figure 9 Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) targeting of NF-kB and MAPK	
Signaling Pathways	32
Figure 10 Schematic representation of actin nucleation induced by EPEC	41
Figure 11 Overview on EPEC E2348/69 effector interference of immune signalling by	
infected enterocytes	44
Figure 12 EPEC effector proteins altering epithelial cell function and inducing water los	s
and diarrhoea	47
Figure 13 EPEC's T3SS effectors and their targets inside the host cells	50
Figure 14 Schematic of phosphatidylinositol (PtdIns).	54
Figure 15 Schematic of PI3K/Akt pathway	57
Figure 16 Genetic organisation EPEC E2348/69 PPs and IEs	80
Figure 17 Assay for monitoring T3SS-dependent inhibition of Akt signalling.	82
Figure 18 CesT and Tir-dependent loss of pAktSer473 signal	85
Figure 19 Other A/E pathogens inhibit Akt signalling	88
Figure 20 The EHEC $\Delta$ escN mutants lacks a functional T3SS	89
Figure 21 An intact lifA gene is not required for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling	92
Figure 22 IE5, PP2 and PP4 regions are not needed for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling	93
Figure 23 Screens indicate roles for IE and PP factors in EPEC mechanism to inhibit A	kt
signalling	95
Figure 24 Major contribution of IE2-encoded factor for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling $\$$	96
Figure 25 PCR support for use of $\triangle$ IE2 and $\triangle$ IE6 mutants.	97
Figure 26 EPEC6 multi-effector deficient strain cannot inhibit Akt signalling 10	00
Figure 27 Confirming presence/absence of lifA genes in EPEC mutants	01
Figure 28 PCR support for genotype of effector-deficient mutant strains	02
Figure 29 Key but redundant role for LifA homologues in loss of pAktSer473 signal 1	04
Figure 30 PCR support genotype of lifA single and double mutants	05
Figure 31 Non-functionality of lifA-Km disrupted gene supports redundancy hypothesis.	•
	07
Figure 32 PCR support genotype of lifA-like single and lifA-like/lifA:km mutants 1	80
Figure 33 Schematic of a Pathogenicity Island (PAI)1	16
Figure 34 Genetic map of IE2 Pathogenicity Island1	17
Figure 35 Construction of $\Delta$ IE2 mutant	20
Figure 36 The $\Delta$ IE2 and IE2a mutants do not inhibit pAktSer473 signalling 12	22
Figure 37 Schematic of predicted protein-encoding open reading frames	25
Figure 38 Generating pACYC-Frag-B	26
Figure 39 Fragment B encodes factor/s enabling $\Delta I \ge 2a$ to inhibit Akt signalling	27
Figure 40 Sub cloning Frag-B regions into pACYC-184	30
Figure 41 Sub cioning Frag-4 into PACYC-184	31

Figure 42 Restoring the ∆IE2 mutant's ability to inhibit Akt signalling is linked to 1	.7Kb
area of the 5.5kB Fragment B region	132
Figure 43 Schematic representation of IE2 region deletions	134
Figure 44 Generating ∆Frag-B mutant	135
Figure 45 Generating ∆Frag-B/L mutant	135
Figure 46 Generating ∆Frag-B/L/N mutant	136
Figure 47 IE2 mutant missing Frag-B/L/N cannot interfere with Akt signalling	138
Figure 48 Akt signalling inhibitory defect of EPEC ∆Frag-B/L/N mutant is not resc	ued by
plasmid re-introducing the 'N' region.	139
Figure 49 Schematic of different LifA homologs	148
Figure 50 Schematic showing location of predicted motifs within LifA/Efa1	148
Figure 51 Introduction of plifA plasmid into the lifA-double mutant	151
Figure 52 Anti-LifA antibodies detect LifA and a non-specific band	152
Figure 53 CesT-independent LifA expression	155
Figure 54 LifA detection in macrophage infection model	157
Figure 55 T3SS-dependent LifA localisation with host membrane proteins	159
Figure 56 CesT-dependent localisation of LifA with host membrane proteins	160
Figure 57 Loss of pAktSer473 signal does not require LifA DXD motif	163
Figure 58 Loss of pAktSer473 signal does not require LifA CHD motif	165
Figure 59 LifA dependent loss of pAkt signal does not require other NIe effectors	167
Figure 60 Possible role for Tir in the LifA driven loss of pAktSer473 signal	168
Figure 61 EPEC inhibition of Akt signalling is linked to Akt O-GlcNAcylation	170
Figure 62 LifA inhibition of Akt signalling is linked to O-GlcNAcylation of Akt	173

# Supplementary figures

Supplementary Figure 1 TOEA7∆core mutant inhibits Akt signalling when carrying plasmid encoding CesT and Tir	185
Supplementary Figure 2 Other A/E pathogens inhibit Akt signalling	186
Supplementary Figure 3 Major contribution of IE2-encoded factor for EPEC to inhibit A	٩kt
signalling	187
Supplementary Figure 4 EPEC6 multi-effector deficient strain cannot inhibit Akt signal	ling 188
Supplementary Figure 5 Redundant role for LifA homologues in loss of pAktSer473	
signal	189
Supplementary Figure 6 Role for LifA homologues in loss of pAktSer473 signal	190
Supplementary Figure 7 IE2 mutant confirms the T3SS mutant like profile of pAktSer4	73
signal	191
Supplementary Figure 8 Rescuing EPEC like loss of pAktSer473 signal with pACYC-	400
	192
Supplementary Figure 9 Restoring $\Delta IE2$ mutant's ability to inhibit Akt signalling	193
Supplementary Figure 10 Generating pACYC-nieE2/espL*/nieB*	194
supplementary Figure 11 <i>nie2/espl "nieB</i> " region is not required for EPEC to innibit A	105
Supplementary Figure 12 CesT independent LifA expression	195
Supplementary Figure 12 CesT independent expression of LifA	107
Supplementary Figure 14 Loss of nAktSer473 signal does not require LifA DXD motif	108
Supplementary Figure 15 Loss of pAktSer473 signal does not require LifA DXD motif	100
	199
Supplementary Figure 16 Loss of pAktThr308 signal also not require LifA DXD motif.	200
Supplementary Figure 17 Loss of pAktSer473 signal does not require LifA DXD or CH	ID
motifs	201
Supplementary Figure 18 EPEC inhibition of Akt signalling is linked to Akt O-	
GlcNAcylation.	202
Supplementary Figure 19 LifA inhibition of Akt signalling is linked to O-GlcNAcylation	of
Akt	203

### List of Abbreviations

A:-A/E lesion: attaching and effacing lesion Ab: antibody AD: activation domain AIEC: adherent invasive Escherichia coli Arf: ADP-ribosylation factor ARP2/3: actin related protein 2/3 B:-BD: binding domain BFP: bundle forming pilus BSA: bovine serum albumin B171: EPEC 0111: NM B171 C:-Cif: cell cycle inhibiting factor Carb: Carbenicillin Cmp: Chloramphenicol CR: Citobacter rodentium C-terminal: Carboxyl-terminal D:-DAPI: 4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole DEC: diarrhoeagenic Escherichia coli DH/PH: Dbl-homology/ pleckstrin homology DMEM: Dulbecco's minimal Eagle's medium DMSO: dimethylsulphoxide E:-EAF: EPEC adherence factor E. coli: Escherichia coli EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid EHEC: Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli EIEC: Enteroinvasive Escherichia coli EPEC: Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli Esc: EPEC secretion Esp: EPEC secreted/signalling protein

ESCRT: endosomal sorting complexes required for transport

#### F:-

FADD: Fas-associated death domain FAK: focal adhesion kinase FCS: Foetal calf serum G:-GAP: GTPase-activating protein GEF: guanine nucleotide exchange factor GFP: green fluorescent protein GI: genomic island Glc: Glucose H:-HRP- horseradish peroxidase I:-IE: integrative element IEC: intestinal epithelial cell IKK: IkB kinase IMS: inner membrane space IRTKS: insulin receptor tyrosine kinase substrate IκB: inhibitor of kappa B ITIM: Immune receptor tyrosine based inhibition motifs J:-JAM: Junction adhesion molecule JNK: c-Jun N-terminal kinase K:-Km: Kanamycin L:-LEE: locus of enterocyte effacement LB: Luria broth Ler: LEE-encoded regulator LPS: lipopolysaccharide LRR: leucine-rich repeat

5

#### M:-

Map: Mitochondrial associated protein MAPK: mitogen activated protein kinase MOI: Multiplicity of infection MS: mass spectrometry MSA: multiple sequence alignment MTS: mitochondrial targeting sequence N:-NF-κB: nuclear factor kappa-B NHE: Sodium hydrogen (Na+/H+) exchanger Nle: Non-LEE encoded N-WASP: Neural Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein 0:-OD600: Optical density 600 nm P:-PAK: p21-activated kinase PBS: Phosphate buffered saline PCR: Polymerase chain reaction Per: Plasmid encoded regulator PFA: Paraformaldehyde PI3K: Phosphoinositide 3-kinase PKA: Protein kinase A PIC: Protein inhibitor cocktail PMSF: Phenylmethane sulfonyl fluoride PPR: Polyproline region PRR: pattern recognition receptor Q:-

#### R:-

RDEC/REPEC: rabbit diarrhoeagenic *Escherichia coli*/ rabbit EPEC RHIM: Rip homotypic interaction motif RID: Rho GTPase inactivation domain RIPK: receptor-interacting protein kinase RTK: Receptor tyrosine kinase

#### S:-

SDS-PAGE: Sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

Ser: Serine

SGLT1: Sodium glucose transporter 1

SHIP2: SH2 domain containing inositol 5phosphatase

SH2: Src homology 2

SNX9: Sorting nexin 9

Src tyrosine kinase: Sarcoma tyrosine kinase

SOC: Super optimal broth with catabolite repression

SPATE: serine protease autotransporters of Enterobacteriaceae

STEAEC: Shiga toxin-producing enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* 

Stx: Shiga toxin

T:-

T1SS: Type I secretion system

T2SS: Type II secretion system

T3SS: Type III secretion system

T4SS: Type IV secretion system

T5SS: Type V secretion system

T6SS: Type VI secretion system

T7SS: Type VII secretion system

Tet: Tetracycline

Tir: Translocated intimin receptor

Thr: Threonine

TNFα: Tumour necrosis factor alpha

TRADD: Tumour necrosis factor receptor type1associated Death domain protein

TRAF: TNF receptor associated factor

U:-

UPEC: Uropathogenic Escherichia coli

W:-

WT: Wild type

# **Chapter 1. Introduction**

### **1.1 General introduction**

The human gastrointestinal (GI) tract provides one of the largest interfaces (250-400m<sup>2</sup>) with the external environment and contains trillions of microorganisms – the so called microbiome (Clements et al., 2012; Thursby and Juge, 2017). The gut microbiota is a complex community of mostly bacteria, with many important functions beneficial to the host including the breakdown of nutrients (not degradable by the host), preventing pathogen colonisation through competition, and promoting the maturation of immune cells (Clements et al., 2012). The GI tract is lined by a single layer of epithelial cells with the majority of nutrient, ion and fluid uptake occurring in the small intestine where most cells (>80%) are absorptive epithelia (enterocytes in small intestine; colonocytes in large intestine) with other cells including goblet (secrete mucin), Paneth (secrete antimicrobial peptides), enteroendocrine (release hormones) and antigen-presenting microfold (M)-cells (Snoeck et al., 2005). This monolayer is covered in glycocalyx and mucus layers which provide effective barriers to bacteria accessing the epithelial surface (Liao et al., 2009). Absorptive epithelia have a distinct gut lumen-exposed (apical) surface, often referred to as the brush border (Figure 1) as they are covered in microvilli (actin-rich, finger-like projections) that increase the cells' absorptive surface area and contain transporters for uptake of ions, nutrients and fluids (Snoeck et al., 2005; Vereecke et al., 2011) Loss of transporter function and/or microvilli has diarrhoeagenic consequences. Key to enterocyte development are tight junctions (TJ) between adjacent epithelia as they prevent the movement of molecules between the epithelial cells and also between apical and baso-lateral membrane (Figure 1) allowing the accumulation of molecules such as transporters in specific regions (Snoeck et al., 2005; Zihni et al., 2016). TJs prevent the unregulated movement of ions, nutrients, and foreign antigens across the epithelial layer. The basolateral membrane has high levels of receptors for detecting specific foreign antigen so TJ disruption would not only promote a diarrhoeal outcome but would also trigger antigen receptor driven signalling that induces anti-microbial and inflammatory responses (Corr et al., 2008).



# Figure 1 Schematic of epithelial cells lining the intestine and of the enterocyte.

Panel A- Components of the intestinal epithelial barrier. The intestinal epithelium is made up of a single layer of enterocytes (in the small intestine) or colonocytes (in the large intestine), with specialised cells scattered between them. Paneth cells abundant in the bases of small intestinal crypts generate antimicrobial peptides, whereas Goblet cells create mucins that form a dense inner mucus layer and a loose outer mucus layer (AMP). Microfold (M) cells and dendritic cells (DC) that extend their dendrites into the gut lumen facilitate antigen sampling. Abbreviations IgA, ILC, IL-22 and MAMP refer to immunoglobulin A, innate lymphoid cell, interleukin-22 (a cytokine) and microbe-associated molecular pattern (recognised by antigen receptors) respectively. Taken from Bossche *et al.*, 2017 (Van den Bossche, 2017) Panel B- Schematic of an enterocyte: the basal surface rests on the basal lamina, a fibrous network of collagen and proteoglycans that protects the epithelial cell layer with the apical (brush border) surface facing the lumen of the intestine. Tight junctions located just below the microvilli inhibit the diffusion of substances between apical and basolateral surfaces also, between adjacent cells. Image taken from Lodish *et al* (Lodish *et al.*, 2000).

# 1.2 Overview of the gut microbiota

The human gastrointestinal tract (GIT) contains a large number of bacteria, archaea and eukarya which co-evolved to form an intricate mainly mutualistic relationship with the human host (Bäckhed et al., 2005; Neish, 2009). The bacterial components of this 'gut microbiota' consists of more than 10<sup>14</sup> microorganisms from 12 different phyla and >2000 species (Neish, 2009; Hugon et al., 2015). The number of bacteria in the GIT is ~10 times more than human cells (Bäckhed et al., 2005) though a recent revised estimate is a 1:1 ratio (Sender et al., 2016). The bacterial community is composed more of anaerobes (60%-90%) than aerobes and can vary largely among different individuals as influenced by factors such as age, gender, diet, health treatments, host immune system, genetics, heath conditions, demographic, and socio-economic factors (Ardissone et al., 2014). The gut microbiota benefits the host in many ways such as enhancing the gut integrity (tight-tight junction interactions), modulating the activity of the epithelia cells (Natividad and Verdu, 2013), regulating host immunity (Gensollen et al., 2016), providing essential vitamins (Thursby and Juge, 2017) and protecting against pathogens (Bäumler and Sperandio, 2016).

An example of how gut bacteria are beneficial to the host comes from species that reside in the colon producing carbohydrate-active enzymes that act on indigestible polysaccharides. such as dietary fibre, generating short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) that can impact on host physiology (Musso *et al.*, 2010). Three SCFAs - propionate, butyrate and acetate - are linked to regulation of various cellular processes such as cell differentiation, proliferation and apoptosis (Corrêa-Oliveira *et al.*, 2016). Acetate is directly produced by anaerobic gut microbes whereas butyrate and propionate are produced by gut microbes using distinct pathways (Louis and Flint, 2017). Glycolysis and acetoacetyl-CoA produce butyrate whereas succinate or propanediol pathways forms propionate respectively (Louis and Flint, 2017). SCFAs play a crucial role in regulating inflammatory and immune responses (Morrison and Preston, 2016) with, for example, SCFAs stimulating interleukin 18 (IL-18) production involved in repairing and maintaining epithelial cell integrity (Corrêa-Oliveira *et al.*, 2016). Butyrate and propionate can also regulate gene

10

expression as they acts as histone deacetylase inhibitors (Morrison and Preston, 2016; Amin, 2017).

In addition, GIT microbiota are responsible for the *de novo* synthesis of essential vitamins such as B12 produced by lactic acid bacilli (Martens *et al.*, 2002; LeBlanc *et al.*, 2013). Folate, a vitamin critical for DNA synthesis and repair is produced by *Bifidobacteria* (Pompei *et al.*, 2007) with other species synthesising additional vitamins such as thiamine, riboflavin, biotin, nicotinic acid, pyridoxine and panthotenic acid (Hill, 1997). Bile acids which are poorly reabsorbed by the host can also metabolised by these gut microbes (Staley *et al.*, 2017).

However, changes in the microbial composition/diversity - known as microbiota disequilibrium or *dysbiosis* (Figure 2) can have negative impacts on the host (Thursby and Juge, 2017). For example, an important function of gut microbes is to inhibit the colonization of ingested, potentially pathogenic bacteria in a competitive manner or by providing an environment that hinders colonisation (Walter *et al.*, 2018). The availability of favourable conditions such as nutritional or functional space is crucial for microbial colonization and external factors that cause dysbiosis. Such as antibiotic treatment can enable colonisation by other species including pathogens (Libertucci and Young, 2019). One member of the gut microbiota is *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*).

### 1.3 Escherichia coli (E. coli)

*E. coli* are gram-negative, facultative anaerobic bacteria that reside in the human gastrointestinal tract where they colonize in the mucous layer of the colon (Nataro and Kaper, 1998). *E. coli* was first identified and described by Theodor Escherich in 1885 (Escherich, 1988). Taxonomically, *E. coli* is categorised in the enteric bacterial family, *enterobacteriaceae* (Nataro and Kaper, 1998). Most *E. coli* strains are commensals, causing disease only in susceptible individuals (Nataro and Kaper, 1998) but several highly adapted *E. coli* strains can cause enteric disease i.e., pathogenic (Kaper *et al.*, 2004). The strains derive their enteropathogenic capacity by acquiring specific factors that enhance their ability to colonize the gastro-intestinal tract (Kaper *et al.*, 2004).



### Figure 2 Crosstalk between microbiota and human gut

A balanced equilibrium is necessary for mutualistic relationships between host and gut microbiota. Clinical manifestation results due to a breakdown in host-bacterial crosstalk is called "dysbiosis". Abbreviations IgA and MAMP refer to immunoglobulin A and microbe-associated molecular pattern (recognised by antigen receptors) respectively. Image taken from Neish *et al* (Neish, 2009).

# 1.4 Pathogenic E. coli

Pathogenic *E. coli* strains have acquired '*virulence*' factors that confer important adaptations (such as adherence or cell invasion capacity) facilitating efficient colonization of a particular niche within the GIT (Kaper et al., 2004). Pathogenic E. coli are divided into two groups based on the infection site: extra-intestinal pathogenic *E. coli* (ExPEC) and intestinal pathogenic *E. coli* (InPEC) (Rojas-Lopez et al., 2018). ExPEC consists of strains that cause urinary tract infections (UTI) or neonatal meningitis (Kaper et al., 2004). The InPEC strains are subdivided into 8 prominent pathotypes based on their virulence factors, enterocyte interactions, mechanism of infection and tissue tropism. The pathotypes are: (i) enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC), (ii) enterohaemorrhagic E. coli (EHEC), (iii) enterotoxigenic E. coli (ETEC), (iv) enteroagggregative E. coli (EAEC), (v) enteroinvasive E. coli (EIEC), (vi) diffusely adherent E. coli (DAEC), (vii) adherentinvasive E. coli (AIEC) and (viii) Shiga-toxin producing enteroaggregative E. coli (STEAEC) (Nataro and Kaper, 1998; Croxen and Finlay, 2010). Key to the pathogenic capacity of bacteria are secretion systems which enable the delivery of proteins to the cell surface (for example to provide adhesins), the extracellular milieu or even into target cells.

## 1.5 Bacterial secretion systems

The most prevalent secretion mechanisms for transporting proteins across the cytoplasmic membrane are the general secretion (Sec) and twin arginine translocation (Tat) pathways (Natale *et al.*, 2008). The Sec and Tat pathways have been found in all domains of life and are the most highly conserved mechanisms of protein secretion (bacteria, archaea, and eukarya) (Robinson and Bolhuis, 2004; Papanikou *et al.*, 2007).

### 1.5.1 The Sec Secretion Pathway

The Sec pathway mainly transports proteins that are in an unfolded state and is composed of the SecYEG translocase comprising a protein targeting component, a motor protein and a membrane-integrated conducting channel (Natale *et al.*, 2008)(Figure 3). Sec-dependent secretion leads to proteins being delivered into or

across the cytoplasmic membrane; latter results in their accumulation in the extracellular and periplasmic space of gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria respectively (Korotkov et al., 2012). The Sec pathway relies on a hydrophobic signal sequence at the secreted protein's N-terminus which is generally 20 amino acids long and has three distinct regions: a positively charged amino terminal, a hydrophobic core and a polar carboxyl-terminal region (Natale et al., 2008). Many Sec pathway substrates have a signal sequence recognised by the SecB chaperone which inhibits the pre-secretory protein from folding (Randall and Hardy, 2002). SecB then transfers its substrates to SecA, a multifunctional protein that serves as both a protein guide and an ATPase that supplies energy, for protein translocation (Hartl et al., 1990). A protease (Lep) removes the SecB signal sequence from the secreted protein before transport via the channel, and the released protein is then folded upon delivery to the periplasm (Mogensen and Otzen, 2005)(Figure 3). While SecB-specific signal sequences direct proteins across the cytoplasmic membrane some substrates have signal recognition particle (SRP)-specific signal sequences that directs them for insertion into the inner membrane (Green and Mecsas, 2016) (Figure 3).

#### 1.5.2 The Tat Secretion Pathway

The Tat (twin-arginine translocation) pathway, in contrast to the Sec pathway, largely secretes folded proteins and is made up of three subunits (TatA, TatB, TatC) in gram-negative bacteria (Robinson and Bolhuis, 2004)(Figure 3). In Grampositive bacteria the system has 2 proteins as TatA and TatB are combined into one multi-functional protein (Sargent *et al.*, 1999; Pop *et al.*, 2002). TatB and TatC bind the signal peptide of Tat-substrate proteins, which then recruits TatA to construct the membrane-spanning channel (Müller, 2005). At the N-terminus of the folded protein, the Tat signal sequence has a pair of "twin" arginine residues in the S-R-R motif (Müller, 2005)(Figure 3). Other protein secretion systems have been identified in gram negative bacteria (Green and Mecsas, 2016). These are shown in Figure 4 and described in sections 1.5.3 - 8.

# 1.5.3 Type I secretion system (T1SS)

The T1SS was identified in relation to understanding how *E. coli* secreted a protein that could lyse red blood cells and therefore named hemolysin A (HlyA). The secretion system comprises 3 proteins - two in the inner (HlyB, HlyD) and one in the outer (TolC) membrane that transfer HlyA directly from the cytoplasm to the extracellular milieu i.e. bypassing the periplasmic space (Koronakis *et al.*, 2004)(Figure 4).

HlyB is an ABC transporter protein with a cytoplasmic domain that binds HlyA via an uncleaved C-terminal signal peptide. This HlyA C-terminal signal is crucial for secretion and can direct the secretion of other proteins (Kenny *et al.*, 1991; Nakano *et al.*, 1992). The HlyB ATPase forms a complex with the adaptor protein HlyD (membrane fusion protein; MFP) independent of ToIC (outer membrane protein; OMP) protein (Thanabalu *et al.*, 1998). However, in the presence of the HlyA substrate HlyD, a trimeric inner membrane protein, interacts with the outer membrane component ToIC (Figure 4) which opens the ToIC channels in an irislike mechanism to allow substrate secretion (Koronakis *et al.*, 2004; Dalbey and Kuhn, 2012). T1SS are found in most gram-negative bacteria linked to the release a large variety of virulence proteins.

# 1.5.4 Type II secretion system (T2SS)

T2SSs are also found in a wide range of pathogenic and non-pathogenic Gramnegative bacteria (Nivaskumar *et al.*, 2014). The T2SS consists of 12-15 components, known as general secretion pathway (Gsp) proteins in enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*, Xcp in *P. aeuroginosa* and Eps in *V.cholerae* (Korotkov *et al.*, 2012). The T2SS complex consists of four subassemblies: the OM complex, the IM platform, a periplasmic pseuodopilus and a cytoplasmic secretion ATPase (Korotkov *et al.*, 2012). Most studies have been carried out on the *E. coli* T2SS where the OM complex is composed of GspD - also known as the secretin forming a dodecameric complex GspD (Korotkov *et al.*, 2012).



# Figure 3 Schematic of the *Escherichia coli* Sec-and Tat protein secretion pathways

Indicated are the protein secretion pathways involving a) co-translational, b) post-translational or c) pre-folded proteins. Image taken from Natale *et al.*, (Natale *et al.*, 2008)

Four membrane proteins (GspC, GspF, GspL, GspM) form the IM platform which connects to the OM complex, by GspC interacting with the periplasmic domain of GspD (Abendroth et al., 2004; Abendroth et al., 2009). The cytoplasmic ATPase, GspF, is a ring-shaped hexamer that is recruited to the IM platform through binding GspL and GspF (Py et al., 2001; Gray et al., 2011; Gao et al., 2013). A pseudopilus within the periplasm (Figure 4) is composed of a major and four minor pseudopilin subunits which are inserted into the IM by the SecYEG translocon with the signal sequence cleaved by the peptidase GspO (Korotkov et al., 2012). The main pseudopilus component, GspG, polymerized into a pseudopilus anchored to the IM by a N terminal helix (Campos et al., 2010). The minor pseudopilins (GspH, Gspl, GspJ, GspK) locate at the tip of the GspG helical filament completing the pseudopilus (Cisneros et al., 2012; Korotkov et al., 2012). T2SS substrates are transferred into the periplasm by the Tat or Sec pathways where they can form disulphide bonds or multi-protein complexes before engaging the T2SS pseudopilus (Nivaskumar et al., 2014). The T2SS ATPase is utilised in the formation of the periplasmic pseudopilus and the pushing of substrates (at tip of pilus) through the OM channel. Extension of pseudopilus drive substrates release through the secretin channel in a piston-like manner with disassembly allowing reuse of the system for further rounds of substrate secretion (Nivaskumar et al., 2014).

# 1.5.5 Type III secretion system (T3SS)

T3SSs - also known as "injectisomes" and "needle and syringe-like appendage" - deliver protein substrates directly into target host cells (Cornelis, 2006; Galán and Wolf-Watz, 2006; Büttner, 2012)(Figure 4). Once transported into the host cell, these effector proteins subvert specific cellular functions to for example promote bacteria invasion and colonization processes (Büttner, 2012). This system is described in more detail in relation to EPEC pathogenesis (see section 1.8. below)

# 1.5.6 Type IV secretion system (T4SS)

The T4SSs were first identified in relation to transferring DNA between bacteria and have been found in Gram-negative, Gram-positive bacteria and some archaea (Alvarez-Martinez and Christie, 2009). T4SSs can also be dedicated to transferring only effector proteins into target host cells with the prototypic system composed of 12 proteins: VirB1-11 and VirD4 (Figure 4). The VirB3 protein along with B6-B10 form the scaffold and translocation apparatus (Christie et al., 2014), while, the extracellular pilus is formed by VirB2 and VirB5 (Trokter et al., 2014). VirB1 is a periplasmic lytic transglycosylase that remodels the peptidoglycan layer and is crucial for pilus biogenesis (Trokter et al., 2014). VirB4, VirB11 and VirD4 are essential for providing energy for the T4SS system (Trokter et al., 2014) with 14 copies of VirB7, VirB9 and VirB10 making the core-OM complex (Chandran et al., 2009). Substrate secretion is mediated by VirD4 which acts as a molecular "gate" beneath the secretion apparatus (Atmakuri et al., 2004) and delivers the substrate to VirB11 for transfer across the periplasm and outer membrane (Chandran et al., 2009) and, for some pathogenic bacteria, transfer into target host cells (Backert and Meyer, 2006).

# 1.5.7 Type V secretion system (T5SS)

The classical T5SS is also known as the autotransporter system as it contains all the information to enable its secretion across the IM, periplasm and OM (Deng *et al.*, 2012; Costa *et al.*, 2015). The SecYEG translocon transfers the T5SS protein, via a cleavable signal sequence, into the periplasm (Leyton *et al.*, 2012)(Figure 4). Once in the periplasm, a  $\beta$ -barrel domain is inserted - by the BAM ( $\beta$ -Barrel Assembly Machinery) system - into the OM to provide a pore by which the 'passenger' domain is transferred across the OM (Leyton *et al.*, 2012). The passenger domain can be either be cleaved to provide a secreted protein e.g. toxin or remain on the cell surface to act, for example, as an adhesin (Junker *et al.*, 2009; Deng *et al.*, 2012).

### 1.5.8 Type VI secretion system (T6SS)

The Type-6-secretion system (Figure 4) was only described in 2006 but is now known to be widely distributed among Proteobacteria (Pukatzki et al., 2006; Boyer et al., 2009). It is a cell envelope-spanning machine, composed of 14 proteins, that mainly function in bacterial competition - delivers 'toxins' into the periplasm of other bacteria but can also deliver proteins into mammalian cells (Wan et al., 2007; Boyer et al., 2009; Basler et al., 2012; Zoued et al., 2014). The T6SS is composed of two main complexes: a membrane complex consisting of IM proteins homologous to T4SS components and a tail complex with components evolutionary related to those of the bacteriophage contractile tail (Pukatzki et al., 2006; Wan et al., 2007; Leiman et al., 2009). The membrane complex attaches the T6SS tail complex - a long tubular structure that extends deep into the bacterial cell cytoplasm - to the cell envelope (Basler et al., 2012). The membrane complex consists of 3 proteins: TssM an IM protein that binds the OM lipoprotein TssJ to the IM protein TssL (Abendroth et al., 2009; Felisberto-Rodrigues et al., 2011; Zoued *et al.*, 2014). The T6SS tail tube and sheath are assembled on a platform known as baseplate formed by VgrG and TssE - homologs of the T4 phage baseplate proteins (Leiman et al., 2009). In the middle of the baseplate complex, the VgrG trimer forms a spike (Leiman et al., 2009; Basler et al., 2012) which is hypothesised to act as a nucleation platform for the T6SS tail tube's assembly (Brunet et al., 2014) (Figure 4). In-vitro, Hcp proteins form hexameric rings with an interior diameter of 40 microns (Mougous et al., 2006; Zoued et al., 2014). In contrast, in-vivo, Hcp hexamers form tubular structures by stacking head to tail (Brunet et al., 2014). The tail sheath is predicted to be built by TssB-TssC heterodimers which polymerize around the developing Hcp tube (Basler et al., 2012; Brunet et al., 2014).

Bacterial cytosol



Tail complex

Hcp tube

-TssB-TssC sheath

DNA

Protein

# Figure 4 Models for Gram-negative bacteria's substrate secretion mechanism

Panel A-Schematic of main secretion systems in gram negative bacteria. Abbreviations: HM (host membrane); OMP (outer membrane protein); IM (inner membrane) OMP: MFP (membrane fusion protein). Yellow represents ATPases and chaperones. Adapted from image generated by Tseng and colleagues (Tseng *et al.*, 2009). Panel B- **a**-Antibiotics and small chemicals are translocated to the membrane fusion protein (MFP) by the inner membrane component (IMC) via the IM proton gradient, and they are released into the extracellular compartment by the outer membrane (OM) protein ToIC in resistancenodulation-division (RND) pumps. b- The GspC protein recruits the substrate (a folded exoprotein) to the secretin in T2SSs. GspE's ATPase activity is linked to the formation of the periplasmic pseudopilus via the IM platform, c-T3SS, d- The T4SS mechanism for pilus formation and substrate translocation is depicted schematically. VirB11 interacts with VirB4 to increase pilus subunit assembly (step 1), whereas VirB11 interacts with VirD4 to assist substrate translocation (step 2), e- On the membrane complex, the T6SS tail complex assembles. Effectors are recruited to the spike-tube complex via the extension domains of VgrG and/or PAAR-repeat proteins (and/or non-covalent binding to them) as well as incorporation into the haemolysin co-regulated protein (Hcp) tube (step 1). Sheath contraction is triggered by an unknown extracellular signal, which causes the spike-tube complex to eject over the target membrane, allowing effector proteins to enter the cell (step 2). ClpV, an ATPase, disassembles the constricted TssB–TssC sheath, allowing a new T6SS complex to be built from the freed subunits (step 3).

### 1.6 Enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC) pathogenesis

The focus of this thesis is enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC) which was the first E. coli pathotype to be linked to human disease (Levine et al., 1978) and remains an important agent of infantile diarrhoea in developing countries (Nataro and Kaper, 1998; Deborah Chen and Frankel, 2005). Diarrhoea is worldwide problem with, in 2016, diarrhoea causing more than 1.6 million deaths and the eighth leading cause of mortality (Moraga and Collaborators, 2017). Children under the age of 5 years are most susceptible and responsible for more than a quarter of the deaths with over 90% recorded in South Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa (Moraga and Collaborators, 2017). An uneven proportion of diarrhoeal morbidity and mortality exists with it being most abundant in low-income countries where there are less resources and poorer health infrastructures compared to high-income countries (Mills, 2014). EPEC remains an important contributor to infantile diarrhoeal cases and death (Liu et al., 2016). Common symptoms reported in EPEC infections are watery diarrhoea, dehydration, vomiting, food intolerance, and low-grade fever (Nataro and Kaper, 1998; Goosney et al., 2001). In addition, EPEC infection may lead to extreme nutrient malabsorption, resulting in persistence diarrhoea and nutritional aggravation (Fagundes-Neto and Scaletsky, 2000).

The main target of EPEC is the enterocyte of the small intestine with disease linked the formation of attaching and effacing (A/E) lesions (Moon *et al.*, 1983). The latter refers to the bacteria penetrating through the microvilli-rich brush border enabling intimate interaction with the host membrane and the formation of pedestal-like structures under the adherent, non-invasive bacteria (Figure 5). Such alterations depend on a horizontally acquired pathogenicity island called **LEE**, which stands for **Locus of Enterocyte Effacement**. LEE encodes a **Type 3 Secretion System** (T3SS) that delivers so-called 'effector' proteins into the enterocyte whose alteration of host cellular processes drive the disease (Croxen *et al.*, 2013; Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2020).

22



# Figure 5 Attaching and effacing (AE) lesions on enterocytes infected by EPEC 2348/69

Panel A) AE lesions: intimately adherent EPEC linked to loss of microvilli and formation of pedestal formation beneath the adhered bacteria. Panel B) higher magnification (×45000) of A/E lesion associated bacteria. Taken from Knutton *et al.*, (Knutton, 1995).

# **1.7 The Locus of Enterocyte Effacement (LEE)**

In 1990, the first chromosomal gene crucial for A/E lesion formation was identified and named *eaeA* (*E. coli* attaching and effacing A) (Jerse *et al.*, 1990). Five years later, the *eaeA* gene was localised to a pathogenicity island (PAI) in EPEC E2348/69 that was named Locus of Enterocyte Effacement, LEE (McDaniel *et al.*, 1995). Transfer of LEE into the non-pathogenic strain *E. coli* K12 provided the ability to form A/E lesions (McDaniel and Kaper, 1997). This LEE region is ~36kb in size and has 41 genes organised into five main operons (LEE1-LEE5; Figure 6) and some smaller transcriptional units (Elliott *et al.*, 2000; Yerushalmi *et al.*, 2014). LEE encodes proteins which form the T3SS, transcriptional regulators, T3SS substrates (several T3SS components including 'translocator' proteins plus effector proteins), chaperones (promote the stability and secretion of T3SS substrates), a protein of unknown function (*rOrf1*) and an outer membrane protein, Intimin - the *eaeA* gene product (Figure 6)(Deng *et al.*, 2004; Barba *et al.*, 2005; Dean and Kenny, 2009).

# **1.8 The EPEC Type-III-Secretion System (T3SS)**

The T3SS apparatus is a syringe-like structure enabling the direct delivery of 'effector' proteins from the bacterial cytosol into the target host cell (Gaytán *et al.*, 2016). The EPEC T3SS is composed of ~20 proteins - most named Esc for *E. coli* secretion apparatus component - which form a basal body, extracellular appendage, and cytoplasm-located components (Coburn *et al.*, 2007) (Figure 7).

The basal body spans the bacterial envelope and consists of three multimeric rings with EscD and EscJ forming the inner membrane-spanning and membrane-tethered rings respectively; EscD interacts with the outer membrane ring formed by membrane-spanning EscC (Creasey *et al.*, 2003; Ogino *et al.*, 2006). The basal body encloses the protein export apparatus (composed of EscR/S/T/U/V), needle like-structure (composed of EscF subunits) that extends into the extracellular space and an adaptor protein (EscI) that connects the export apparatus and EscF needle structures. The entrance to the export channel is provided by the C-terminal

domain of EscV with the order and timing of substrate export controlled by the cytoplasmic membrane-associated C-ring (Diepold *et al.*, 2011).

T3SS substrates include several T3SS components - Escl, EscF and translocator proteins (EspA, EspB, EspD) - regulators (EscP; control the length of the EscF needle and when to secrete different substrates) and effectors. The export process is promoted by an ATPase complex - the ATPase (EscN) plus positive (EscO) and negative (EscL) regulators (Pallen *et al.*, 2005; Biemans-Oldehinkel *et al.*, 2011; Romo-Castillo *et al.*, 2014).

In EPEC, the EscF needle length is regulated by a ruler protein, EscP, interaction with assembling EscF subunits and the export apparatus protein, EscU. When the required length is reached, an interaction occurs that caused a switch in substrate specificity from needle to translocon components, EspA, EspB and EspD (Creasey et al., 2003; Feria et al., 2012; Sal-Man et al., 2012). The export of the EspA protein leads to its polymerisation at the end of EscF to produce a long extension (up to 750nm) which is then tipped by the secreted EspB and EspD translocator proteins (Knutton et al., 1998; Crepin et al., 2005). The EspB and EspD proteins can insert into the host plasma membrane (forming a 3-5 nm pore), thus, completing an effector-delivery conduit between the cytoplasmic compartments of the bacterial and mammalian cells (Ide et al., 2001). The pore formation step induces a regulatory event involving a SepD-SepL-CesL complex, switching export specificity to the effector proteins (O'Connell et al., 2004). It has recently been demonstrated that through its association with SepL, the ruler protein EscP also plays a role in this second switch (Shaulov et al., 2017). The export of most T3SS substrates is aided by chaperones by promoting intracellular stability, preventing unwanted protein-protein interactions, maintaining an unfolded state and delivering the substrate to the T3SS (Mills et al., 2008; Ramu et al., 2013). There are several classes of chaperone: class III, class II and class I that bind secreted needle components, translocators and effector proteins respectively (Gaytán et al., 2016).



# Figure 6 Schematic representing the genetic organization of the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE) region from EPEC E2348/69

The LEE region of EPEC (E2348/69) includes 41 open reading frames organised in five polycistronic operons indicated LEE1-LEE5. The LEE region encodes proteins which form the T3SS including Esc (Black) and Sep (Yellow), regulatory factors (Ler, GrIA, GrIR, and Mpc; Red), chaperones (Purple), translocator proteins (Blue), effector proteins (Esp; Orange), the bacterial outer membrane protein Intimin (*eae*; Green) and other putative open reading frames (Orf; White). Adapted from Wong *et al.*, (Wong *et al.*, 2011).

Class I chaperones are further divided based on substrate number: class IA bind only one effector while class IB binding multiple effectors. LEE encodes 6 effectors (EspG, EspH, EspF, EspZ, Map, Tir) and one class 1A chaperone, CesF (binds EspF), and one class 1B chaperone, CesT (Elliott *et al.*, 2002; Mills *et al.*, 2013). Originally CesT was classified as a class IA chaperone with one substrate, Tir, (Abe *et al.*, 1999) but was later found to have many substrates (Mills *et al.*, 2013; Gaytán *et al.*, 2016). Some EPEC effectors having no known chaperone (Mills *et al.*, 2013; Gaytán *et al.*, 2016).



### Figure 7 Schematic of the EPEC Type three Secretion System (T3SS)

The T3SS consists of (i) a basal body: three membrane rings connected via a periplasmic inner rod with a needle-like protrusion (ii) extracellular appendage: secreted 'translocator' EspA protein extends the needle and is tipped by secreted, membrane-inserting, EspB and EspD translocator proteins and (iii) cytoplasmic components: chaperones (promote stability/secretion of T3SS substrates), sorting platform proteins (ATPase, gatekeepers) that regulate the timing/order of substrate secretion. Taken from Slater *et al.*, (Slater *et al.*, 2018).
# 1.9 Other key virulence factors

#### 1.9.1 Bundle Forming Pilus

EPEC targeting of enterocytes depends on adhesins which for typical EPEC strains is mediated by the Bundle forming Pilus (BFP) encoded on a large plasmid named pEAF, for EPEC adherence factor plasmid (Levine et al., 1978; Giron et al., 1991). BFP is produced from the 14 gene *bfp* operon where one gene, *bfpA*, provides the major structural subunit, bundlin (Stone et al., 1996). First described as a bundle of rope like filaments, the BFP (50-500nm wide;14-20µm long) is retractable and is also crucial for bacterium-to-bacterium interaction leading to characteristic microcolonies (Giron et al., 1991; Clarke et al., 2003). BFP expression is regulated by the products of other pEAF genes, the plasmid-encoded regulator genes (perA, perB, perC) produced in response to environmental signals (Puente et al., 1996; Mellies et al., 1999). BFP expression is optimal between 35°C and 37°C in the presence of calcium and during exponential growth (Puente et al., 1996; Mellies et al., 1999). BFP is an essential EPEC virulence factor due to its roles in enterocyte colonisation and micro-colony formation for (Giron et al., 1991; Bieber et al., 1998; Knutton et al., 1999). BFP binds to N-acetyllactosamine decorated moieties on the surface of host enterocytes (Hyland et al., 2008) and acts during micro-colony formation in combination with the *E. coli* typical pili (Saldana et al., 2009).

### 1.9.2 Non-LEE-encoded (NIe) effectors

The existence of T3SS effectors encoded outside the LEE region was first suggested by the identification of an EspG homologue (Orf3/EspG2) encoded on a pathogenicity island encoding another known virulence factor, the secreted EspC autotransporter protein (Elliott *et al.*, 2001). However, most non-LEE-encoded (NIe) effectors were identified from bioinformatics analysis of the EPEC E2348/69 genome sequence (Dean and Kenny, 2009; Iguchi *et al.*, 2009). Firstly, the analysis revealed a 4,965,553bp circular chromosome and two plasmids (Figure 8) with the chromosome sequence remarkably conserved to that of other examined *E. coli* strains - EHEC O157:H7 strain Sakai, ETEC strain E24377A and non-pathogenic



#### Figure 8 Mobile genetic elements in EPEC E2348/69

Genetic organisation of EPEC E2348/69 PPs and IEs containing gene related to the virulence. The first circle shows the locations of PPs and IEs from the outside (purple, lambda-like PPs; light blue, other PPs; green, IEs and the LEE element), the second circle shows the positions of the nucleotide sequence (in Mbp), the third and fourth circles show clockwise and anticlockwise transcribed CDSs. The fifth circle shows the tRNA (red) genes, the sixth circle shows the rRNA (blue) operons, the seventh circle shows the G+C material, and the GC skew is seen in the eighth circle. B) Plasmids of EPEC strain E2348/69. The boxes represent CDSs transcribed clockwise and anticlockwise, respectively, in the outer and inner circles. Black boxes indicate pseudogenes, and the colours mentioned above for panel A are indicated by other CDSs. Image taken from Iguchi *et al.*, (Iguchi *et al.*, 2009).

(laboratory strains) - with approximately 70% of genes (3141 of 4,488) having homologues in the strains (Iguchi *et al.*, 2009). Most EPEC specific genes (349/424) are located on horizontally acquired DNA - 319 on prophages (PPs) and/or integrative elements (IEs) - with the remainder (30 genes) on the plasmids.

There are 13 PPs (PP1 to PP13) and 8 IE's (LEE, IE1a, IE1b, IE2 to IE6) (Figure 8) of which three (PP1, IE1a and IE1b) are very small (<4kb) with the rest between 10-61kb in size (Iguchi *et al.*, 2009). The bioinformatics approach identified 14 putative effectors - most named NIe (non-LEE-encoded) with some retaining the Esp nomenclature – encoded, usually in clusters, on 3 prophages (PP) and 3 Insertion elements (IE) (Dean and Kenny, 2009; Iguchi *et al.*, 2009). NIe effector activity is mainly linked to interfering with signalling cascaded controlling the activity of host transcriptional factors modulating the expression of anti-microbial, cell death and/or inflammatory responses (see below; section 1.11.2) (Hemrajani *et al.*, 2010; Gao *et al.*, 2013; Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2020).

Intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) have specific receptors for cytokines and foreign antigens whose activation triggers signalling cascades through the I $\kappa$ B and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways that control transcriptional factors (e.g., NF- $\kappa$ B, AP-1) directing the expression of proteins involved in antimicrobial, inflammatory and cell death pathways (Takeuchi and Akira, 2010) (Figure 9). Most relevant is the canonical pathway involving the p50/p65 dimer NF- $\kappa$ B isoform which remains in the cytoplasm until the I $\kappa$ B (inhibitory NF- $\kappa$ B) protein is phosphorylated by the I $\kappa$ B kinase complex (IKK) leading to I $\kappa$ B degradation which releases the p50/p65 complex to enter the nucleus to direct the transcription of NF- $\kappa$ B-dependent genes (Misra *et al.*, 2012). Receptor-triggered activation of IKK also leads to the activation of Map kinases (p38, JNK, Erk) which control the activity of other transcriptional factors (Figure 9).



# Figure 9 Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (EPEC) targeting of NF-κB and MAPK Signaling Pathways.

EPEC strain activate proinflammatory signaling through sGTPase stimulation, Tir, NleB, and NleE interfere with TRAF signaling. The proteases NleD and NleC cleave activated MAPKs and the p65 subunit of NF-κB, respectively. Despite NleF promoting NF-κB signaling, NleH1 prevents nuclear translocation of RPS3, a component of NF-κB transcription complexes. Broken lines indicate unknown mechanisms. Abbreviations: PM, plasma membrane; TRAF, TNF receptor associated factor; TAK1, TGFβ-activated kinase 1; cPLA<sub>2</sub>, cytoplasmic phospholipase 2; PMN, polymorphonuclear cell. Image taken from Pinaud *et al.*, (Pinaud *et al.*, 2018).

# 1.10 Discovery of EPEC T3SS effector proteins

# 1.10.1 LEE effector proteins

The first EPEC effector was discovered as a receptor for Intimin. Intimin, a 94kDa outer membrane protein identified in 1990 is crucial for intimate EPEC-host cell attachment and is encoded by the eaeA gene (Jerse et al., 1990). It was reported that intimin interacts with the tyrosine phosphorylated form of a host receptor with a 90kDa apparent molecular mass, therefore named Hp90, triggering the formation of the pedestal-like structures observed in A/E lesions (Rosenshine et al., 1992; Rosenshine et al., 1996b). However, in 1997, Hp90 was shown not to be a host protein but a LEE-encoded effector that was name Tir for Translocated intimin receptor (Kenny et al., 1997b). This discovery arose from studies examining optimal conditions for T3SS secretion of translocator proteins revealing a novel secreted protein with an apparent molecular mass of ~78kDa (Ep78). The 78kDa protein was isolated in sufficient quantities for N-terminal sequencing and to generate polyclonal antibodies. The former revealed N-terminal residues enabling the design of oligonucleotides to identify the encoding gene (Kenny et al., 1997b). A well-developed strategy for determining effector delivery into host cells is to fractionate infected cells into Triton X100 soluble (contains host cytoplasm and membrane proteins plus T3SS effectors) and insoluble (contains host nuclear and cytoskeletal proteins plus proteins from adherent or remaining bacteria) components and using western blot methodologies to probe the Triton soluble fraction for the presence of the T3SS-dependent effector protein. Indeed, this approach confirmed the T3SS-dependent delivery of Ep78 and revealed that it undergoes phosphorylation within the host cells which increases its apparent molecular mass to 90kDa. Studies to confirm Hp90 is the phosphorylated form of Ep78 involving deleting the encoding gene, plasmid expressing Ep78 or Ep78epitope tagged versions and illustrating Ep78-Intimin interaction (Kenny et al., 1997b).

The second EPEC effector protein was discovered from studies examining the LEE region revealing a gene encoding a polyproline rich 206 amino acid protein predicted to be an effector (Elliott *et al.*, 1998). Antibodies were raised against the

protein, the encoding gene was deleted and cloned onto an expression vector enabling western blot studies illustrating the 206-residue protein to be T3SSdependent secreted protein. However, the gene deleted strain behaved like EPEC in examined assays including Tir/Intimin interaction triggering signalling leading to actin nucleation. The authors named this putative effector EspF (Elliott *et al.*, 1998).

The third EPEC effector was identified due to its gene being located immediately upstream of *tir* and thus a potential effector-encoding gene (Kenny and Jepson, 2000). To investigate this possibility the gene (*orf19*) was deleted from EPEC and an epitope-tagged variant was generated to enable Western blot and epifluorescent microscopy studies. These approaches illustrated Orf19 to be delivered into host (HeLa) cells in a T3SS-dependent manner where it accumulated in punctate structures. The latter were shown to be mitochondria, leading to Orf19 being remained Map for Mitochondrial-associated protein, with Map-mitochondrial interaction linked to organelle dysfunction (Kenny and Jepson, 2000).

The fourth LEE effector was identified through comparing protein sequences of putative LEE genes to known effectors revealing the *rorf2* gene product had significant sequence homology (21% identity and 40% similarity) to a *Shigella flexneri*/enteroinvasive *E. coli* (EIEC) encoded T3SS effector, VirA (Uchiya *et al.*, 1995). Standard investigative approaches were undertaken (deleting the gene, plasmid re-introducing an epitope tagged variant) enabling Western blot analysis to show T3SS-dependent secretion and delivery into infected cells. Interestingly, rOrf2 - renamed EspG - functionally replaced VirA but the *espG*-deficient strain had no obvious defect in examined *in vitro* cellular models. It was suggested that the latter could be due to functional redundancy as the group had identified a second VirA/EspG homolog - named Orf3/EspG2 - on the pathogenicity island encoding the EspC autotransporter. However, an *espG* double mutant behaved like EPEC with EspG2 also functionally substituting for VirA.

The fifth LEE effector was identified by screening LEE genes for those encoding proteins that could be delivered in host cells in a T3SS-dependent manner (Braunstein *et al.*, 2003). This approach involved plasmid expressing the proteins as Cya (adenylate cyclase) fusion proteins since delivery into host cells would lead to T3SS-dependent increases in cAMP levels. CyaA is a calmodulin-dependent

enzyme and thus only active if transferred into host cytoplasm which contains calmodulin. The work revealed orf18 to encode a T3SS-dependent effector -named EspH - supported by western blot analysis and epiflourescent microscopy detection of an epitope (Flag) tagged variant. Examining an *espH*-deficient strain for defects in known EPEC T3SS-dependent phenotypes revealed EspH promoted actin nucleation event triggered by Tir/Intimin interaction and inhibited those dependent on Map i.e., formation of actin rich filopodia. It is worth noting that the Cya fusion protein approach was used earlier to demonstrate T3SS-dependent delivery of EspB into host cells, consistent with its role as a membrane inserted translocator protein. However, western blot analyses revealed significant amounts of EspB in the host cytoplasmic fraction (Knutton *et al.*, 1998) suggestive of it being an artefact of the over-expression system or it being a fusion protein or that EspB may have effector functions. Indeed, the latter has been supported by subsequent studies revealing EspB interactions with  $\alpha$ -catenin,  $\alpha_1$ -antitrypsin and myosin linked to subversive events (Kodama et al., 2002; lizumi et al., 2007; Hamaguchi et al., 2008).

The sixth, and final, LEE effector was originally thought to regulate T3SS functionality leading to its original Sep designation (Hauser, 2009). However, studies involving the systematic inactivation of all *Citrobacter rodentium* LEE genes found no such defect for the *sepZ*-deficient mutant but revealed an important role for full virulence (Deng *et al.*, 2004). Approaches, which included the use of a CyaA fusion protein, were used to illustrate that EspZ is a T3SS-dependent substrate that is delivered into host cells. Bioinformatics interrogations revealed that, like other effectors, there was a high level of sequence difference between A/E pathogen strains. Moreover, EspZ was predicted to have two transmembrane domains suggesting that, like Tir, it inserts into the host membrane in a hairpin-like structure. Indeed, microscopy studies revealed some EspZ co-localisation with Tir (Kanack *et al.*, 2005).

## 1.10.2 Non-LEE-encoded effector proteins

Nearly all of the other T3SS effectors (see Figure 10-11) were, as previously mentioned, identified from bioinformatics interrogation of the EPEC E2348/69 genome sequence (Dean and Kenny, 2009; Iguchi *et al.*, 2009). This discovery promoted studies - using the standard approaches - to firstly confirm the gene encoded expressible T3SS-dependent effectors and then to understand effector functions. Notably, some studies used more fluorescent tags - such as  $\beta$ -lactamase (Bla) proteins and GFP – that are useful for screening programs to identify effectors and/or to monitor effector delivery (or location within host cells) in real time (Stebbins and Galan, 2001; Mills *et al.*, 2008; Van Engelenburg and Palmer, 2010).

However, the idea of additional cryptic effectors was illustrated by a proteomics approach revealing 3 novel T3SS substrates - the very large LifA (3223 residues) and LifA-like (2624 residues) proteins and, on a prophage (PP) not previously known to encode effectors, a T3SS translocated protein named NIeJ (Deng *et al.*, 2012). The final effector, the EspC autotransporter - a member of the SPATE (serine protease auto-transporters of the Enterobacteriaceae family) and virulence associated factor - is also delivered into host cells in a T3SS-dependent manner (Elisa Drago-Serrano *et al.*, 2006; Vidal and Navarro-García, 2008; Salinger *et al.*, 2009; Serapio-Palacios and Navarro-Garcia, 2016). Subsequent investigations argue that the T3SS can deliver some effectors from the bacterial surface into the colonised host cells though it is not established whether this is through the internal conduit or the extracellular surface of the translocon (Tejeda-Dominguez *et al.*, 2017).

# 1.11 Effector functionality

Critical for understanding effector functionality is the identification of 'phenotypes or cellular processes/events altered in a T3SS-dependent manner thereby allowing the contribution of specific effectors to be interrogated. Once an effector or effectors are linked to a T3SS-dependent subversive event then studies can explore the effector(s) contribution. For example, while EPEC is considered a non-

invasive pathogen it was found to induce its uptake into cultured cells enabling screening mutant banks - generated by transposon mutagenesis - for those with invasion defects leading to the discovery of the first virulence gene, *eaeA* (encodes Intimin) and the LEE region (Jerse *et al.*, 1990; McDaniel *et al.*, 1995). Another example relates to the discovery of actin-rich filopodia at the EPEC infection site on HeLa cells with studies revealing a T3SS-dependence requiring the Map effector independent of it targeting mitochondria (Jepson *et al.*, 2003). Filipodia formation in mammalian cells was previously linked to activation of a Cdc42::N-WASP::actin nucleation signalling pathway with cellular (including ecotopic expression of Map) and biochemical studies revealing Map to be a guanine-nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) that specifically activates Cdc42 (Huang *et al.*, 2009).

Plasmid expression of effector proteins - in EPEC or host cells (ectopically) - can lead to artefacts due to artificially high levels of the protein within the host cell so it is crucial to confirm the implicated functions of effectors under normal infection conditions. Moreover, while studies with non-polarised cultured cells have been extremely useful for identifying effectors, T3SS-dependent phenotypes, effector functions etc it is important to confirm *in vivo* relevance using, for example, cultured enterocyte models that morphologically and physiologically mimic EPEC's main target within the human GIT (Kenny and Dean, 2013).

#### 1.11.1 Studies with non-polarised cells

As mentioned, studies on the identification and biology of effector proteins have come from studies using non-polarised cells, such as HeLa, despite them lacking key features of the target (enterocyte) cells. The main functions and/or features of EPEC effectors are outlined below.

#### 1.11.1.1 Map

As mentioned, Map was named in relation to it accumulation within punctate structures in host cells, shown to be mitochondria, linked to organelle dysfunction

(Jepson *et al.*, 2003). Map was subsequently shown to target this host organelle via a classical N-terminal mitochondrial targeting sequence (MTS) enabling entry via the classical TOM/Hsp70 import system while organelle dysfunction was linked to features between residues 101-152 of this 203-residue protein (Kenny and Jepson, 2000; Papatheodorou *et al.*, 2006). However, most of Map's subversive activities have been found to occur outside the mitochondria linked to its role as a mimic of the host guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) that activates the small RhoGTPase protein, Cdc42 (Huang *et al.*, 2009). Map carries a WxxxE motif needed to activate Cdc42 which recruits and activates N-WASP driving Arp2/3mediated actin nucleation events producing filopodia at the infection site (Kenny, 2002; Huang *et al.*, 2009; Misra *et al.*, 2012). However, these filopodia are transient in nature due to Tir activity (in an Intimin-dependent manner) illustrating the concept of effector synergy/cooperativity and that Tir can have Intimin dependent functionality (Kenny, 2002).

## 1.11.1.2 EspF

Studies on the 206 residue EspF protein revealed that, like Map, it carries a classical N-terminal MTS with its import into mitochondria also linked to organelle dysfunction (Nagai *et al.*, 2005). Investigations on how EPEC inhibits its uptake by phagocytic cells revealed a central role for EspF which did not require it to target mitochondria (Quitard *et al.*, 2006). EspF is mostly composed of multiple polyproline rich domains with each shown to possess motifs to binding N-WASP and sorting nexin 9 (SNX-9). EspF recruitment and activation of these host proteins leads to Arp2/3-dependent actin nucleation event linked to remodelling the host plasma membrane (Alto *et al.*, 2007). Most of EspF's known subversive activities, like Map's, relate to roles outside mitochondrial.

# 1.11.1.3 EspG

The first subversive activity linked to the 398 residue EspG protein was an ability to remodelling the actin cytoskeleton leading to microtubule instability (Elliott *et al.*, 2001; Matsuzawa *et al.*, 2004; Crepin *et al.*, 2005; Glotfelty and Hecht, 2012).

However, EspG has more recently been shown to act as a scaffolding protein and regulate GTPase signalling (Selyunin *et al.*, 2011) with inactivation of Arf GTPase disrupting endoplasmic-Golgi trafficking inhibiting protein secretion (Selyunin *et al.*, 2014).

# 1.11.1.4 EspH

The 176 residue EspH effector has been shown to be a RhoGEF inhibitor - through binding the DH-PH domain of RhoGEFs - resulting in their inactivation which has been linked to cell detachment and cytotoxicity (Dong *et al.*, 2010; Misra *et al.*, 2012). EspH activity has also been linked to modulating the levels of Map-induced filopodia and Tir/Intimin triggered pedestals (Braunstein *et al.*, 2003).

## 1.11.1.5 EspZ

The 98 amino acid EspZ effector, like Tir, integrates into the host plasma membrane in a hairpin loop topology with a short (10-amino-acid) extracellular loop flanked by two TMDs (Kanack *et al.*, 2005; Berger *et al.*, 2012). EspZ is required to prevent cytotoxic death of infected cells with multiple survival mechanisms proposed relating to it targeting mitochondria, controlling effector delivery levels or interacting with a type II transmembrane glycoprotein, CD98 (Shames *et al.*, 2010; Roxas *et al.*, 2012).

# 1.11.1.6 Tir

As mentioned, Tir (Translocated intimin receptor Tir) and Intimin are needed for intimate bacterial-host cell interactions and to induce pedestal formation (Kenny *et al.*, 1997b). Tir is a 550-residue protein that becomes inserted into the host cell membrane in a hairpin like conformation via two transmembrane domains (TMDs). The N-terminal (233 residues) and C-terminal (165 residue) domains are located within the host cytoplasm while the central (109 residue) extracellular domain acts as a receptor for Intimin binding (Abe *et al.*, 1999; Kenny, 1999). The membrane insertion process is linked to Tir being phosphorylated on serine residues by host kinases resulting in detectable shifts in apparent molecular mass from an

unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) to kinase-modified (T' and T'') forms (Kenny and Warawa, 2001). Tir is subsequently phosphorylated by host tyrosine kinases with modification of Tyr residue 474 generating the T"pY form (Kenny and Warawa, 2001). The latter phosphorylation event is linked to several host kinases - including Src, Abl, and Tec family members binding via their SH3 domain and a poly-proline rich region (PPR) (Phillips *et al.*, 2004; Bommarius *et al.*, 2007; Swimm and Kalman, 2008). Intimin binding to Tir leads to docking of the Nck adaptor protein, via its SH2 domain, to the phosphorylated Y474 residue (Campellone *et al.*, 2002) which recruit the neural Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (N-WASP) and actin-related protein (ARP) 2/3 complex (Goosney *et al.*, 1999; Lai *et al.*, 2013) which polymerises actin forming pedestal-like structures characteristic of A/E lesions (Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2020) (Figure 10). Tir is likely to alter many host processes as it has been shown to interact with numerous host proteins (including cytoskeletal components, phosphatases, and ubiquitin ligases), some dependent on it being modified by host kinase or interacting with Intimin (Dean, 2011).



#### Figure 10 Schematic representation of actin nucleation induced by EPEC

EPEC Tir is translocated through T3SS in the host cell membrane and its extracellular portion binds the outer membrane protein intimin. Phosphorylation of EPEC Tir at Y474 recruits the host protein Nck which in turn recruits N-WASP. Image taken from Stevens *et al.* (Stevens *et al.*, 2006).

## 1.11.2 NIe effectors

As mentioned NIe effector activity is mainly linked to interfering with signalling cascades regulating transcriptional factors controlling the expression of antimicrobial, cell death and/or inflammatory responses (Figure 9)(McNamara *et al.*, 2001; Hemrajani *et al.*, 2010; Gao *et al.*, 2013; Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2020). Individual NIe effectors function by targeting proteins in one or more signalling pathways typically involving IkB and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) to prevent enterocytes either inducing an effective immune response and/or destroying an infected cell (Figure 9).

As previously mentioned the NF-κB (p50/p65) transcriptional factor remains in the cytoplasm until receptor signalling activates the IκB kinase complex (IKK) leading to IκB (inhibitory NF-κB) phosphorylation triggering its degradation which release the p50/p65 complex for nuclear entry to direct the transcription of NF-κB dependent genes (Misra *et al.*, 2012). IKK activity also activates Map kinases (p38, JNK, Erk) controlling the activity of other transcriptional factors (Figure 11). The first NIe effectors reported to inhibit innate signalling were NIeC and NIeD by being metalloproteases: NIeC cleave p65, p50 and IκB with NIeD cleaving p38 and JNK (Figure 11) (Baruch *et al.*, 2011; Creuzburg *et al.*, 2017).

In contrast, another NIe effector, named EspL, a cysteine protease that cleaves proteins such as RIP kinase 1 with a RHIM domain, interferes with immune signalling (Pearson *et al.*, 2017)(Figure 11). Other NIe effectors including NIeE and NIeB, function by inhibiting the activities of their target proteins (Figure 11)(Nadler *et al.*, 2010; Newton *et al.*, 2010; Gao *et al.*, 2013). NIeH1 and NIeH2 are serine/threonine kinase mimics, with auto-phosphorylation activity, that can alter the activity of a NF-κB co-factor, RPS3, thereby impacting gene transcription (Gao *et al.*, 2009; Biemans-Oldehinkel *et al.*, 2011; Pham *et al.*, 2012) (Figure 11). Indeed, the Tir effector can also interfere with immune signalling, by Intimindependent and -independent mechanisms (Ruchaud-Sparagano *et al.*, 2011; Yan *et al.*, 2013; Gao *et al.*, 2017).

Collective NIe effector activity, effectively, suppresses signalling pathways controlling the ability of the infected enterocyte to induce anti-infective, anti-inflammatory and cell death responses.



# Figure 11 Overview on EPEC E2348/69 effector interference of immune signalling by infected enterocytes

Taken from Zhuang et al., (Zhuang *et al.*, 2017). See Figure 9, text, and review (Zhuang *et al.*, 2017) for explanations and/or further detail.

### 1.11.3 Studies with polarised cells

To understand the *in vivo* relevance of effector functionality to the disease process many groups use cultured enterocytes since they, as previously mentioned, morphologically and physiologically mimic EPEC's *in vivo* target (Dean *et al.*, 2013; Kenny and Dean, 2013). Such studies often examine aspects such as i) bacterial colonisation, ii) changes of the brush border (often by scanning and/or transmission electron microscopy), iii) alterations in transporter activity (transporter functional assay and/or epifluorescent/confocal microscopy), iv) disruption of cell-cell interaction (monitoring changes in transepithelial electrical resistance; TER), v) changes to host organelles or vi) specific subversive events such as Tir-Intimin triggered actin nucleation that produce pedestal like structures under the bacteria (epifluorescent/confocal microscopy) and vii) changes in the host cellular signalling (such as IKK and Map Kinase) pathways by western blot analyses (Dean *et al.*, 2013; Kenny and Dean, 2013). Key effector changes in epithelia of the human GIT are outlined below and summarised in Figure 12 & Figure 13.

#### 1.11.3.1 EPEC induced Diarrhoea

#### 1.11.3.1.1 Rapid onset of watery diarrhoea

It was proposed that EPEC's T3SS-dependent capacity to compromise sodium glucose co-transporter (SGLT-1) activity prior to the loss/effacement of microvilli may explain the rapid onset of watery diarrhoeal disease response as SGLT-1 is responsible for the daily uptake ~6 litres of fluid from the small intestine (Dean and Kenny, 2009) (Figure 12). This inhibitory activity was linked to non-essential roles for at least three LEE effectors (EspF, Map, Tir) and intimin proteins through a cooperative mechanism (Dean and Kenny, 2009).

#### 1.11.3.1.2 Alteration of other transporter activity

The movement of water in and out of epithelial cells in mostly driven by ion gradients with EPEC found to reduce, in an EspF dependent manner, the

expression of NHE3 which is crucial for sodium ions (Na<sup>+</sup>) absorption (Gawenis et al., 2002; Hecht et al., 2004; Hodges et al., 2008). Decreased uptake of Na<sup>+</sup> activity is aggravated via reduced expression of sodium glucose co-transporter (SGLT-1) at the apical membrane activated through the collective action of Tir, Map and EspF (Dean et al., 2006) Moreover, EspG and EspG2 dependent disruption of the micro-tubular network has been linked to reduced levels of the CI/HCO3 exchanger in vitro and in vivo (Gill et al., 2007) (Figure 12). Microtubule dysfunction results in the reduced uptake of chloride (Cl<sup>-</sup>) ions and their accumulation in the lumen by changing the membrane targeting of the CI/HCO3 exchanger DRA (downregulated in adenoma) (Gill et al., 2007; Gujral et al., 2015). The EPEC EspF and EspG effectors were reported to modulate epithelial aquaporin (AQP) expression altering water transport independent of ion distribution but relevance is questioned by AQPs being expressed in colonic epithelial cells (Agre et al., 2002). EspG and EspF also reported in the redistribution of water channels (aquaporins) to intracellular compartments; distant from the apical and lateral membrane (Guttman et al., 2007). EPEC infection has also been linked to reduced function and expression of the sodium dependent bile acid transported (ABST) which is crucial for the absorption of bile juice in the gut (Annaba et al., 2012).



# Figure 12 EPEC effector proteins altering epithelial cell function and inducing water loss and diarrhoea

In a multifactorial process, EPEC infection disrupts the absorption of ions, water and nutrients, depending on the collective behaviour of mainly the translocated LEE-encoded effector proteins. EPEC effectors interfere with absorption by loss of absorbent microvilli (effacement) caused by the cooperative activities of Map, EspF, Tir and Intimin outer membrane protein effectors. The decreased surface expression of sodium glucose also leads to these effectors. By re-distribution to intracellular vesicles, the transporter (SGLT1). Decreased transportation of water is mediated through the redistribution of apical water channels (Aquaporins) in the apical and basolateral membrane is depending on EspF and EspG effectors. The sodium hydrogen exchanger (NHE), which is interrupted by the effector EspF, is the main route of sodium uptake (Na+). The effectors EspG and its Nle homolog EspG2 mediate the disruption of chloride (Cl-) absorption through the chloride bicarbonate (HCO3-) exchanger, known as downregulated in adenoma (DRA). EspG and EspG2 block the microtubules of the host cell, preventing protein trafficking, thus reducing the expression of DRA at the host cell. Adapted from Viswanathan *et al.*, (Viswanathan *et al.*, 2009).

#### 1.11.1.3 Microvilli Effacement

The effacement of microvilli (Figure 13) has been described as a two-step event with bacteria sinking into the microvilli requiring Tir and Intimin activities with EspF and Map activities driving the elongation-associated loss (effacement) of microvilli next to the colonising bacteria (Dean *et al.*, 2006). Studies with human intestinal tissue revealed a key role for EspF but not Map (Dean *et al.*, 2006) with subsequent *in vitro* studies showing Map's activity is silenced by Tir and Intimin co-operative activity (Dean *et al.*, 2013). Both Map and EspF's effacing activities depend on features linked to them triggering Arp2/3-dependent actin nucleation (Dean *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, the EspB translocator/effector proteins is also reported to contribute to microvilli loss through binding myosin destabilization actin bundles in the microvilli structure (lizumi *et al.*, 2007)(Figure 13).

#### 1.11.1.4 Disruption of epithelial tight junctions (TJs)

As mentioned, the enterocyte monolayer plays a role 'barrier' function in preventing gut lumen antigen from accessing host-privileged areas and thus preventing constant immune responses (Snoeck et al., 2005). Crucial to this barrier function and for preserving cell-cell adhesion and preventing paracellular diffusion (the passage of molecules between cells) - are tight junctions (TJs) (see Figure 1)(Alberts et al., 2002). TJs composed of several transmembrane proteins i.e. claudins, occuldin, zonula occluden (ZO) and the junction adhesion molecules (JAM)(Heinemann and Schuetz, 2019). It is reported that EPEC alters both the structure and function of the intestinal epithelial barrier in vitro and in vivo. Permeability of apical junctional complexes is regulated by phosphorylation of myosin light chain (MLC) by MLC kinase (Manjarrez-Hernandez et al., 1996). EPEC can activate MLC kinase, which induces the distention of the transmembrane tight junction proteins, which in turns increase paracellular permeability (Turner et al., 1997). EPEC also disrupts adherin junctions, through the EspB-dependent phosphorylation and activation of PKCα (Malladi *et al.*, 2004), resulting in the cytoplasmic redistribution of  $\beta$ -catenin and increase in paracellular

permeability (Malladi et al., 2004). EPEC can, in an EspF dependent manner, directly alter tight junctional proteins leading to the redistribution a key component (occludin) which decreases, in vitro and in vivo, barrier function (McNamara et al., 2001) (Simonovic et al., 2000; Muza-Moons et al., 2004; Shifflett et al., 2005). Studies in our laboratory suggest disruption of barrier function is a complex process with roles for many effectors including Map, EspF, EspG and EspG2 whose activities are controlled by Tir and Intimin (Dean et al., 2010). The research suggests that Tir silences the barrier disrupting activities of the EspG homologues with Intimin binding Tir leading to EspG effector activity resulting in the calpaindependent loss of cell-substratum interactions. The Tir/Intimin interaction also enables Map and EspF effector activities to disrupt cell-cell interactions in a way that is influenced by the motifs required to activate the N-WASP-Arp2/3 actin nucleation pathway (Peralta-Ramírez et al., 2008). Collectively, these effectors alter actin assembly and disrupt the microtubule networks, which leads to dysfunction of protein trafficking required to maintain TJ structure (Figure 13) (Peralta-Ramírez et al., 2008; Guttman and Finlay, 2009; Thanabalasuriar et al., 2010; Glotfelty and Hecht, 2012).



#### Figure 13 EPEC's T3SS effectors and their targets inside the host cells

Multifuntional and redundant role for effectors in EPEC alteration of enterocyte biology. Abbreviations: ER (endoplasmic reticulum); MT (microtubules); SGLT-1 (sodium D-glucose cotransporter); NHE3 (sodium hydrogen exchanger); AQP (aquaporin); CI-/OH-(CI-/OH-transporter); FAK (focal adhesion kinase); BI-1 (BAX-1 inhibitor); TNFR (tumour necrosis factor receptor); TRAF2 (TNF-associated factor 2). TJ (tight junction); AJ (adherent junction). Taken from Law *et al.*, (Law *et al.*, 2013). See text, Figure 9 and/or review for further information.

### **1.12 EPEC interaction with M-cells**

EPEC strains have also being reported to interact with M-cells within the GIT (Inman and Cantey, 1983; Siebers and Finlay, 1996). M-cells are phagocytic cells that internalise antigens (including bacteria) from the gut for presentation to underlying macrophages with a key role in controlling immune responses. Interestingly, EPEC inhibited its uptake by M cells in vivo (Inman and Cantey, 1983; Siebers and Finlay, 1996) suggesting that the pathogen may delay it recognition and thus emerging immune responses. In vitro studies with mouse-derived macrophages revealed EPEC has a T3SS dependent ability to inhibit its uptake via phosphoinositide 3 (PI-3 kinase) dependent pathways (Goosney et al., 1999; Celli et al., 2001; Quitard et al., 2006). While some EPEC (~40%) were internalised by PI3 kinase-independent pathways (Goosney et al., 1999; Quitard et al., 2006) uptake in M-cells is almost exclusively PI-3 kinase dependent (Martinez-Argudo et al., 2007). Several LEE effectors have been linked to inhibiting EPEC phagocytic events (Figure 13) (Law et al., 2013). PI3 kinase activity is commonly examined by monitored the phosphorylation of a downstream effector, Akt (pAkt)(Celli et al., 2001), However, the discovery that the EspF effector blocks PI3 kinase dependent uptake without preventing loss of the pAkt signalling (Quitard et al., 2006) implied that other effectors can inhibit the activity of Akt kinase that regulate important host cellular processes.

# 1.13 The PI3K/Akt/mTOR signalling pathway.

### 1.13.1 PI3-Kinase and phosphoinositides

Ligand bindings to receptors can activate of PI3 kinase family members which phosphorylate the 3' hydroxyl group of the inositol ring in phosphatidylinositol (PtdIns), PtdIns-4-phosphate (PtdIns4P) or PtdIns-4,5- bisphosphate (PtdIns (4,5)P2) (Vanhaesebroeck *et al.*, 2010) These inositides direct membrane recruitment of effector proteins that have lipid-binding domains such as the pleckstrin homology (PH), phox homology (PX) or FYVE (Vanhaesebroeck *et al.*, 2010). The typical structure of phosphatidylinositol is composed of a diacylglycerol

backbone linked to an inositol ring via a phosphate group (Vanhaesebroeck *et al.*, 2010) with phosphorylation at the free-OH groups located at 3,4,5 positions (Vanhaesebroeck *et al.*, 2010) (Figure 14).

There are three classes of PI3K isoforms (Class I, II and III) based of structural features and substrate specificity but only class I induce Akt activity (Vanhaesebroeck *et al.*, 2010). Class I PI3Ks function as a heterodimer consisting of a catalytic (p110) and a regulatory subunit to produce the secondary messenger, phosphatidylinositol 3, 4, 5-trisphosphate (PIP<sub>3</sub>). Based on their different regulatory subunit, this class is further subdivided into class IA (p110 $\alpha$ , p110 $\beta$ , and p110 $\delta$ ) and class IB (p110 $\gamma$ ). The catalytic subunit is composed of an N-terminal adaptor binding (ABD), Ras binding (RBD), C2, helical, and C-terminal kinase domains (Vanhaesebroeck *et al.*, 2010). Class IA and IB kinases function downstream of the receptor tyrosine kinase (RTKs) and G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) respectively (Shaulov *et al.*, 2017).

#### 1.13.2 Protein kinase B (Akt)

The human genome encodes ~500 putative protein kinases, which correspond to 2% of all eukaryotic genes (Kostich *et al.*, 2002). The enormous number of targets regulated by protein kinases opposes this relatively small percentage of kinases (Enjalbert and Le Pechon-Vallee, 2003). It is estimated that nearly 30% of all cellular proteins may be modified by protein kinase activity (Manning *et al.*, 2002). Protein kinases form one of the largest gene families in eukaryotes and are crucial regulators of cellular function through their ability to phosphorylate Serine (Ser), Threonine (Thr) and/or Tyrosine (Tyr) residues to regulate signal transduction pathways (Manning *et al.*, 2002). Protein kinases have a major role in eukaryotic biology by controlling processes including cell metabolism, cell cycle progression, transcription and cytoskeletal rearrangement events (Manning *et al.*, 2002). Dysfunction of these kinases may lead to human disease including cancer, diabetes, neurodegenerative disorders, and bacterial infections (Testa and Bellacosa, 2001; Zdychova and Komers, 2005; Endicott *et al.*, 2012).

# 1.13.3 Akt Structure and Function

Akt was isolated from an AKR mouse T-Cell lymphoma and is the human homologue of the viral oncogene V-Akt encoded by the retrovirus Akt8 (Liao and Hung, 2010). As mentioned, Akt regulates numerous host cell processes including cell proliferation, transcription, translation, apoptosis and cellular metabolism (Pearce *et al.*, 2010; Bononi *et al.*, 2011). While first identified in relation to activation of insulin signalling in 1995, Akt function is best understood as a downstream effector of PI3K activity (Bononi *et al.*, 2011).

Akt shares homology to protein kinase A (PKA) and protein kinase B (PKB) and has three isoforms (Akt1/PKB $\alpha$ , Akt2/PKB $\beta$ , Akt3/PKB $\gamma$ ) which are closely related and highly conserved in mammals (Tobe *et al.*, 1999). Each Akt protein contains an N-terminal pleckstrin homology (PH), a central kinase and carboxyl-terminal regulatory domain (Liao and Hung, 2010). Although, the isoforms share some functions, studies have noted some have specific roles i.e. Akt1 in cell survival and proliferation; Akt2 in glucose homeostasis; and Akt 3 in brain development (Cho *et al.*, 2001; Tschopp *et al.*, 2005).



#### Figure 14 Schematic of phosphatidylinositol (PtdIns).

Phosphatidylinositol consists of two fatty acid chains attached to glycerol backbone at carbon positions 1 and 2. Inositol ring is attached to the backbone at carbon position 3 via a phosphate group. The free hydroxyl group (OH) on the inositol ring may be phosphorylated, on positions 3', 4'and 5'. Adapted from Vanhaesebroeck and Alessi *et al.* (Vanhaesebroeck *et al.*, 2010).

# 1.13.4 PI3K-dependent Akt phosphorylation

Akt is a serine/threonine kinase that plays a critical function in many mammalian processes including cell survival, cell proliferation, regulation of metabolism, motility, transcription, and cell-cycle progression (Fayard *et al.*, 2005). Dysfunction of this kinase is linked to various diseases including cancer, diabetes, neurodegenerative disorders and bacterial infection (Testa and Bellacosa, 2001; Zdychova and Komers, 2005).

As mentioned, activation of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) or G proteins coupled receptors recruits and activates PI3K which converts PtdIns-[4,5]-bisphosphate (PI[4,5]P2) to PtdIns-[3,4,5]-trisphosphate (PI[3,4,5]P3), providing a second messenger that membrane recruits Akt by its N-terminal pleckstrin homology (PH) domain (Salinger *et al.*, 2009; Liao and Hung, 2010; Vanhaesebroeck *et al.*, 2012; Gao *et al.*, 2014)(Figure 15). Membrane localised Akt is then activated by phosphorylation on two residues, Thr308 by the phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1 (PDK1) and Ser473 by the mammalian target of rapamycin complex 2 (mTORC2) (Diehl and Schaal, 2013; Gao *et al.*, 2014) (Figure 15). Activated Akt can then phosphorylate substrates in various cellular compartments to control processes including cell survival, cell proliferation and protein synthesis (Manning and Cantley, 2007).

# 1.13.5 Akt and protein phosphatases

Akt signalling is typically short-lived either through the de-phosphorylation of PIP3 by lipid phosphatases or pAkt by protein phosphatases. The lipid phosphatases responsible include the membrane localised phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10 (PTEN) and the SH2 domain containing inositol 5-phosphatase (SHIP) proteins that dephosphorylates PI[3,4,5]P3 to PI[4,5]P2, thereby preventing further Akt recruitment (Carver *et al.*, 2000; Hers *et al.*, 2011). The protein phosphatases include phosphatase 2A (PP2A) and PH domain leucine rich repeat phosphatase (PHLPP); these remove the phosphate group from the

Thr308 and Ser473 residues respectively (Bayascas and Alessi, 2005; Liao and Hung, 2010).

# 1.13.6 Dysregulation of PI3K/Akt signalling.

Dysregulation of Akt activity is linked to various human diseases such as cancer, diabetes, schizophrenia, depression, bipolar disorder and cardiovascular disease (Hers et al., 2011). Dysregulation can also affect Akt-mediated inhibition of the proapoptotic protein Bad and Foxo which promotes neuronal cell survival (Datta et al., 2000). Akt is a potential target for some human cancers as increased expression of the most common isoform, Akt2, is linked to 50% and 10% of colorectal and pancreatic cancers respectively (Hers et al., 2011; Abdallah et al., 2015). A major reason for dysregulated signalling is mutations that alter the expression of components regulating Akt activity (Hers et al., 2011), including overexpression of upstream receptor signalling, mutation of PI3K regulators subunit and PTEN inactivation (Chalhoub and Baker, 2009). Akt dysregulation is also linked to neurodevelopmental, neurodegenerative, and neurocognitive disorders that include Alzheimer's disease (Griffin et al., 2005; Lipton and Sahin, 2014). Thus, the key role of Akt dysfunction in many human diseases identifies it as a drug target for therapeutic treatment, which could be assisted by understanding how pathogens, like EPEC, inhibit Akt activity.



#### Figure 15 Schematic of PI3K/Akt pathway

Stimulation of receptors by, for example, growth factors (GF) or cytokines (CY), can activate PI3K (Phosphoinositide-3-kinase) resulting in phosphorylation of PtdIns-[4, 5]-bisphosphate (PI [4, 5] P2) (PIP2) to phosphatidylinositol-3, 4, 5-trisphosphates PIP3 to AKT recruitment, via pleckstrin homology (PH) domain binding PIP3. After binding of its pleckstrin homology (PH) domain to PIP<sub>3</sub>, Membrane located Akt is then activated by phosphorylation on Thr308 (by phosphoinositide-dependent kinase1; PDK1) and Ser473 (by mammalian target of rapamycin complex 2; mTORC2). Activated AKT can then phosphorylate substrates in various cellular compartments to regulate processes including cell growth, protein translation, and apoptosis. Signalling is terminated either through dephosphorylation of PIP3 by the lipid phosphatases (including PTEN or SHIP) and protein phosphatases (including PHLPP; PH domain leucine rich repeat phosphatase and PP2A; protein phosphatases 2A (PP2A) removing phosphates from the Ser473 and Thr308 residues. Image taken from Diehl *et al.*, (Diehl and Schaal, 2013).

# 1.14 Prior studies on EPEC interference of PI3K/Akt signalling

Studies by a previous PhD student, Oliver Amin, (Amin, 2017), revealed that plasmid introducing LEE in non-pathogenic *E. coli* provided the strain an ability to inhibit its phagocytosis by cultured macrophages - a process dependent on LEE effectors (Quitard *et al.*, 2006). However, other data indicated that introducing LEE did not allow the strain to interfere with Akt signalling thereby implying that the responsible effectors were encoded outside LEE. Interestingly, inhibition of Akt signalling depended on EPEC expressing the LEE multi-substrate chaperone, CesT, suggesting that the responsible NIe effector(s) needs to interact with CesT for T3SS dependent delivery.

Moreover, screening available mutants ruled out key roles, individual or cooperative, for most known non-LEE-encoded T3SS substrates. However, the work did not address contributions for 4 T3SS substrates, EspC, NIeJ, LifA, LifA-like protein. Studies on the inhibitory process suggested that infection-induced phosphorylation of Akt is reversed by EPEC T3SS-delivered effector(s) through events either inhibiting the activity of the kinases that phosphorylate Akt (on Ser 473 and Thr 308) or by removing the added phosphate groups through providing a Ser/Thr phosphatase or by activating host phosphatase(s) that regulate Akt signalling.

## 1.15 Aims and objectives

The first aim of this project was to identify the EPEC effector or effectors responsible for inhibiting Akt signalling and to confirm a key role for the CesT chaperone. To achieve these objectives this work focussed initially on the individual or cooperative roles of 4 unexamined T3SS substrates (EspC, NIeJ, LifA, LifA-like). A second aim was to provide insight into the mechanism by which EPEC inhibits Akt signalling with the objective of providing support for a Ser/Thr phosphatase and determining whether subsequent dephosphorylation is indirect i.e., *via* a host phosphatase(s) that regulates Akt activity.

Chapter 2 Materials & Methods

# **Chapter 2. Materials & Methods**

# 2.1 Cell Culture

# 2.1.1 Mammalian cell culture

All experiments were carried out with immortalised mouse macrophage-like cells, J774.A1 (ATCC\_TIB-67), grown in Dulbecco's minimal Eagle's medium (DMEM; Sigma Cat #D5796) with 10% Foetal calf serum (FCS; Sigma Cat #7524). Mammalian cell stocks (~10<sup>6</sup> cells) were stored in liquid nitrogen in a 10%DMSO 90% DMEM/FCS solution and, following thawing, were aseptically harvested within a Class 2 laminar flow hoods (BioMat2). Cells were routinely maintained in 75cm<sup>2</sup> culture flasks (SLS Ltd Cat #430641U) in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere at 37<sup>o</sup>C (LEEC Research CO2 Incubator). When cells were 80-90% confluent they were harvested using a cell scraper (Sarstedt; Cat #83.183) with cell number counting using a haemocytometer (Hawksley) following the manufacturer's instructions. Cells were routinely seeded, at two days prior to infection, into 6, 12 or 24 well plates (Corning; #3506, #3512, #411080) to obtain 80-90% confluency on the day of experiment. Cells were passaged (1:6 dilution) a maximum of 30 times with media replaced every 2-3 days.

# 2.1.2 Bacterial strains

Strains used in this study are listed in Table 1-3. Strain stocks were maintained at -80°C in Luria-Bertani (LB) broth containing 10% glycerol. When needed, a stock sample was streaked out onto LB agar plates (37°C stock overnight) containing appropriate antibiotic. Antibiotics were used at a final concentration of 12, 50, 100, 25 and 25ug/ml for tetracycline (Tet), nalidixic acid (Nal), carbenicillin (Cab), chloramphenicol (Cmp) and kanamycin (Km) respectively. A single colony was used to inoculate LB broth, containing selective antibiotics when required, and grown overnight 37°C without shanking (for host cell infection) or with shaking (250rpm) for molecular biology-related studies.

#### **Chapter 2 Materials & Methods**

# 2.1.3 Measurement of Bacterial Optical Density

One millilitre of bacterial culture was placed into a plastic cuvette (Greiner Bio-one; Cat #613101) and the absorbance was measured at 600 nm (OD<sub>600</sub>) using UV 1101 Biotech Photometer. High density cultures were diluted to make sure OD was less than <1 before measuring relative to the appropriate 'blank' solution (uninfected media) set to zero. 1 OD<sub>600</sub> was taken to equal 10<sup>9</sup> bacteria.

# 2.2 Molecular Biology

# 2.2.1 Plasmids

Plasmids used and/or generated in this study are listed in Table 4.

## 2.2.2 Plasmid Purification

Bacteria grown overnight, with shaking, in LB containing appropriate selective antibiotic(s) were used for extraction of carried plasmids using Plasmid Mini Extraction Kit (New England Bio-labs; Cat # T1010L) following the manufacturer's instructions.

# 2.2.3 Polymerase Chain reaction (PCR)

PCR reactions were performed using isolated plasmid or total bacterial DNA (released by resuspending bacteria from a colony in  $60\mu$ l dH<sub>2</sub>O and incubating 5 min at 100°C). PCR conditions are given in Table 3 and Table 4 and routinely contained, for a total 10µl volume, 1µl template DNA, 1x Taq buffer (New England Biolabs Cat # B90145), dNTPs (final conc. 1.25 µM from 200µM stock; New England Biolabs Cat #NO4475), Taq DNA Polymerase (0.625 units, England Biolabs Cat #M0493S) and appropriate primer set (final conc. 0.2µM from 10µM stock; Sigma). Primers used in the studies are listed in Table 7. Thermocycle reactions were carried out using a Techne TC-3000 or LABnet international thermocycler following manufacturer's instructions.

#### **Chapter 2 Materials & Methods**

The strains used in this study are listed in Tables 1,2 and 3 respectively. Table 1 shows all the strains acquired from Prof. Kenny lab. Each table mentioned the antibiotic selection and the gene description in Table 2 and 3.

Bacterial Strain	Description	Antibiotic	Source
DH10B (E, coli K12)	Laboratory <i>E. coli</i> K12 strain.	NA	Thermo Fisher Scientific
SY327 Apir	Laboratory strain containing \pir gene allows replication of R6K ori-based suicide	NA	(Donnenberg and Kaper, 1991)
SM10Apir	Laboratory strain containing λpir gene allows replication of R6K ori-based suicide plasmids (most suitable for conjugation)	Km <sup>R</sup>	Thermo Fisher Scientific
EPEC E2348/69 (O127:H6)	Wild Type Strain	Nal <sup>R</sup>	(Levine <i>et al.</i> , 1985) Brendan Kenny lab
cfm-14	T3SS mutant	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Donnenberg and
			Kaper, 1991)
∆cesT	EPEC E2348/69 lacking LEE encoded chaperone, CesT	Km <sup>R</sup>	S. Quitard, Unpublished
EPEC B171-8	Another Prototypic EPEC strain	None	(Puente <i>et al.</i> , 1996)
EHEC	Enterohemorrhagic <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7 EDL993 strain (lacks shiga-toxin genes)	Nal <sup>R</sup>	(Dziva <i>et al.</i> , 2004)
EHEC ∆escN	As EHEC but lacks functional T3SS	Nal/Km <sup>R</sup>	(Marchès <i>et al.</i> , 2008)
Citrobacter rodentium	Mouse-specific A/E pathogen	Nal <sup>R</sup>	(Schauer and Falkow,1993)
Citrobacter	Citrobacter rodentium lacking functional	Nal/Km <sup>R</sup>	(Mundy <i>et al.</i> , 2003)
rodentium ∆espA	T3SS (Transposon-disrupted espA gene)		
RDEC-1	Rabbit-specific A/E pathogen	Nal <sup>R</sup>	(Cantey and Blake, 1977)
RDEC-1∆espA	RDEC-1 lacking functional T3SS (Transposon-disrupted <i>espA</i> gene)	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Cantey and Blake, 1977)
Δcore::Km	EPEC E2348/69 LEE region encoding 3 effectors (EspH, Map, Tir) chaperones (CesT, CesF) and Intimin ( <i>eae</i> gene) replaced by kanamycin gene	Nal <sup>R</sup> /Km <sup>R</sup>	(Dean <i>et al</i> ., 2010)
TOEA7	EPEC E2348/69 lacking all known non-LEE encoded effectors except EspC, NIeJ, LifA and LifA-like protein	None	(Yen <i>et al.</i> , 2010)
TOEA7∆core	Lacking genes <i>espH</i> , <i>cesF</i> , <i>map</i> , <i>tir</i> , <i>cesT</i> & <i>eae</i> [Intimin] from a TOEA7 strain.	Tet <sup>R</sup>	(Amin, 2017)
∆ <b>PP2</b>	EPEC E2348/69 lacking entire PP2 region	Nal <sup>R</sup>	S. Quitard, Unpublished
∆ <b>PP4</b>	EPEC E2348/69 lacking entire PP4 region	Nal <sup>R</sup>	S. Quitard, Unpublished
∆IE5	EPEC E2348/69 lacking entire IE5 region	Nal <sup>R</sup>	S. Quitard, Unpublished
∆PP2/IE5	EPEC E2348/69 lacking indicated regions	Nal <sup>R</sup>	S. Quitard, Unpublished
∆PP4/IE5	EPEC E2348/69 lacking indicated regions	Nal <sup>R</sup>	S. Quitard, Unpublished
∆IE5/PP2/PP4	EPEC E2348/69 lacking indicated regions	Nal <sup>R</sup>	S. Quitard, Unpublished
∆LifA:Km	EPEC E2348/69 with <i>LifA</i> gene (encodes Lymphostatin) disrupted by Km gene	Km <sup>R</sup>	This study
∆lifA-like/lifA:km	EPEC strain missing <i>LifA-like</i> and <i>LifA</i> genes	Sp <sup>R</sup> /Km <sup>R</sup>	This study
∆IE2a	EPEC E2348/69 lacking entire IE2 PAI	Nal <sup>R</sup> /km <sup>R</sup>	This study
EPEC⊿FragB	EPEC E2348/69 lacking IE2 'FragB' region immediately downstream of <i>LifA-like</i> gene	Nal <sup>R</sup> /Cm <sup>R</sup>	This study
EPEC⊿FragB/L	As EPEC∆FragB but also lacking IE2 <i>LifA-</i> <i>like</i> gene	Nal <sup>R</sup> /Cm <sup>R</sup>	This study
EPEC⊿FragB/L/N	As EPEC∆FragB/L but also lacking IE2 region with <i>nleE2</i> , <i>nleB2</i> * & <i>espL</i> * genes (* indicates pseudo gene)	Nal <sup>R</sup> /Cm <sup>R</sup>	This study

Table 1 Strains derived from Kenny Laboratory stocks

# Table 2 Strains derived from Litvak Laboratory EPEC E2348/69 stocks

Bacterial	Description	Antibiotic	Source
Strain		_	
ΔIE2	Lacks entire IE2 pathogenicity island	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Litvak <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
ΔIE3	Lacks entire IE3 pathogenicity island	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Litvak <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
ΔIE5	Lacks entire IE5 pathogenicity island	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Litvak <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
ΔIE6	Lacks entire IE6 pathogenicity island	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Litvak <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
ΔΡΡ2	Lacks entire PP2 pathogenicity island	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Litvak <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
ΔΡΡ3	Lacks entire PP3 pathogenicity island	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Litvak <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
ΔΡΡ4	Lacks entire PP4 pathogenicity island	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Litvak <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
ΔΡΡ5	Lacks entire PP5 pathogenicity island	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Litvak <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
ΔΡΡ6	Lacks entire PP6 pathogenicity island	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Litvak <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
ΔΡΡ7	Lacks entire PP7 pathogenicity island	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Litvak <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
ΔΡΡ8	Lacks entire PP8 pathogenicity island	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Litvak <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
ΔΡΡ9	Lacks entire PP9 pathogenicity island	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Litvak <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
<b>ΔΡΡ10</b>	Lacks entire PP10 pathogenicity island	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Litvak et al., 2017)
ΔΡΡ13	Lacks entire PP13 pathogenicity island	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Litvak et al., 2017)

# Table 3 Strains derived from Cepeda Laboratory EPEC E2348/69 stocks

Bacterial	Description	Antibiotic	Source
Strain			
EPEC WT	EPEC O127; H6 strain	Sp <sup>R</sup>	(Cepeda-Molero <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
∆escN	Lacks functional T3SS.	Sp <sup>R</sup>	(Cepeda-Molero <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
	Transposon-disrupted escN gene		
EPEC9	EPEC strain missing 4 LEE effector	Sp <sup>R</sup>	(Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017)
	genes ( <i>map</i> , <i>espG espF</i> & <i>espH</i> )		
EPEC8	As EPEC9 but also missing IE5 effector	Sp <sup>R</sup>	(Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017)
	genes ( <i>espG2</i> , <i>espC</i> )		
EPEC7	As EPEC8 but missing IE6 effector	Sp <sup>R</sup>	(Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017)
	genes ( <i>espL</i> , <i>nleB1</i> , <i>nleE1</i> & <i>LifA</i> )		
EPEC6	As EPEC7 but also missing but missing	Sp <sup>R</sup>	(Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017)
	IE2 effector genes (nleE2, & LifA-like)		
EPEC5	As EPEC6 but missing PP2 effector	Sp <sup>R</sup>	(Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017)
	genes ( <i>nleH1, cif*, espJ</i> )		
EPEC4	As EPEC5 but missing PP3 effector gene	Sp <sup>R</sup>	(Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017)
	(nleJ)		
EPEC3	As EPEC4 but missing PP4 effector	Sp <sup>R</sup>	(Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017)
	genes (nleG, nleB, nleC, nleH* & nleD)		
EPEC2	As EPEC3 but missing PP6 effector	Sp <sup>R</sup>	(Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017)
	genes ( <i>nleA/espI</i> , <i>nleH2</i> , <i>nleF</i> & <i>espO*</i> )		
EPEC0	As EPEC2 but missing 2 more LEE	Sp <sup>R</sup>	(Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017)
	effector genes ( <i>espZ</i> & <i>tir</i> )		
ΔlifA	EPEC missing LifA gene	Sp <sup>R</sup>	(Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017)
∆lifA-like	EPEC missing LifA-like gene	Sp <sup>R</sup>	(Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017)
∆lifA/lifA-like	EPEC strain missing LifA and LifA-like	SpR	(Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017)
	genes		

\* indicates pseudo gene
#### 2.2.4 Restriction enzyme digestion

Restriction enzyme digests were performed using enzymes and buffers from NEB (Maryland, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, DNA digestion reactions routinely consisted of 1-1.5 $\mu$ g of DNA, 5-10 Units (U) of restriction enzyme and one tenth volume of 10x restriction buffer made up to a final reaction volume of 20-50 $\mu$ l with dH<sub>2</sub>O. Reactions were generally incubated at the recommended temperature for at least 1 h at 37<sup>o</sup>C.

#### 2.2.5 Agarose gel Electrophoresis

Plasmid and/or PCR products were visualised on the appropriate percentage (routinely 0.7%) agarose gel in TAE (40mM Tris-acetate, 1mM EDTA) buffer supplemented with a fluorescent nucleic acid stain, GelRedTM (1:30,000; Biotium). The DNA samples were mixed with 10x loading dye and run alongside a 1 Kb DNA ladder (New England Biolabs) at 100 volts for an appropriate length of time. DNA bands were visualised with a UV transilluminator (Bio-Rad) and images captured (Image lab Software) as required.

#### 2.2.6 DNA ligation

The Gibson Assembly method is an easy-to-use cloning method that allows the efficient cloning of multiple DNA fragments simultaneously. Cloning is based on the recombination of PCR amplified DNA fragments to a vector fragment by 20bp extension to the primers that corresponds to the target vector 'insertion' site (Gibson *et al.*, 2009). The inserts were obtained by PCR amplification using oligonucleotide primers (Table 5) designed using NEBuilder assembly tool (http: //nebuilder.neb.com/) and Q5 high-fidelity DNA polymerase (New England Biolabs; Cat #M0493S) and recipient vector. The vector was pre-digested with restriction enzymes, routinely Xbal/Sacl for pDS132 suicide vector and BamHI/Sall pACYC184. The vector and insert fragment were isolated using (New England Biolabs; Cat #T1030) following manufacturer's instructions. The concentration of gel extracted DNA was quantified (Nano-Drop 100 spectrophotometer [Lab-tech]) following manufacturer's instruction. Vector and insert were added at a ratio 2:1

(50ng vector + 25ng of insert) with 5ul Gibson assembly master mix (New England Bio-labs; Cat #E2621S) in a 10ul final volume. The mixture was incubated 12-16 hrs at 50°C. Before a portion of the ligation sample was run in 0.7%-agarose gel to check for a ligation product. If appropriate, 2-5ul of the remaining ligation product was transformed into commercial competent *E. coli* cells. Resultant clones were screened by PCR analysis for the presence of the specific fragment.

Table 4 shows the list of plasmids used in this study and provides a brief description of key encoded factor(s), the selection antibiotics (Cb<sup>R,</sup> Km<sup>R</sup> & Cm<sup>R</sup>, indicates resistance to Carbenicillin, Kanamycin and Chloramphenicol respectively) and the source of each plasmid.

Plasmid	Description	Antibiotic Selection	References		
pACYC184	Cloning vector	Cm <sup>R</sup> /Tet <sup>R</sup>	(Chang and Cohen, 1978)		
pBR322	Cloning vector	Cb <sup>R</sup> /Tet <sup>R</sup>	(Watson, 1988)		
pSK (bluescript)	Cloning vector	Cb <sup>R</sup>	(Sohaskey <i>et al.</i> , 1992)		
pACYC- <i>tir</i>	pACYC184 vector contain a MCS, the <i>lacZα</i> reporter gene, and P15A <i>ori</i> carrying <i>tir</i> gene	Cm <sup>R</sup>	(Madkour, 2017)		
pSK- <i>cesT</i> ::HA	pSK expressing the LEE chaperone, CesT, as a CesT::HA fusion protein	Cb <sup>R</sup>	This study		
pACYC-3'gto	pACYC184 carrying LEE <i>tir</i> , cesT and 3' end of <i>map</i> genes	Tet <sup>R</sup> /Cm <sup>R</sup>	(Dean and Kenny, 2004)		
pACYC-Frag-B	pACYC184 carrying IE2 'Frag-B' region	Cm <sup>R</sup>	This study		
pACYC-Frag-1	pACYC184 carrying IE2 'Frag-1' region	Cm <sup>R</sup>	This study		
pACYC-Frag-2	pACYC184 carrying IE2 'Frag-2' region	Cm <sup>R</sup>	This study		
pACYC-Frag-3	pACYC184 carrying IE2 'Frag-3' region	Cm <sup>R</sup>	This study		
pACYC- Frag-4	pACYC184 carrying IE2 'Frag-4' region	Cm <sup>R</sup>	This study		
pDS132-∆PP2	pDS132 suicide vector used to delete entire EPEC PP2 region	Cm <sup>R</sup>	S. Quitard. Unpublished		
pDS-∆FragB	Region of above vector used to delete PP2 replaced with region to delete IE2 'Frag B' region	Cm <sup>R</sup>	This study		
pDS-∆Frag/L	Region of vector used to delete PP2 replaced with region to delete IE2 'Frag B' region and <i>LifA-like</i> gene	Cm <sup>R</sup>	This study		
pDS-∆FragB/L/N	Region of vector used to delete PP2 replaced with region to delete IE2 'Frag B' region, <i>LifA-like</i> , nleE2, <i>nleB2</i> *, <i>espL</i> * genes (* indicates pseudogene)	Cm <sup>R</sup>	This study		
pACYC-nleE2/nleB2*/ espL*	pACYC184 carrying IE2 <i>nleE2</i> , <i>nleB2</i> *, <i>espL</i> * genes (* indicates pseudogene)	Cm <sup>R</sup>	This study		
plifA	Encodes <i>LifA</i> tagged at C-terminus with 6X-His under rhamnose-inducible promoter	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Cassady-Cain <i>et al.</i> , 2016)		

#### Table 4 Plasmids used in this study

p∆DXD	As pRham- <i>LifA</i> -6X-His but with DXD motif of putative glycosyltransferase domain changed to AAA	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Cassady-Cain <i>et al.</i> , 2016)
p∆CHD	As pRham- <i>LifA</i> -6X-His but with CHD motif of putative cysteine cysteine- protease domain changed to AAA.	Km <sup>R</sup>	(Cassady-Cain <i>et al.</i> , 2016)
pcesT	pACYC184 expressing CesT chaperone	Cm <sup>R</sup>	(Madkour, 2017)

#### Table 5 Standard PCR reaction mixture

#### A) Q5 Hot start high fidelity DNA polymerase B) Taq DNA polymerase

A) Component	25µl reaction	Final Concentration
Q5 reaction buffer	5 µl	1x reaction buffer
10 mM dNTPs	0.5 µl	200 μM dNTPs
10 µM forward primer	0.5 µl	0.2 μM
10 µM reverse primer	0.5 µl	0.2 µM
Template bacterial DNA	1 µl	Variable
Q5 Hot start high-fidelity DNA polymerase	0.25 µl	0.02 units/µl
dH2O	Up to 25 µl	
B) Component	25µl reaction	Final Concentration
10X Taq reaction buffer	1 µl	1x Taq reaction buffer
10 mM dNTPs	0.5 µl	200 μM dNTPs
10 μM forward primer	0.5 µl	0.2 μM
10 μM reverse primer	0.5 µl	0.2 µM
Template bacterial DNA	1 µl	Variable
<i>Taq</i> DNA polymerase	0.125 µl	0.625 units
dH2O	Up to 25 µl	

#### Table 6 Standard PCR reaction condition

#### A) Q5 Hot start high-fidelity DNA polymerase and B) Taq DNA polymerase.

A) Step	Cycles	Temperature and Time
Initial denaturation	1	98ºC for 30 seconds
Denaturation Annealing Extension	30	98°C for 10 seconds 53-68°C for 30 seconds 72°C for 30-60 seconds
Final Extension	1	72 C for 2 min

B) Step	Cycles	Temperature and Time
Initial denaturation	1	95°C for 30 seconds
Denaturation Annealing Extension	30	95°C for 30 seconds 53-63°C for 1 min 68°C for 1 min/kb
Final Extension	1	68°C for 2 min

#### Table 7 Oligonucleotide Primers used in this study

	Name of the Oligo	Oligonucleotide seguence 5'-3'
1	nleE1 Forward Primer	CCAGTATGTATACCAGCAGTTCATGGTAAG
2	nleE1 Reverse Primer	ATTGGGCGTTTTCCGGATATAACTG
3	nleE2 Forward Primer	TTATTTCCACAGGCATGTAG
4	nleF2 Reverse Primer	TCCTGTTACTAATACTCAGGG
5	espGorf3 Forward Primer	TAGGTATAACCCTATGCCTGTGTTC
6	espCorf3 Poverse Primer	
7	pleE Forward Primer	
0	nier Tolward Frimer	
0		
9	esph Forward Primer	
10	esph Reverse Primer	
11	espF Forward Primer	
12	espF Reverse Primer	
13	espG Forward Primer	
14	espG Reverse Primer	
15	espJ Forward Primer	AAATAACCACCACTCCCACACCAGCGAAAC
16	espJ Reverse Primer	ATACCAAATGCGTTTTTTGTGGGTTATAC
17	nleD Forward Primer	GCTTTATTATCGGGTTTGGTGACCGCCTTG
18	nleD Reverse Primer	AATAAGAGCTGAGTCGTGCGGGTAG
19	LifA Forward Primer	CGCAGGATGACCTAGTTTC
20	LifA Reverse Primer	CCTGGATTCCTTCTGTATTG
21	LifA-like Forward Primer	GGTATCGAAGAGATTGTCAG
22	LifA-like Reverse Primer	CTATCGCTTCCTGTATAGCC
23	cesT Forward Primer	GCTCTAGACAACGTTGCAGCATGGGTAA
24	cesT Reverse Primer	GCGAATTCTCATGTTTGGGCTCCACCAC
25	tir Forward Primer	CCGCCACTACCTTCACAAAC
26	tir Reverse Primer	GCGTTGGTGCGGCATTTACAG
27	Frag-A Forward Primer	GCGACCACCCGTCCTGTGGGACATTATTGCCATATCCA
28	Frag-A Reverse Primer	AAGGCTCTCAAGGGCATCGGGACTCAAAACAAACTCAGATG
29	Frag-B Forward Primer	GCGACCACCCGTCCTGTGCATATATGCCCCGGTATGAA
30	Frag-B Reverse Primer	
31	Frag-C Forward Primer	
32	Frag-C Reverse Primer	
33	Frag-D Forward Primer	CCACCACACCCGTCCTGTGGCCGATATTGATCCAGT
34	Frag-D Poverse Primer	
25	Frag E Forward Primor	
26	Frag E Poverse Brimer	
27	Frag E Forward Primer	
20	Frag E Povorso Primor	
20	Flag-F Reverse Filler	
39	Frag 2 Deverse Drimer	
40	Frag-2 Reverse Primer	
41	Frag-3 Forward Primer	
42	Frag-4 Reverse Primer	
43	Frag-1-4 Forward Primer	
44	LifA-CHD Forward Primer	GCAGCCAGAACATTGAT
45	LifA-CHD Reverse Primer	
46	LifA-DXD Forward Primer	
4/	LITA-DXD Reverse Primer	
48	IE2 Forward Primer 1	GCGTCGACAAGGAGTTATACAC
49	IE2 Reverse Primer 1	GGGGATACCTGGTTAATGC
50	IE2 Forward Primer 2	CGTTGCCGTATACACACTTTC
51	IE2 Reverse Primer 2	ATGCTCTGACTCTTGCCTGAG
52	Frag-B Forward Primer 1	GGTTAAAAAGGATCGATCCTGGCTGAGTTTCAAAGCTATC
53	Frag-B Reverse Primer 1	ACAGTTTATCCGACTGATCGCATTGTAAC
54	Frag-B Forward Primer 2	CGATCAGTCGGATAAACTGTTTGGTTGC
55	Frag-B Reverse Primer 2	GTGGAATTCCCGGGAGAGCTCTTTCCTGTCAATGACATC
56	Frag-B/L Forward Primer 1	GGTTAAAAAGGATCGATCCTGGCTGAGTTTCAAAGCTATC
57	Frag-B/L Reverse Primer 1	CTAAACCTTTGCAGCGACTGATCGCATTGTAAC
58	Frag-B/L Forward Primer 2	CAATGCGATCAGTCGCTGCAAAGGTTTAGATATTAAC
59	Frag-B/L Reverse Primer 2	GTGGAATTCCCGGGAGAGCTAGAAGCTCAGCAACTTGTG
60	Frag-B//N Forward Primer 1	GGTTAAAAAGGATCGATCCTGGCTGAGTTTCAAAGCTATC
61	Frag-B/L/N Reverse Primer 1	CATAGAAAGGCGACTGATCGCATTGTAAC
62	Frag-B/L/N Forward Primer 2	CAATGCGATCAGTCGCCTTTCTATGAGTTTTACACC
<u> </u>	Frag-B/I /N Reverse Primer 2	GTGGAATTCCCGGGAGAGCTACACAAAATGACAGCTGTG
63		

#### 2.2.7 Bacterial Transformation

#### 2.2.7.1 Heat-shock method

Commercial NEB turbo competent *E. coli* (High Efficiency; New England Biolabs; Cat # C2984H) were thawed on ice for 10 minutes before 25µl was placed in a prechilled 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube. 10-100ng (1-2µl) of DNA (usually ligation mix; see below) was added and gently mixed by pipetting. The suspension was kept on ice for 30 min followed by a brief heat-shock by placing at 42°C for 30 seconds before returning to ice for another 5 mins. Then 950µl of pre-warmed SOC medium was added, gently mixed with pipette and incubated (with shaking; 225-250 rpm) at 37°C for 1-hour prior to plating 50 and 450µl onto LB agar plates containing appropriate antibiotic(s). Plates were incubated overnight at 37 °C. Colonies were screened for the transformed plasmid by PCR analysis (see below).

#### 2.2.7.2 Electroporation Method

Bacterial strains grown with shaking overnight in LB broth were diluted 1:50 into 100 ml LB broth, containing antibiotic when needed, and grown with shaking (Stuart Scientific incubator; Cat #00119; 225-250rpm) to an optical density (OD<sub>600</sub>) of 0.6-0.8. The culture was placed on ice with gentle shaking for 5 min to rapidly chill the solution. All manipulations were carried out with ice cold reagents. The bacteria were pelleted (2800 g, 15 min, 4° C) in 50 ml tubes (Star lab UK Ltd, #E1450-0200) and resuspended in 50ml deionised water (dH<sub>2</sub>O). The centrifugation step was repeated and resulting pellet re-suspended in 50ml (dH<sub>2</sub>O). After repeating the centrifugation step, the pellet re-suspended in 10% glycerol (ice cold). A final centrifugation step was followed by re-suspending the pellet in 300ul 10% glycerol which as aliquoted (40ul) into 1.5 ml tubes (Sarstedt; Cat #72.690.001) for use or snap frozen in liquid nitrogen for storage (-80°C).

Electrocompetent cells were thawed on ice before adding plasmid DNA (1-2  $\mu$ l; 25-50ng/ $\mu$ l) to a 40  $\mu$ l aliquot and incubated for 5-10 min on ice. The suspension was transferred to a 2mm electroporation cuvette (Cell projects #EP-102) for electroporation (Gene Pulser II Bio-Rad with following setting: 2.5kV, 200 $\Omega$ , 25mF

70

for 4.5µs) followed by immediate, gentle, resuspension in 1ml super optimal broth with catabolite repression (SOC; 0.5% Yeast Extract, 2% Tryptone, 10mM NaCl, 2.5mM KCl, 10mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10mM MgSO<sub>4</sub> & 20mM Glucose) media pre-warmed to 37°C. After a minimum 1h recovery period at 37°C, 1 to 1000µl was plated on LB agar plates containing selective antibiotics and incubated (37<sup>o</sup>C) for 12-16 hours. Individual colonies were screened for plasmid introduction by PCR and/or western blot analyses (see below).

## 2.2.8 Construction of EPEC gene/gene complex knockout mutants

Disruption or knockout of target EPEC genes using the standard allelic exchange protocol (Donnenberg and Kaper, 1991) followed by phenotypic characterisation of the resulting mutant strain. Briefly, SM10 *Apir* (Km<sup>R</sup>) strains carrying the appropriate, usually pDS132-based (Cm<sup>R</sup>), suicide vectors were co-incubated with the recipient strain i.e., EPEC (Nal<sup>R</sup>) overnight at 37<sup>o</sup>C on a LB agar plate. Next day, bacterial cells were scraped off from different areas and grown to stationary phase in LB broth contacting Nal antibiotic. Bacterial were then added to Nal/Cm plates to select for transconjugants (suicide vector incorporates in EPEC genome by single cross-over recombination at target gene). Next day, a single colony was inoculated to LB broth and grown to stationary phase (provide change for suicide vector to be excised from genome by recombination) before plating on LB agar plates containing 5% sucrose for overnight incubation at 30°C. Five percent sucrose kills cell still carrying the suicide vector. Single clones were streaked on LB agar plates containing Nal, Cm or no antibiotic and incubated overnight at 37°C. Colonies growing on Nal, LB but not Cm plates were screen for gene disruption by PCR analysis.

#### 2.2.9 DNA sequencing

The gene of interest was PCR amplified using Q5 high fidelity DNA polymerase (New England Bio-labs; Cat # M0493S) with appropriate oligonucleotide pair. PCR

71

products were cleaned up using GenElute<sup>™</sup> PCR Clean-Up Kit (Sigma Cat #1020-1KT) following manufacturer's instructions and quantified using (Nano-drop 100 spectrophotometer; Lab-tech) prior to sending for sequencing along with appropriate oligonucleotides (Table 5). Obtained DNA sequence was analysed by performing pairwise alignment programme (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/psa/emboss\_needle/) with native gene sequence.

#### 2.3 Bacterial infection-related

#### 2.3.1 J774.A1 infection

J774.A1 macrophage (~10<sup>5</sup>) were seeded into 12 well plates 2 days prior to infection, as described previously. The cells were serum starved ~16h prior to infection by replacing the media with DMEM containing only 0.5% FCS. Overnight standing LB bacterial cultures ( $OD_{600}$  0.6-0.8) were diluted into DMEM (1:10) for 2h at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere induces expression of T3SS and other virulence proteins (Rosenshine *et al.*, 1996a) before taking  $OD_{600}$  measurements. The macrophages were infected with bacteria at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 200:1 (bacteria: macrophage) for the required period.

#### 2.3.2 Isolation of protein fractions from J774.A1 cells

Infections were stopped by washing three times with ice cold PBS (137mM sodium chloride [NaCl], 2.7mM potassium chloride [KCl], 10mM disodium phosphate and 1.8mM monopotassium phosphate; pH 7.4) which removes non-adherent bacteria. Total cells extracts were obtained resuspending cells in 120µl of sodium Dodecyl Sulphate-Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) sample buffer (Laemmli, 1970). In some experiments, cells were fractionated into cytoplasmic (contains host cytoplasm proteins and T3SS-delivered effectors), membrane (contains host membrane proteins and T3SS-delivered effectors) and insoluble (contains host nuclei, cytoskeleton, and adherent bacteria) fractions using ice-cold solutions. Briefly, post-infection, cells were washed three times with 1X PBS and

drained well before adding Saponin Lysis Buffer (PBS containing 0.2% Saponin [(BD7; Cat # 6168150), 1mM sodium fluoride (NaF; ICN Biomedical; Cat #194864), 1mM sodium orthovanadate (NaVO<sub>4</sub>; ICN Biomedicals; Cat # 159664) plus a protease inhibitor cocktail (PIC; Sigma; Cat #1003013902)]. The samples were centrifuged (13000 g, 5min, 4°C) in 1.5ml microfuge tubes, with supernatant (cytoplasmic fraction) isolated before adding 5X SDS-PAGE sample buffer to final 1X conc. The pellet was washed (gentle addition/removal of 1 ml PBS) before suspending in Triton X-100 (BioRad; Cat # 9002-93-1) Lysis Buffer (as saponin Lysis Buffer but also contains 1% Triton X-100) and centrifuging as before. The supernatant (membrane fraction) was isolated before adding 5X SDS-PAGE sample buffer to final 1X conc. The remaining pellet (insoluble fraction) was gently washed, as before, and re-suspended in 1X SDS-PAGE sample buffer. Samples were heated (100°C, 5min), vigorously vortexed for immediate use or stored at - 20°C.

# 2.3.3 Sodium dodecyl sulphate -Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

Sodium dodecyl sulphate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE (routinely 6% or 10%) gels (Laemmli, 1970) were prepared for use in a BioRad mini-gel system and, generally, loaded with 10µl samples alongside 2-4µl of protein marker (Bio-Rad; Cat #161-0373). The gels were resolved in SDS-PA gel running buffer (25mM Tris-HCl, 192mM glycine, 0.1% w/v SDS: pH 8.3) at 200 Volts for 1h. The proteins were either visualised by Coomassie staining or wet transferred to nitrocellulose (GE Healthcare Cat #15269794) using a Bio-Rad Proteane 11 wet transfer system in 1X transfer buffer (25mM Tris, 192mM glycine; pH 8.3) for 1 at 110 Volts. Transfer efficiency/quality were assessed by adding a reversible strain (Ponceau Red; Sigma; Cat #P7170) and aided membrane cutting into sections to probe for specific proteins. After washing away the stain - with TBST (150mM NaCl, 10mM Tris-HCl; pH 7.5) the membranes sections were blocked for 1hr at room temperature (on rotating shaker) in TBST/Tween-20 (TBST with 0.05% v/v Tween-20) containing 5% w/v skimmed milk (Marvel). The membranes were removed from blocking buffer, washed 3x 5min with TBST and incubating overnight at 4<sup>o</sup>C with

the appropriate primary antibody (Table 8) diluted in TBST. Post incubation, the membranes were washed 3x 5 min with TBST and incubated 1h (at room temperature) with appropriate secondary alkaline phosphatase (AP; Jackson Immuno research Cat #11-055-144) or horse radish peroxidase (HRP; Jackson Immuno Research Cat # .111-035-003) conjugated antibody diluted in TBST (Table 8). The membranes were washed (3 x) with TBST with bound AP-conjugated secondary antibodies visualised by using NBT/BCIP substrate (Promega-UK Ltd; Cat #53771), following manufacturer's instructions, and for HRP-conjugated antibodies the ECL Buffer (Thermo scientific; Cat #34079), following manufacturer's instructions, with chemo-luminescence signal captured using Gel-Doc machine (Bio-Rad System) and image J gel analysis software.

#### 2.3.4 Immunofluorescence microscopy

Hela cells (ATCC-CCL- $2^{TM}$ ) – derived from human cervical epithelial cancer - were seeded 2 days prior to infection onto sterile 13mm glass coverslips (VWR Cat No. 631-1578) to ~80-90% confluency on the day of infection. Post-infection, the cells were washed with ice cold 1x PBS and fixed for 30 min at room temperature with freshly prepared 2.5% paraformaldehyde (Chem Cruz; Cat No. SC 281692) in ice cold 1x PBS. Following fixation, the cells were washed three times with 1x PBS and incubated for 1h with 20-25µl of 1x PBS containing 1% (v/v) TritonX-100, tetramethyl-rhodamine-isothiocyanate (TRITC)-phalloidin (1µg/ml [1:100]; final concentration 10ng] to detect polymerised actin; fluoresces in 'Red' channel) and 4'6-diamidino-2-phenylinodole (DAPI; fluoresces in 'Blue' channel) to strain DNA. Coverslips were washed three times in 1x PBS before mounting onto glass slides on 20µl of FluroSave reagent (Millipore Cat no. 345789-20). The samples were examined using a Zeiss Axioskop epifluorescent microscope with images taken using a Hamamatsu C4742-95 charge-coupled device camera and Improvision software. Fiji ImageJ software were used for analyses.

#### 2.3.5 Immunoprecipitation

J774.A1 cells were seeded at approximately 3x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/ml in 10 cm dishes (Sarstedt, Cat #83.3921) 2 days prior to infection. On the day of infection cells were 80-90 % confluent (~1x 10<sup>6</sup> cells in 10 cm dishes), infected with EPEC WT and T3SS mutant for 2 hr. Post-infection, the cells were washed twice with cold PBS and lysed in 250µl cold 1% Triton-X-100 Lysis buffer (see section 2.3.2) and sample centrifuged (13000 g, 5min, 4<sup>o</sup>C) to obtain soluble fraction (contains host cytoplasmic and membrane proteins plus T3SS-delivered effector proteins). A sample (50ul) was taken as an 'input' reference and added to 5x SDS sample buffer to final 1x conc. Thirty microlitre of pan-Akt antibodies conjugated to magnetic beads (Table 6) were added and incubated (on a rotating wheel) overnight at 4°C. The beads were magnetically separated with a sample (200ul) of the supernatant to provide a reference 'output' that was added to 5x SDS sample buffer (to final 1x conc). Beads were pelleted using a separation rack. To give a reference 'output,' the beads were magnetically separated with a sample (200ul) of the supernatant, which was added to 5x SDS sample buffer (to final 1x conc). Beads were extracted using magnetic separation rack. The bead was washed 3 times with ice-cold lysis buffer (500ul) and kept on ice between washes. The pellet was resuspended with 30µl 1x SDS sample buffer and briefly vortex to mix. The sample was heated to 95-100°C for 5 min, briefly centrifuged and the supernatant transferred to a new microfuge tube. This was processed for Western blot analysis as described (section 2.3.3) with appropriate primary and HRP-conjugated antibodies. Table 8 lists the antibodies and conditions used for immunofluorescence (IF) and/or western blot (WB) analyses.

#### Table 8 Antibodies used for western blot and immunofluorescence studies

Primary antibody	Origin	Dilution	Company and Cat #
Tir	Rabbit	1:5000	Kenny Lab
β-Actin	Rabbit	1:10000	Sigma; A2066
Pan-Akt	Mouse	1:500	Cell Signalling; Cat # 2920
p-AktSer473	Rabbit	1:500	Cell Signalling; Cat # 9271
p-AktThr308	Rabbit	1:500	Cell Signalling; Cat # 4060
p-AktSer473	Mouse	1:500	Cell Signalling; Cat # 4051
LifA	Rabbit	1:10000	Stevens Lab, Edinburgh
O-GIcNAc	Mouse	1:500	Santa Cruz, Cat # SC 59623
Akt (Pan) Magnetic bead conjugate	Rabbit	1:6	Cell Signalling; Cat # 11848

Secondary antibody	Origin	Dilution	Company and Cat #
Anti-Rabbit IgG-Horse radish peroxide (HRP)	Goat	1/5000	Jackson Immuno Research; Cat # 111-035-003
Anti-mouse IgG-Horse radish peroxide (HRP)	Mouse	1/5000	Jackson Immuno Research; Cat # 111-005-146
Anti-Rabbit IgG- Alkaline Phosphatase (AP)	Goat	1/2500	Jackson Immuno Research; Cat # 111-055-144
Phalloidin-TRITC	NA	1:100	Sigma; Cat # P1951.1MG
DAPI	NA	1:1000	Invitrogen; Cat # D1306

# Chapter 3. Identifying EPEC effector(s) with role in pAktSer473 loss

#### **3.1 Introduction**

A previous study on the T3SS dependent mechanism by which EPEC interferes with Akt signalling found no role for the LEE and all 13 examined NIe effectors suggesting roles for the 4 unexamined T3SS NIe substrates (EspC, LifA, LifA-like and/or NIeJ) or other yet unidentified effector(s) (Amin, 2017). Thus, initial studies would focus on define roles, individual or collective, for these 4 proteins alone or with other LEE and/or NIe effectors.

Studies with an available EspC mutant did not reveal any impact on the inhibitory process (O. Amin unpublished) suggesting EspC does not play a key role or functions in a redundant manner with other effectors. NIeJ, is a 191aa protein encoded on a P2-like prophage (PP3) predicted to have a C-terminal phosphoribosyl transferase domain (Deng et al., 2012). NIeJ does not have homologs in other A/E pathogen members such as EHEC or C. rodentium but has 50% identity with a SopEΦ phage-encoded protein in Salmonella enterica (Deng et al., 2012). LifA (also known as Efa1) is the largest known T3SS substrate (3223) aa) and is conserved to different degrees in genome-sequenced A/E pathogen strains including rabbit EPEC (RDEC-1) Citrobacter rodentium and some enterohemorrhagic E. coli (EHEC) strains (Deng et al., 2012). In the EHEC 0157 EDL933 strain the lifA/efa1 gene is truncated into two open reading frames, Z4332 and Z4333 respectively (Hayashi et al., 2001; Stevens et al., 2004). Z4332 encoded the N-terminal 433 amino acid residues (99.9% identical to that of LifA) and Z433 aligns with a 275 amino acid region in the middle portion of LifA (Deng et al., 2012). However, EHEC 0157:H7 also encodes a LifA-like homolog, named ToxB, on a plasmid (Makino et al., 1998) exhibiting 28% sequence identity with LifA/Efa1. ToxB is considered a functional homolog of EPEC LifA, at least in relation to it also being a lymphostatin – a feature that led to the identification of LifA; lymphocyte inhibitory factor A (Klapproth et al., 2000). The Efa1 (Escherichia *coli* factor for adherence) nomenclature came from the studies by another group reporting the gene product to act as an adhesion (Nicholls et al., 2000a). In EPEC, the LifA/Efa1-encoding gene is located on the IE6 while the LifA-like homolog (~28% identity) is encoded on IE2 (Iguchi et al., 2009; Deng et al., 2012).

78

As mentioned EPEC has acquired several prophages (PP1-13) and integrative elements (LEE, IE1a, IE1b, IE2-6) with known effectors encoded, mostly in clusters, on 9 PP and IE regions (Iguchi *et al.*, 2009) (Figure 16). As PPs and IEs can be as large as 60kb (Iguchi *et al.*, 2009) it is possible they encode cryptic T3SS-dependent effectors. Interestingly an *in-silico*-based approach by a Kenny group member, Dr Paul Dean, identified putative effectors with examination of  $\beta$ -lactamase tagged versions supporting the T3SS-dependent delivery of 6 into host cells (Unpublished). This supports the idea that EPEC may encode other, currently unknown, effectors and possible substrates to interrogate roles in the inhibition of Akt activity. Furthermore, previous research revealed that the effector or effectors required for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling require the function of the LEE multisubstrate chaperone, CesT (Amin, 2017). This relationship, if confirmed, could be used to identify novel CesT binding partners by, for example, mass spectrometry approaches as the possible responsible effector(s).

The aim of the work in the work described in this chapter was to identify the EPEC effector or effectors responsible for inhibiting Akt signalling in the J774.A1 macrophage-like cell model.



#### Figure 16 Genetic organisation EPEC E2348/69 PPs and IEs

Position of the NIeJ-encoding gene (red arrow) on PP3

#### 3.2 Results

#### 3.2.1 Re-establishing the Akt phosphorylation assay

To enable screening for the responsible effector/s, it was first necessary to reestablish the infection model and detection assay (Celli *et al.*, 2001; Quitard *et al.*, 2006; Amin, 2017).Thus, J774A.1 macrophages were left uninfected or infected with pre-activated bacteria (grown 3hr in DMEM to induce the T3SS) at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 200:1 (bacteria to host cells). These studies used EPEC and a T3SS mutant, *cfm-14* (cannot deliver effector proteins; Chapter 2; Table 1) over a 120 min infection period. Following removal of non-adherent bacteria, the remaining cellular proteins were extracted in sample buffer and samples resolved (SDS-PAGE gels) for western blot analysis (See Material and Methods; Section 2.3.3).

Western blot probing for the Tir effector is used as a marker of T3SS functionality (Kenny *et al.*, 1997a) as Tir is the first and most abundantly delivered EPEC effector with delivery revealed by shifts in apparent molecular weight due to phosphorylation by host kinases (Kenny *et al.*, 1997a). The unmodified Tir form within bacteria (T<sup>0</sup>) migrates as a ~78kDa protein with kinase modification leading to the T" (~90kDa) form (Kenny *et al.*, 1997a). Probing the isolated samples revealed host kinase modification of Tir to the T" form in cells infected with EPEC but not the T3SS mutant (Figure 17) supporting strain genotype.

Consistent with previous studies (Celli *et al.*, 2001; Quitard *et al.*, 2006; Amin, 2017) infection with both strains induced Akt phosphorylation on Ser473 (pAktSer473) that was sustained over the 120-minute T3SS mutant infection but declined to background levels, by 60 min post-EPEC infection (Figure 17). Probing for the host protein,  $\beta$ -actin, and revealed similar gel lane loadings illustrating pAktSer473 signal loss was due to a T3SS-dependent process. These findings were highly reproducible (as illustrated in subsequent experiments) and hence the work shows re-establishment of a robust model to study the T3SS-dependent loss of pAktSer473 signal with J774.A1 macrophages.



#### Figure 17 Assay for monitoring T3SS-dependent inhibition of Akt signalling.

J774A.1 monolayer were left uninfected or infected (MOI 200:1) with pre-activated strains for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending the macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on a 10% SDS-PA gel, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC and a T3SS mutant, *cfm-14*. The data is representative of multiple (>3) independent experiments (not shown but see other figures).

#### 3.3.2 Role for CesT chaperone in loss of pAktSer473 signal

Previous studies suggested that the CesT chaperone is needed for infectionassociated loss of pAktSer473 signal (Amin, 2017). Thus, experiments were done to support this finding as it could provide a means to identify the responsible effector/s by, for example, isolating CesT binding partners for identification by mass spectrometry. However, the interpretation of the previous studies were complicated by the CesT-deficient strains inducing pAktSer473 signal loss by an additional mechanism i.e. cytotoxic death as CesT is needed to deliver the 'anti-death' LEE effector, EspZ (Amin, 2017). These previous studies focused on cesT::Km and core::Km (lacks LEE region encoding 3 effectors [EspH, Map, Tir], 2 chaperones [CesF/CesT] and Intimin surface protein) mutants. However, preliminary studies suggested a *core*::Km derived mutant, TOEA7 *core*::Km, did not induce this cytotoxicity mechanism and thus behaved like the T3SS mutant (O. Amin; unpublished). The  $\triangle core$ ::Km mutant lacks the LEE region encoding 3 effectors (EspH, Map, Tir), 2 chaperones (CesF, CesT) and Intimin surface protein with TOEA7∆core:Km mutant also lacks genes for 13 NIe effectors (Madkour, 2017). Thus, studies were undertaken to determine if re-introducing *cesT* restored the strain's ability to interfere with Akt signalling.

This work used plasmids available in the lab that encode CesT - as a HA-epitope tagged CesT::HA variant which functionally substitutes CesT (B. Kenny personal communication) or only Tir (as T3SS functionality marker). The plasmids were introduced separately or together into the TOEA7 $\Delta$ *core*::Km mutant for a time course infection study (see Materials and Methods; Section 2.3.1). The control strains, EPEC and T3SS mutant, reproduced the previously obtained Tir, pAktSer473 and actin signals (Figure 18A versus Figure 17) supporting assay reproducibility. Examining samples from TOEA7 $\Delta$ *core*::Km mutant infected cells revealed, as expected, no Tir band unless the strain carried the Tir-encoding plasmid (Figure 18B). Introducing both the Tir and CesT-encoding plasmids led to the detection of unmodified and T'' modified Tir forms (Figure 18C) revealing the TOEA7 $\Delta$ *core*::Km mutant has a functional T3SS (Figure 18C). Probing for pAktSer473 illustrated the TOEA7 $\Delta$ *core*::Km mutant strain carrying none or only one plasmid retained a sustain pAkt signals over the 120 minute infection period

83

i.e. behaved like the T3SS mutant (Figure 18A-C). By contrast, the TOEA7 $\Delta$ core::Km strain carrying both plasmids was linked to loss of pAktSer473 signal at the final (90 and 120 minute) time points (Figure 18C). These data support the idea (Amin, 2017) that EPEC's T3SS-dependent ability to interfere with pAktSer473 signalling depends on it expressing the CesT chaperone. However, data preliminary data indicated a role for Tir with CesT (see Supplementary Figure 1) despite previous studies ruling out a need for Tir in pAktSer473 signal loss (Amin, 2017). A role for Tir may only be apparent in specific genetic backgrounds.

To support a role for CesT and/or Tir, studies were also performed with a plasmid (pACYC-3'gto) carrying both *tir* and *cesT* genes in their natural context i.e., adjacent to each other, no tags and same copy number. Consistent with previous work (Amin, 2017), this revealed a plasmid associated increase in pAktSer473 loss supporting a role for CesT and/or Tir. Additional studies to confirm this possibility were not done due to other work identifying the responsible effectors (see below).



#### Figure 18 CesT and Tir-dependent loss of pAktSer473 signal.

J774A.1 monolayer were left uninfected or were infected (MOI 200:1) with pre-activated strains for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAKTSer473 and actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T<sup>"</sup>) Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, T3SS (*cfm-14*) and TOEA7 $\Delta$ *core* (lacks 14 NIe and 6 LEE proteins [3 effectors, CesT & CesT chaperones and Intimin surface protein]) mutants. The TOEA7 $\Delta$ *core* mutant carried no (-) plasmid or indicated plasmids (+) encoding CesT (p*cesT*-HA) or Tir (p*tir*). Roles for the plasmid-encoded factors are supported by an additional infection study (see supplementary figure 1).

# 3.2.3 T3SS-dependent pAktSer473 signal loss is a shared feature of other A/E pathogens

A second strategy to identify effectors inhibiting Akt signalling was to determine if other A/E pathogens - whose genome sequence and thus effector repertoire is known - behaved like EPEC E2348/69. Hence infection studies were carried out with genome sequenced strains available in the Kenny group i.e. another prototypic EPEC strain, B171-8 (O111: NM), rabbit EPEC (RDEC-1 O15:KH), enterohaemorrhagic *E. coli* (EHEC O157:H7 EDL933; variant lacking genes encoding the Shiga-like toxin) and *Citrobacter rodentium* (Cantey and Blake, 1977; Schauer and Falkow, 1993; Puente *et al.*, 1996; Mundy *et al.*, 2003; Dziva *et al.*, 2004; Marchès *et al.*, 2008). This work included isogenic T3SS mutants for each strain except B171-8, latter not available within the lab.

J774A.1 infection time course experiment were carried out, as before (with preactivated strains, MOI 200:1) and samples isolated over a 120 min period for Western blot analyses. Probing samples from the EPEC B171-8 infected cells for pAktSer473 revealed a rapid loss of infection induced signal unlike the negative control i.e., EPEC E2348/69 T3SS mutant (Figure 19A). Probing with antibodies against Tir from EPEC E2348/69, unsurprisingly, detected the B171-8 Tir variant (83% identical) revealing both unmodified and kinase-modified forms thereby illustrating EPEC B171-8 has a functional T3SS. The antibodies also detected Tir in *Citrobacter* and RDEC-1 with the kinase-modified form in extracts from cells infected with the parental but not T3SS mutant strains (Figure 19B & C) supporting strain genotype. The obtained pAktSer473 and actin signals are consistent with both Citrobacter and RDEC-1 having a T3SS-dependent mechanism that interferes with Akt signalling (Figure 19B & C). While EHEC infection was linked to pAktSer473 signal loss there was a similar, though less dramatic decrease in cells infected with the  $\triangle escN$  (T3SS-deficient) variant (Figure 19D) suggestive of an additional T3SS-independent component. As the anti-Tir antibodies do not detect Tir from EHEC O157 (Kenny, 1999) there is no support for the  $\Delta escN$  mutant genotype i.e., lacks a functional T3SS. Similar findings were obtained in an additional time course infection with EHEC and  $\Delta escN$  mutant strains. Importantly strain genotype was supported by microscopy studies on infected HeLa cells

86

(Figure 20) as this revealed EHEC, but not the  $\Delta escN$  mutant could nucleate actin nucleation – a process dependent on Tir delivery into host cells.

Collectively, these studies suggested that the examined A/E pathogen strains may all encode a common effector (or effectors) that can inhibit Akt signalling though EHEC may encoded T3SS-dependent and -independent inhibitory mechanisms. Previous work had ruled out roles for all EPEC LEE effectors and most non-LEEencoded effectors (Amin, 2017). Of the remaining known EPEC T3SS substrates - EspC, NIeJ, LifA, LifA-like protein - the examined A/E pathogens (Dautin, 2010) encode EspC and LifA homologues (Vijayakumar *et al.*, 2014; Bease, 2020). However, EspC was not needed for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling (O. Amin; unpublished) suggestive of possible roles for LifA-homologues in the different strains.



#### Figure 19 Other A/E pathogens inhibit Akt signalling.

J774A.1 cell were left uninfected or infected (MOI 200:1) with pre-activated strains for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAKTSer473 and actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position on unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T<sup>"</sup>) EPEC Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC B171-8, *Citrobacter rodentium (Citrobacter*), rabbit EPEC O15:KH (RDEC-1) and enterohaemorrhagic *E. coli* O157:H7 EDL993 (but lacks genes encoding Shiga-like toxins; EHEC) and T3SS-deficient variant of each strain except EPEC B171 (used EPEC E2348/69 T3SS mutant). These data are supported by an additional time-course infection study (see Supplementary Figure 2).



#### Figure 20 The EHEC ΔescN mutants lacks a functional T3SS

HeLa cells were infected with indicated EPEC and EHEC strains for 3 hours. The infection was stopped by washing away non-adherent bacteria and fixing cells in a 1% paraformaldehyde solution. The cells were incubated with detergent (to permeabilise the host membrane) that also contained fluorescently labelled phalloidin (binds polymerised actin; Red) and DAPI (stains host and bacterial DNA; Blue). The fluorescent signals were detecting by florescence microscopy. A1-D1: DAPI signal; A2-D2: Polymerised actin; A3-D3: Both (merged) signals. Strains used were EPEC E2348/69, EHEC O157:H7 (EDL933) and their T3SS deficient mutant strains (*cfm-14* and  $\Delta escN$  respectively). These data suggests that EHEC but not its T3SS-deficient variant can trigger actin polymerisation events.

#### 3.2.4 EPEC does not require LifA to inhibit Akt signalling

A third strategy to identify the effector/s responsible for inhibiting Akt signalling was to assess the role of the four unexamined effectors, EspC, NIeJ, LifA and LifA-like protein. As mentioned, studies with an available  $\Delta espC$  mutant argued against EspC having a key role (O. Amin; unpublished). Strains lacking *nIeJ* or *lifA*-like genes were not available. Thus, initial studies focused on LifA, as a suicide vector was available (Klapproth *et al.*, 2000) to disrupt the gene by replacing an internal fragment (1980bp of 9669bp) with a kanamycin resistance-encoding gene (Klapproth *et al.*, 2000). This suicide vector was used (See Material and Methods; Table 5) to generate an EPEC E2348/69 *lifA*.:Km mutant with the gene disruption event supported by PCR analysis (Figure 21A). The *lifA*::Km mutant had no obvious defect in binding HeLa cells and inducing Tir-dependent actin nucleation events as reported (Klapproth *et al.*, 2000)(not shown).

A time course infection study with J774.A1 macrophages revealed similar Tir, pAktSer473 and actin signal in samples obtained from cells infected with EPEC or the *lifA*::Km mutant (Figure 21B). This finding argues against a critical role for LifA in the inhibitory process. However, the *lifA*::Km gene could, in theory, still produce the first ~1900 residues. The N-terminus of T3SS effectors carries the export signal and, for CesT substrates, CesT chaperone binding site (Little and Coombes, 2018). Thus, this large polypeptide could be delivered into cells where it might interfere with Akt signalling.

## 3.2.5 An integrative element (IE5) and two prophages (PP2, PP4) are not needed for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling.

All known EPEC effectors are encoded on horizontally acquired DNA regions (Iguchi *et al.*, 2009) i.e., prophages (PP) and integrative elements (IE). Thus, another strategy to identity responsible effector/s that inhibit Akt signalling was to screen available mutants lacking entire PP and/or IE elements to determine if the regions (4->60kB) encode needed factor/s. The entire PP2, PP4 and IE5 regions had previously being deleted - individually and in all combinations (S. Quitard; unpublished). Previous studies ruled out key roles for effectors encoded on these

regions i.e., NIeC, NIeD, NIeG, NIeH1, NIeH2, EspJ, EspG2, EspC (Amin, 2017) so the undertaken time-course infection assays were examining roles for other PP/IE genes. Probing samples showed all examined strains, except the T3SS mutant, delivered Tir into the macrophages linked to loss of pAktSer473 signal i.e., they behaved like EPEC (Figure 22). These data discounted a critical role for all IE5, PP2 and PP4 genes for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling.



#### Figure 21 An intact lifA gene is not required for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling

A) PCR support for generation of an EPEC E2348/69  $\Delta$ *lifA*::Km mutant using *lifA* specific oligonucleotides flanking the region where a ~1900bp internal fragment was replaced by a smaller DNA fragment which encodes kanamycin resistance. The PCR products were resolved on a 0.7% agarose gel and visualised (gel red stain) alongside indicated molecular mass markers. B) J774A.1 cells were left uninfected or infected (MOI 200:1) with pre-activated strains for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAKTSer473 and actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position on unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strain used were EPEC, *LifA*-deficient ( $\Delta$ *LifA*::Km) mutant and, for PCR studies (in A) non-pathogenic K12 *E.coli* (*E. coli* K12).



### Figure 22 IE5, PP2 and PP4 regions are not needed for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling

J774A.1 cell were left uninfected or infected (MOI 200:1) with pre-activated strains for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAKTSer473 and actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position on unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T<sup>"</sup>) Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, T3SS mutant and strains lacking the entire IE5 ( $\Delta$ IE5), PP2 ( $\Delta$ PP2) or PP4 ( $\Delta$ PP4) DNA regions in indicated combinations i.e., single, double and/or triple mutants.

#### 3.2.6 Linking IE2-encoded factors with inhibition of Akt signalling

The approach of screening strains lacking PP and/or IE regions was greatly aided by a publication describing a bank of EPEC E2348/69 mutants lacking individual PP or IE regions (Litvak *et al.*, 2017). The bank of 16 mutants were initially screened at just two infection time point (60 and 120 min) to rapidly determine if any had obvious defects in inhibiting Akt signalling.

Western blot analysis of isolated samples for pAktSet473 (Figure 23A) revealed prominent defects for ΔIE2 (lacks ~61kb; includes genes for NIeE2 and the LifAlike protein) and  $\Delta PP10$  mutants (encodes no known effectors). Less prominent defects were evident for the  $\Delta PP13$ ,  $\Delta IE5$  and  $\Delta IE6$  mutants but the interpretation was questioned by the high pAktSer473 signal background in control uninfected cells (Figure 23B). Of note previous work found no role for IE5-encoded factors (Figure 23). Probing for Tir revealed the  $\Delta PP10$  mutant had an effector delivery defect (Figure 23B) and thus was excluded from further studies. To support the findings, the mutants of most interest were re-examined in a time course study. This work revealed three mutants ( $\Delta PP13$ ,  $\Delta IE5$ ,  $\Delta IE6$ ) behaved like EPEC i.e., showing similar Tir and pAktSer473 signal profiles though a delay in pAktSer473 signal loss was evident (Figure 24). By contrast, the  $\Delta$ IE2 mutant behaved like the T3SS mutant despite its ability to delivery Tir (Figure 24B). PCR analyses supported strain genotype as showed  $\Delta IE2$  lacks *nIeE2*.  $\Delta IE6$  lacks *nIeE1* and  $\Delta$ IE5, like EPEC, has both *nleE1* and *nleE2* genes (Figure 25). This work is suggestive of an important role for one or more IE2-encoded factors with no key need for factors encoded on the other 15 examined PP and IE elements. The IE2 region encodes 2 known T3SS substrates - NIeE2 and LifA-like protein - but previous work ruled out a key role for NIeE2 in the inhibitory process (Amin, 2017). Thus, the findings highlight a key role for the LifA-like protein or other IE2-encoded protein/s.

94



### Figure 23 Screens indicate roles for IE and PP factors in EPEC mechanism to inhibit Akt signalling

J774A.1 macrophages were left uninfected or infected (MOI 200:1) with indicated preactivated strains for 60 (not shown) and 120 minutes before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control) antibodies. Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC E2348/69, T3SS mutants (*cfm14* and *escD*) and E2348/69 strains lacking indicated prophage (PP) or integrative element (IE) regions (Litvak *et al.*, 2017).

Α **EPEC** T3SS mutant Uninf 2 Time (min) 15 S 30 60 30 =<sup>⊤"</sup>Tir pAktSer473 **β-Actin** В Uninf. ∆IE2 ∆IE5 20 Time (min) 15 09 15 30 60 3 30 60 90 pAktSer473 β-Actin С Uninf. ΔIE6 **△PP13** 20 15 Time (min) 30 90 S 00 ¦<sup>™</sup>Tir pAktSer473 β-Actin

### Figure 24 Major contribution of IE2-encoded factor for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling.

J774A.1 macrophage were left uninfected or infected (MOI 200:1) with indicated preactivated strains for 90 (not shown) and 120 minutes before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control) antibodies. Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC and mutants lacking a functional T3SS (T33S) or horizontally-acquired IE2 ( $\Delta$ IE2), IE5 ( $\Delta$ IE5), IE6 ( $\Delta$ IE6) or PP13 ( $\Delta$ PP13) regions (Litvak *et al.*, 2017). The findings are supported by an additional infection experiment (see Supplementary Figure 3).



#### Figure 25 PCR support for use of $\triangle$ IE2 and $\triangle$ IE6 mutants.

PCR analysis of indicated strains with oligonucleotides specific for a gene on IE6 (*espG2/orf3*) and IE2 (*nleE2*). The PCR products were resolved on a 0.7% agarose gel and visualised (gel red stain) alongside indicated molecular mass markers. Strains examined were EPEC, TOEA7 $\Delta$ core mutant (lacks 14 *nle* effector genes including *nleE1* and *nleE2*),  $\Delta$ IE2 (lack IE2 region and thus *nleE2*),  $\Delta$ IE6 (lack IE6 region and thus *nleE1*) and  $\Delta$ IE5 (lack IE5 region and has both *nleE* genes.

#### 3.2.7 Key role for IE2-encoded factor(s)

To determine if the LifA-like effector was required for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling studies took advantage of a publication describing studies with EPEC E2348/69 mutants lacking all known EPEC NIe effectors including LifA-like protein (Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2017). In the published study, the effectors (and pseudo-effector encoding) genes were deleted in a sequential manner (see Table 9); firstly 4 LEE effectors (Map, EspF, EspG, EspH) generating EPEC 9, then those on IE5 (EPEC8), followed by those on IE6 (EPEC7), then IE2 (EPEC6), then PP2 (EPEC5), then PP3 (EPEC4), then PP4 (EPEC3) and finally PP6 (EPEC2). The EPEC2LEE is same as EPEC2 but with the 4 LEE effector genes (EspB, EspZ and Tir) added back.

Initial infection studies focused on the strains linked to the loss of both lifA-like genes. Hence, time course studies were carried out with EPEC8, EPEC7 (lacks LifA), EPEC6 (lacks LifA and LifA-like) and, as a further control, EPEC5 (lacks LifA, LifA-like and additional *nle* effector genes). Probing the samples isolated from infected J774A.1 cell revealed all strains, except the T3SS mutant, delivered Tir as evidenced by detecting the kinase modified (T") form (Figure 26). Importantly, probing for pAktSer473 revealed similar profiles for EPEC, EPEC8 and EPEC7 strains while EPEC6 and EPEC5 behaved like the T3SS mutant (Figure 26). Probing for actin showed that pAktSer473 signal loss was not due to gel loading issues (Figure 26). PCR studies supported strain genotype by revealing the expected presence or absence of lifA and/or lifA-like genes (Figure 27). Strain genotype was further supported by confirming absence of an effector gene specific to each PP or IE region (Figure 28). Previous work indicated that EPEC inhibition of Akt signalling does not require i) an intact lifA gene (Figure 21), ii) the IE6 region (carries lifA gene; Figure 27) or iii) 13 examined NIe effector encoding genes (Amin, 2017). Thus, our findings suggest that the LifA-like protein may be key for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling.

98

Pathogenicity Island (PAI)	Gene	EPEC WT	EPEC 8	EPEC 7	EPEC 6	EPEC 5	EPEC 4	EPEC 3	EPEC 2	EPEC 2 LEE
IE5	espG 2/ orf3	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	espC	+	115 <del>.</del>	-	8.40	-		-	-	-
	nleE1	+	+	-		-		-	-	
	nleB1	+	+	-	16 <u>-</u> 1	-	5 <b>-</b> 2	-	-	
IE6	espL	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	efa-1/ lifA	+	+	-		-		-	-	-
	nleE2	+	+	+		-	-	-	-	-
	nleB*	+	+	+		-		-	-	
150	espL*	+	+	+				-		-
IC2	efa-1/ lifA- like	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
	nleH1	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-
PP2	Cif	+	+	+	+	-	(-)	-		
	espJ	+	+	+	+	-		-	-	
PP3	nleJ	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-
	nleG	+	+	+	+	+	- (+ )	-	-	-
	nleB	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-
PP4	nleC	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	
	nleD	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	
	nleH	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-
	nleA	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-
PP6	nleF	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-
	nleH2	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		3.53
	espO*	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-
LEE	espF	+	-	-		-	-	-	-	+
LCC	espG	+	-		12 <b>.</b>	-		-	-	+

#### Table 9. Genotype of effector deficient EPEC strains

The seven-known effector-encoding pathogenicity islands (PAI) are listed alongside the PAI-specific genes probed for in PCR analyses. The expected presence (+)/ absence (-) of the PAI specific effector gene in each indicated EPEC strain is given. EPEC2LEE is same as EPEC2 except the four deleted LEE genes have been reintroduced (Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2017). Pseudogenes are indicated by \* and includes *cif* on PP2.



#### Figure 26 EPEC6 multi-effector deficient strain cannot inhibit Akt signalling

J774A.1 macrophage were left uninfected or infected with pre-activated strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control) antibodies. Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T<sup>"</sup>) Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant (T3SS), EPEC8 (missing *map*, *espF*, *espH*, *espG*, *espG2*, *espC*); EPEC7 (as EPEC8 but also missing *espL*, *nleB1*, *nleE1*, *lifA*); EPEC6 (as EPEC7 but also missing *nleE2* and *lifA*-like); EPEC5 (as EPEC6 but also missing *nleH1* and *espJ*). The findings are supported by an additional infection experiment (see Supplementary Figure 4).


#### Figure 27 Confirming presence/absence of lifA genes in EPEC mutants

PCR analysis of indicated strains using oligonucleotides specific for internal (small) region of *lifA* and *lifA*-like genes. The PCR products were resolved on 0.7% agarose gels and visualised (gel red stain) alongside indicated molecular mass markers. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant (*escN*), EPEC8 (missing *map*, *espF*, *espH*, *espG*, *espG2*, *espC*); EPEC7 (as EPEC8 but also missing *espL*, *nleB1*, *nleE1*, *lifA*); EPEC6 (as EPEC7 but also missing *nleE2* and *lifA*-like) and EPEC5 (as EPEC6 but also missing *nleH1*, *espJ*).



#### Figure 28 PCR support for genotype of effector-deficient mutant strains

PCR analysis of indicated strains using oligonucleotides specific for an effector gene specific to each PP and IE (see Table 2). The PCR products were resolved on 0.7% agarose gels and visualised (gel red stain) alongside indicated molecular mass markers. Strains used were EPEC, EPEC8 (missing *map*, *espF*, *espH*, *espG*, *espG2*, *espC*); EPEC7 (as EPEC8 but also missing *espL*, *nleB1*, *nleE1*, *lifA*); EPEC6 (as EPEC7 but also missing *nleE2* and *lifA*-like); EPEC5 (as EPEC6 but also missing *nleH1*, *espJ*); EPEC3 (as EPEC5 but lacks *nleJ* [as per EPEC4] and *nleG*, *nleB*, *nleC*, *nleD*), EPEC2 (as EPEC3 but also lacks *nleA*, *nleH2*, *nleF*) and EPEC2LEE (as EPEC2 but has *map*, *espF*, *espG* and *espH* genes reintroduced (Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2017).

#### 3.2.8 Redundant roles for LifA and LifA-like effectors

To explore the importance of the LifA-like protein in the inhibitory process, time course studies were undertaken with available strains (Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2017) lacking only *lifA*, only *lifA*-like or both *lifA* genes. Probing for Tir revealed all but the T3SS mutant strain had a functional T3SS (Figure 29). An apparent delay in Tir delivery, by ~30 minutes, was found for each *lifA* gene-deficient strains (Figure 29) though this was inconsistent (see for example Supplementary Figure 5&6). Probing for pAktSer473 unexpectedly showed both single mutants behaved like the EPEC with a T3SS mutant-like profile for the double mutant (Figure 29). Probing for actin uncoupled the pAktSer473 signal loss from gel loading issues (Figure 29) with strain genotype supported by PCR analysis of bacteria collected at the end of infection period (Figure 30). This work suggested there are key, but redundant roles for both LifA (encoded on IE6) and LifA-like (encoded on IE2) proteins in EPEC's ability to inhibit Akt signalling.



# Figure 29 Key but redundant role for LifA homologues in loss of pAktSer473 signal

J774A.1 cell were left uninfected or infected with pre-activated strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control) antibodies. Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant (T3SS) and strains lacking *lifA* ( $\Delta$ *lifA*), *lifA*-like ( $\Delta$ *lifA*-like) or both ( $\Delta$ *lifA*/*lifA*-like) proteins. These data was supported by an additional experiment (see for example Supplementary Figure 5&6 and Chapter 5 data).



#### Figure 30 PCR support genotype of lifA single and double mutants.

PCR with indicated strains using oligonucleotides specific for a (small) internal fragment of *lifA* (on IE6) and *lifA*-like (on IE2) genes. PCR products were resolved on a 0.7% agarose gel and visualised (gel red stain) alongside indicated molecular mass markers. Strains examined were EPEC, *escN* (lack functional T3SS), EPEC2LEE (lacks all known non-LEE effectors),  $\Delta lifA$  (lacks *lifA*),  $\Delta lifA$ -like (lacks *lifA*-like protein) and  $\Delta lifA/lifA$ -like (lacks *lifA* & *lifA*-like proteins) mutants.

#### Chapter 3 Results I

#### 3.2.9 The *lifA*::Km gene product does not inhibit Akt signalling

LifA and LifA-like protein redundancy could explain why the lifA::Km mutant behaved like EPEC in the pAktSer473 assay (Figure 21). As mentioned, the lifA::Km mutant could theoretically express a large N-terminal domain for T3SS delivery into cells to interfere with Akt signalling. To determine if the *lifA*::Km gene product can inhibit Akt signalling the lifA::Km suicide vector was used to disrupt lifA in the EPEC  $\Delta$ *lifA*-like mutant (Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2017) to generate a  $\Delta$ *lifA*like/lifA:Km double mutant (See Material and Methods). This new strain was used in a standard time-course infection study with J774A.1 macrophage. Examining the anti-Tir signals revealed all strains, except the T3SS mutant, had a functional T3SS with all *lifA*-deficient mutants linked to similar or even greater levels, of Tir delivery compared to EPEC (Figure 31). As expected, the pAktSer473 profiles from macrophages infected with the *lifA*-like single mutants were similar to those from EPEC infected cells (Figure 31). However, cells infected with the △*lifA*/*lifA*-like (Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2017) and, newly-generated, △*lifA*-like/*lifA*::Km double mutants had sustained pAktSer473 signals like the T3SS mutant (Figure 31). Strain genotype was supported by PCR analysis of bacteria collected at the end of infection period (Figure 32). This finding is consistent with redundant roles for both LifA homologues in the inhibitory process and reveals that the interrupted *lifA*-like gene product does inhibits Akt signalling; latter could be due to not being delivery or lacking features needed to interfere with Akt signalling.



# Figure 31 Non-functionality of lifA-Km disrupted gene supports redundancy hypothesis.

J774A.1 cells were left uninfected or infected with pre-activated strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control) antibodies. Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T<sup>"</sup>) Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant (T3SS) and strains lacking *lifA* ( $\Delta$ *lifA*), *lifA*-like protein ( $\Delta$ *lifA*-like) or both proteins i.e.  $\Delta$ *lifA*/*lifA*-like and, newly-generated,  $\Delta$ *lifA*-like/*lifA*::Km mutants. Data is from a single experiment, Use of the  $\Delta$ *lifA*-like/*lifA*::Km mutant was supported by growth in presence of kanamycin.



### Figure 32 PCR support genotype of lifA-like single and *lifA*-like/*lifA*:*km* mutants

PCR with indicated strains using oligonucleotides specific for a (large) internal fragment of *lifA* (on IE6) and *lifA*-like (on IE2) genes. PCR products were resolved on a 0.7% agarose gel and visualised (gel red stain) alongside indicated molecular mass markers. Strains examined were EPEC, *escN* (lack functional T3SS), EPEC2LEE (lacks all known non-LEE effectors),  $\Delta lifA$  (lacks *lifA*),  $\Delta lifA$ -like (lacks *lifA*-like protein) and  $\Delta lifA$ -like/*lifA*:Km (lacks *lifA*-like & *lifA*-like & *lifA*-like) mutants.

#### 3.3 Discussion

This study achieved the aim of identifying the responsible effector(s) needed for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling by clearly showing key, but redundant roles for both LifA homologues. This finding explains why the previous search did not identify the responsible effector (Amin, 2017) as it did not examined roles for the LifA homologues.

Homology to known bacterial effectors is a typical method for identifying putative effectors (Tobe et al., 2006). This approach on other genome sequenced A/E pathogens revealed each strain has 7 LEE effectors with a highly overlapping, but distinct, number of NIe effector-encoding genes: 20 in another prototypic EPEC strain (B171), 16 in rabbit EPEC (RDEC-1), 22 in Citrobacter rodentium and 44 in EHEC 0157:H7 (Zhu et al., 2001; Ogura et al., 2008; Iguchi et al., 2009; Petty et al., 2010). My studies with these strains revealed T3SS dependent inhibition of Akt signalling by all these A/E strains with, possibly, an additional T3SS-independent inhibitory mechanism for EHEC O157:H7. A share T3SS-dependent inhibitory activity suggested the strains might have a common responsible effector. Previous studies argued against roles for all but 4 known EPEC E2348/69 T3SS substrates with the other examined A/E pathogens encoding homologues for EspC and LifA proteins (Deng et al., 2012; Vijayakumar et al., 2014). A need for EspC was not found for the EPEC inhibitory process (Amin, 2017) suggesting that inhibition of Akt signalling is possibly due to LifA homologues. EPEC E2348/69 encodes LifA and LifA-like proteins (Iguchi et al., 2009), EPEC B171 has two LifA homologues (Ogura et al., 2008), RDEC-1 has one (Zhu et al., 2001), Citrobacter rodentium has two (Petty et al., 2010) and EHEC O157:H7 has a partial, 2-orf, LifA-encoding gene and a plasmid-encoded homologue, ToxB (Hayashi et al., 2001; Deng et al., 2012). ToxB has lymphostatin activity as first described for LifA (Stevens et al., 2004). Given our findings with EPEC E2348/69 we suggest that LifA homologues in other A/E pathogens enable them to interfere with Akt signalling in a T3SS-dependent and possibly, for EHEC O157:H7, also a T3SS-independent mechanism. Future studies are needed to verify this prediction.

Little progress was made on the strategy to delete the four unexamined effectors individually and collectively with each other and all other EPEC effectors due to the

#### Chapter 3 Results I

screening of PP/IE mutants identifying the responsible effector. Previous research (Amin, 2017) ruled out key roles for all but four known T3SS substrates - EspC, NleJ, LifA, LifA-like - with preliminary work discounting EspC (O. Amin, unpublished) suggesting it is mediated NIeJ, the LifA homologues or, yet to be identified, effectors. As mentioned NIeJ is not encoded by other A/E pathogens herein shown to inhibit Akt, making LifA homologues the best candidate to inhibit Akt signalling. Studies with an available suicide vector (Klapproth et al., 2000) suggested LifA was not needed for the inhibitory process but this interpretation was questioned by the possibility the gene encodes a large N-terminal (AA) protein region which may be delivered into cells to inhibit Akt signalling. Indeed, later studies revealed LifA does inhibit Akt signalling, unlike the truncated protein encoded by the *lifA::*Km gene, with the *lifA::*Km strain inhibiting Akt signalling due to a redundant role with the LifA-like protein. These discoveries negated the need to generate suicide vectors to knock out the *nleJ*, *lifA*-like, *lifA* and *espC* genes, individually and collectively, in EPEC (or EPEC lacking all other known NIe effector genes) to interrogate their roles for inhibiting Akt signalling.

It was likely that the responsible effectors would be encoded on the horizontally acquired element (PP or IE) with the first screening approach using mutants available within the Kenny laboratory. Thus, studies examined mutant missing IE5, PP2 and PP4 (individually and in all combinations) with a plan to sequentially knock out additional PP/IE regions until find a mutant defective in the inhibitory process. This screen argued against key roles for 8 NIe effectors - encoded on IE5 (EspC/EspG), PP2 (NIeH/EspJ) and PP4 (NIeB/NIeC/NIeD/NIeG/NIeH) consistent with previous studies (Amin, 2017), EspC and any gene product on these 15-54kb IE/PP regions. The need to delete other PP and/or IE regions was not required due to a timely publication reporting the existence of EPEC E2348/69 mutants lacking, individually, most IE and PP regions (Litvak et al., 2017). Screening these 16 mutant strains implicated a key role for factors on IE2 (~61Kb region encoding 2 known T3SS substrates; LifA-like and NIeE2) and possible role for factors on IE6 (~30Kb region encoding 4 known T3SS substrates; LifA, NIeE1, NIeB and EspL). As the need for EPEC to express the NIe and/or EspL effectors had already been discounted (Amin, 2017) the findings suggested possible roles for the LifA homologues or other IE-encoded factors. Of note, another mutant

110

#### **Chapter 3 Results I**

(lacks PP10) could not inhibit Akt signalling but this was linked to very little Tir delivery. Future studies could examine if the ~40Kb PP10 region encodes factors that influence EPEC binding, Tir expression or delivery levels and/or T3SS functionality.

While these approaches implicated LifA proteins in the inhibitory process, demonstrating their role was possible by being able to access EPEC E2348/69 strains lacking, in a sequential manner, all known effectors including the LifA homologues (Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017). It should be noted that these strains did not lack other PP/IE genes just the known T3SS substrates. The screen was restricted to strains linked to the loss of both LifA homologues - noting lifA was deleted before lifA-like (Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017). The examined lifA double mutant lacked 4 LEE effectors and 9 NIe effectors previously reported not to be needed for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling (Amin, 2017). Interestingly, the multieffector strain lacking only one LifA inhibited Akt signalling like EPEC while the mutant lacking LifA and LifA-like homologues behaved like the T3SS mutant. This finding was similar to that of the mutant lacking the entire IE2 region (encodes the T3SS substrates LifA-like and NIeE2) thereby implicating a critical role for LifA-like but not LifA protein; latter still encoded by the △IE2 mutant. Surprisingly, studies to verify this with mutants lacking just one or both LifA homologue genes (Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017) revealed redundant roles that were supported in repeated experiments. However, in some experiments the data was not clear due to some loss of pAkt signal in the final time point samples, but this was also found in some experiments with the T3SS mutant that cannot inhibit Akt signalling (e.g., Figure 18A, 19A). This inconsistent, T3SS-independent loss of pAkt signal may reflect variability between experiments due to different levels of bacterial growth, macrophage health or sample processing issues. The redundancy idea was supported by showing that the *lifA* single mutant lost its ability to inhibit Akt signalling when the *lifA* gene was exchanged for a disrupted (*lifA*::Km) version. The latter result also discounted the idea that the *lifA*::Km gene - potentially expresses a N-terminal ~2000 residue truncated variant - could still produce a polypeptide encoding sufficient information for T3SS delivery into host cells to inhibit Akt signalling . Further experiments could determine if the N-terminal domain is in fact expressed and/or delivered into host cells.

Uncovering redundancy between the LifA and LifA-like proteins was very surprising as the IE/PP mutant screen revealed a key role for factor(s) on IE2 (~61kB). As the  $\Delta$ IE2 mutant retains an intact *lifA* gene (on IE6) this suggested that IE2 factor(s) may be required for LifA to inhibit Akt signalling. Indeed, this prompted studies that are reported in Chapter 4.

A final point worth mentioning relates to the results that support the multi-effector chaperone, CesT, playing a key role in the inhibition of pAkt signalling (Amin, 2017). However, the findings need additional supportive experiments and to examine the unexpected role for Tir, with CesT, as previous studies had ruled out the need for Tir with or without 14 NIe effectors (Amin, 2017). The Tir finding might be specific to the genetic background of the used complex multi-mutant, TOEA7 $\Delta$ *core* strain. Nevertheless, the work implies that the LifA homologues requires CesT functionality suggesting it may aid their stability and/or promote their delivery to the T3SS for transfer into the macrophages. Antibodies specific to LifA are available (Bease, 2020) so CesT's role in these events could be examined and/or studies could test for predicted CesT-LifA interactions. Indeed, the availability of LifA-related reagents (Bease, 2020) promoted studies to examine CesT's role in LifA expression/delivery and how LifA inhibits Akt signalling (see Chapter 5).

In conclusion, the studies provided in this chapter clearly show that EPEC's T3SS dependent ability to inhibit pAkt signalling depends on the LifA homologues which act in a redundant way. This inhibitory activity also appears to require EPEC to express its multi-substrate effector chaperone, CesT. The work also opens other aspects for study including i) the apparent need for IE2-encoded factors to enable LifA to inhibit Akt signalling, ii) to determine if and how EHEC inhibits Akt by T3SS-dependent and -independent mechanisms, iii) a possible (indirect) role of PP10 encoded factors in the inhibitory process and iv) a predicted key role for LifA homologues in other A/E pathogens to inhibit Akt signalling.

Chapter 4 Results II

# Chapter 4. Role of IE2 Pathogenicity island in EPEC's ability to inhibit Akt

#### 4.1 Introduction

Previous work (Result chapter 3; section 3.2.6) surprisingly suggested that the IE2 (~60kb) encodes a factor or factors needed for LifA to inhibit Akt signalling. EPEC E2348/69 has 8 integrative elements (IE1a, IE1b, and IE2-IE6) distributed across the entire genome (Iguchi *et al.*, 2009). Before investigating further, it was necessary to understand about the pathogenicity island (PAI) and about integrative elements (IEs).

Comparison of published bacterial genome sequences concluded that bacterial genomes consist of conserved "core gene pool" and "flexible gene pool" specific to strains (Hacker et al., 2004). The latter is often referred as "genomic islands" (GEIs), which can be acquired by lateral gene transfer and are related to mobile genetic elements, such as integrative elements, bacteriophages and transposons (Burrus and Waldor, 2004; Hacker et al., 2004). Whole GEIs and/or genes encoded on them confer advantages whether it is to survive better in the environment or, in relation to pathogenicity, a host. Thus, the identification and functional analysis of GEIs are essential for understanding strain-specific virulent features (Ogura et al., 2008). When GEIs contains virulence genes, such as cycle inhibiting factor (Cif) in EPEC2348/69, these are often referred as pathogenicity islands (PAIs) (Dobrindt et al., 2004). PAIs were first discovered as chromosomally associated genes in Uropathogenic E. coli (UPEC)(Low et al., 1984). Exchange of mobile genetic elements between strains provide diversity to Escherichia coli species (Roche et al., 2010). Most of the PAIs are located on the chromosomes, however, some also found on bacterial plasmids and bacteriophage (Hacker and Kaper, 1999). A simplified schematic of a bacterial PAI is shown in (Figure 33).

PAIs generally occupied large genomic regions, ≥10-200kb. However, various strains can also carry smaller insertion elements (<10kb) which may also encode virulence factors and called islets (Franco *et al.*, 1999; Novick *et al.*, 2010). PAIs are often associated with transfer RNA (tRNA) genes and this association suggested generation of PAIs by horizontal gene transfer (Hacker and Kaper, 2000). PAIs can also be flanked by small directly repeated (DR) sequences and often carry cryptic genes or genes encoding factors such as transposes, integrases, and insertion sequences (IS) elements (Hacker and Kaper, 2000).

114

#### Chapter 4 Results II

As mentioned, (Chapter 1) EPEC LEE is a 35kb PAI containing genes which enables effacement of the brush border microvilli causing infantile diarrhoea (Elliott *et al.*, 1998). Besides LEE, EPEC virulence factors have been found on mobile genetic elements i.e. integrative elements (IEs), prophages (PPs) and plasmids (Iguchi *et al.*, 2009). EPEC E2348/69 has DNA regions relating to 13 prophages (PP1-PP13) and 8 integrative elements (IE1a, IE1b, and IE2- IE6). Bioinformatics revealed a subset of these PP and IE regions to encode non-LEE-encoded (NIe) effectors (Iguchi *et al.*, 2009).

Of interest to the work in this chapter is IE2 (~61kB) which has genes for 2 known effectors (NIeE2, LifA-like) and pseudogenes for 2 other effectors (NIeB, EspL). EPEC encodes two NIeE and two LifA homologue proteins: NIeE2 has an internal, in frame, deletion of 56 residues compared to NIeE1 (encoded on IE6) with LifA-like a 599 residues, in frame, deletion compared to LifA (also encoded on IE6) (Dean and Kenny, 2009; Iguchi *et al.*, 2009). NIeE2 and LifA-like protein were initially considered not to be expressed or function as an internal loss of 56 residues in NIeE2 and 599 residues in LifA-like protein may hinder their translocation into host cells or functionality (Iguchi *et al.*, 2009; Nadler *et al.*, 2010). However more recent worked showed both proteins can be expressed and/or can subvert host cellular biology (Mühlen *et al.*, 2011; Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2017). Importantly IE2 has many genes for putative, transposes, or proteins of unknown function (Iguchi *et al.*, 2009)(Figure 34).

The aim of the work in this chapter was to firstly confirm that the IE2 region carries factors needed for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling before undertaking studies to identify the responsible factor(s) and/or their role in the inhibitory process.

#### **Chapter 4 Results II**



#### Figure 33 Schematic of a Pathogenicity Island (PAI)

The thin bold line represents regions of the core genome. The box shows the acquired genes with arrows the direct repeats at the end of the PAI. Abbreviations used are DR; direct repeats, *int;* integrase, *vir*, virulence associated genes, mob; mobility genes (includes integrases, transposes, and other proteins),  $\Delta mob$ ; pseudo-mobility gene. Image taken from a publication by Hacker and colleagues (Hacker and Kaper, 2000).



#### Figure 34 Genetic map of IE2 Pathogenicity Island

**A-** NIe effectors efa1/*LifA-like*, NIeE2 and pseudogene espL\* and nIeB\* (labelled in red) encoded in integrative element (IE2). **B-** Schematic representation (this study) of the IE2 gene map with accession no representing predicted proteins (green colour) pseudogenes (white), transposes (Blue) and putative integrases (yellow).

#### 4.2 Results

#### 4.2.1 IE2 encodes factors needed for LifA to inhibit Akt signalling

Previous work (Chapter 3, section 3.3.6) revealed that the  $\Delta$ IE2 deletion mutant had little, if any ability to inhibit Akt. This finding was puzzling as the strain encodes LifA with the earlier work uncovering redundant roles for both LifA proteins. While the EPEC E2348/69 genome has been reported to be stable (Nisa *et al.*, 2013) studies have revealed the presence of unplanned genetic alterations (Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2017)(Kenny lab, unpublished); latter refers to an undocumented 50kb deletion in the EPEC E2348/69 strain used to generate the NIe effectordeficient strains, TOEA1- TOEA7 (Yen *et al.*, 2010). Hence it was decided to regenerate the  $\Delta$ IE2 mutant to determine whether the loss of Akt inhibitory activity was due to absence of the IE2 region or unknown alterations.

The strategy was to PCR amplify clone the region (~1kb) immediately upstream and downstream of the deleted IE2 region - from the provided  $\Delta$ IE2 mutant - into a suicide vector to delete the IE2 region from the parental EPEC E2348/69 strain used in the Kenny Lab. Of note, the original  $\Delta IE2$  mutant had been generated by replacing the IE2 region with a gene encoding kanamycin resistance (Litvak et al., 2017). Hence, briefly, the  $\Delta IE2::Km$  region was cloned using oligonucleotides designed to bind upstream and downstream of the IE2 region allowing PCR amplification of a ~2.5Kb fragment (includes kanamycin gene plus IE2 flanking regions; Figure 35A) (Chapter 2, Table 7). The oligonucleotides also had extensions complementary to the target suicide vector enabling insertion, using the Gibson recombination-based ligation kit (see Materials and Methods; section 2.4.2). Generation of this plasmid (pDS- $\Delta$ IE2) was aided by digesting a pDS132 variant (pDS- $\Delta$ PP2) with SacI and XbaI restriction enzymes (Figure 35B) which removed a previously cloned  $\triangle PP2$ -related DNA fragment and provided the vector with linear ends that aid the recombination ligation event. Successful ligation was evidenced by detecting an additional slower migrating DNA (Figure 35C). The ligation product was introduced, by electroporation (see Materials and Methods), into *E. coli* SY327 (λpir) with PCR screening supported the generation of the pDS- $\Delta$ IE2 plasmid (Figure 35D). The pDS- $\Delta$ IE2 plasmid was isolated and transferred

#### Chapter 4 Results II

into SM10 ( $\lambda$ pir) with PCR screening (Figure 35E) supporting the generation of the new  $\Delta$ IE2::Km mutant, named  $\Delta$ IE2a.



Figure 35 Construction of **AIE2** mutant

A) PCR amplification of a single band of expected size for  $\Delta$ IE2::Km region (~2200bp), B) pDS132 carrying an insert ( $\Delta$ PP2) was digested with SacI/Xbal restriction enzymes to excise the  $\Delta$ PP2-related region and the ~4Kb vector fragment was isolated for, in C), ligation - using Gibson Assembly protocol - with the PCR generated  $\Delta$ IE2::Km region-related fragment. D) PCR screening with oligonucleotides flanking the IE2 region supports cloning of the  $\Delta$ IE2::Km region into the suicide vector. E) PCR analysis of 3 potential IE2 deficient strains reveal all 3 EPEC (have *tir* gene) and have the  $\Delta$ IE2-Km region (IE2 oligo pair) with 2 lacking the IE2 *lifA*-like gene.

#### Chapter 4 Results II

Time course infections were carried out with EPEC, the T3SS-deficient,  $\Delta$ IE2 and  $\Delta$ IE2a mutant strains to determine if the new  $\Delta$ IE2 mutant inhibited Akt signalling. Hence, J74A.1 macrophage were left uninfected or infected with the pre-activated strains (MOI 200:1) prior to isolating total protein extract over the 120 min infection period. Probing for Tir revealed all but the T3SS mutant had a functional T3SS (Figure 36). As expected, infection with EPEC led to a transient pAktSer473 signal with sustained signal for cells infected with, as before (Chapter 3, Figure 17), the T3SS and  $\Delta$ IE2 (Figure 36) mutants. Importantly, the new  $\Delta$ IE2a strain also led to a sustained pAktSer473 signal (Figure 36B). Similar gel loadings were illustrated by probing for host actin (Figure 36). This finding supports the idea that the IE2 (~61Kb) region encodes factors needed for the expression, delivery and/or Akt inhibitory function of the IE6-encoded LifA effector.



#### Figure 36 The ∆IE2 and IE2a mutants do not inhibit pAktSer473 signalling

J774A.1 monolayer were left uninfected or were infected (MOI 200:1) with pre-activated strains for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T<sup>o</sup>) Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, T3SS (*cfm-14*),  $\Delta$ IE2 and  $\Delta$ IE2a mutants. Data is representative of two independent experiments (see Supplementary Figure 7).

# 4.2.2 Search for IE2 factors needed for LifA to inhibit Akt signalling.

Examining the IE2 region for potential open-reading frames (*orfs*) revealed two regions dominated by potential pseudogenes separating areas with many, potential, protein encoding genes (Figure 37). As effector genes are often clustered together (Dean and Kenny, 2009) most interest was at the area just upstream and downstream of the known effector-encoding region. While the downstream region (~12kB) has many potential protein-encoding genes the upstream region (~6kb) relates to pseudogenes. The next, upstream, protein encoding region (~13Kb) is separated from the remaining protein encoding region (~10Kb) by another pseudogene (~9kB) area (Figure 37).

As each protein-encoding region is large (10-13kB) each was cloned seperately, but overlapping, fragments (Frag A-D; Figure 37). As genes from multiple regions may be involved, the fragments from each region would be cloned into different vectors for introduction of one or both into the  $\Delta$ IE2a mutant. The latter also provided the possibility of introducing 2 fragments from different regions. Oligonucleotides were designed to clone the indicated (Figure 37) overlapping regions - fragment-A (~5.8Kb), fragment-B (~5.5Kb), fragment-C (~7.6Kb), fragment-D (~7.6Kb), fragment-E (~6Kb) and fragment-F (~6Kb). Fragment A, C and D were to be cloned into pACYC184 with the other fragments cloned into pBR322 (Cb resistance).

The cloning strategy is illustrated for fragment B (Figure 38) which was obtained from EPEC6 where IE2 lacks the *lifA*-like/*nleE2/nleB/espL* gene/pseudogenes (Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2017). Thus, oligonucleotide specific to a region ~5Kb downstream of the *lifA*-like stop codon and ~0.5 Kb upstream the pseudo-*espL* gene start codon was used to PCR amplify the ~5.5Kb region, this ~5.5Kb fragment B (frag-B) region was introduced into pACYC184, using the Gibson recombination kit, through a homologous region provided by extensions on the oligonucleotides (Chapter 2, Table 7; Section 2.2.6). Cloning the ~5.5Kb frag-B region into pACYC184 was supported by PCR studies (Figure 38D).

Attempts to clone all 6 regions (fragment A-F) produced 6 ligation products (not shown) that were introduced into commercial, chemically competent, K12 *E. coli* 

but plasmid carrying colonies were only obtained for three. PCR colony screening confirmed the presence of fragment B (Figure 38), E and F (not shown). The plasmids were isolated and introduced, by electroporation, into the  $\Delta$ IE2a mutant but only the fragment B carrying plasmid (pFrag-B) was successfully introduced (Figure 38D; data not shown).

Studies examined whether the sought-after factor was encoded on fragment B. Hence, macrophages were infected with the  $\Delta$ IE2a strain and the  $\Delta$ IE2a strain carrying pFrag-B, alongside control strains. As usual, EPEC and T3SS mutant infections induced transient and sustained pAktSer473 signals respectively (Figure 39A). As before, the  $\Delta$ IE2a mutant has linked to a sustained pAktSer473 signal though some decrease was evident at final two time points that were not due to loading differences (Figure 39B). Importantly, the  $\Delta$ IE2a/pFrag-B strain produced an EPEC-like pAktSer473 profile (Figure 39B). Probing for Tir confirmed all strains, except the T3SS mutant, had a functional T3SS (Figure 39A & B). This finding was supported by an additional experiment (see Supplementary Figure 8) with strain genotype supported by PCR analyses (Figure 39C-D). Collectively, these findings suggest that factor(s) encoded on the Frag-B region provide the  $\Delta$ IE2a mutant an ability to inhibit Akt signalling.

#### **Chapter 4 Results II**



#### Figure 37 Schematic of predicted protein-encoding open reading frames

Schematic showing predicted protein-encoding genes, pseudogenes and Nle gene cluster region. The regions for cloning are indicated with each region to be cloned as two overlapping fragments: A-F with sizes given (in bracket).



#### Figure 38 Generating pACYC-Frag-B

Agarose gel data illustrating steps in generating pACYC-Frag-B (A-D). A) Schematic of pACYC184 plasmid carrying EPEC Frag-B region, B) pACYC184 digestion with BamHI and Sall restriction enzymes to isolate ~4Kb vector fragment, which was used, in C), with PCR fragment in the Gibson Assembly protocol to produce pACYC-Frag-B that was verified, in D), by PCR with fragB specific oligonucleotides. The PCR used DNA from EPEC,  $\Delta$ IE2a mutant and  $\Delta$ IE2a mutant colonies putatively carrying the pACYC-Frag-B plasmid.



### Figure 39 Fragment B encodes factor/s enabling $\triangle$ IE2a to inhibit Akt signalling

A & B) J774A.1 cell were left uninfected or infected (MOI 200:1) with pre-activated strains for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position on unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. The findings are supported by an additional experiment (see Supplementary Figure 8). C & D) PCR analysis of strains (collected post experiment) with oligonucleotides specific for *lifA*, *lifA*-like and a Frag-B gene. The PCR products were resolved on a 0.7% agarose gel and visualised (gel red stain) alongside indicated molecular mass markers. Strains used were EPEC, the T3SS mutant,  $\Delta$ IE2a (has *lifA* but not *lifA*-like gene) without or, when indicated, the pACYC-Frag-B plasmid.

# 4.2.3 Search for Fragment B *orf*/s restoring the Akt inhibitory activity of the IE2 mutant

To identify the location of the putative responsible factor/s on frag-B, it was decided to make vectors with smaller (3' end truncated) frag-B regions. Bioinformatics analyses of the fragment B revealed many potential open reading frames (>75 amino acids) on both strands (Figure 40). Oligonucleotides were designed (See materials & methods; Table 7) with a shared forward primer at 5' of Frag-B and 4 specific reverse primers to PCR amplify progressively smaller regions (see Figure 40A). Examining the obtained PCR products revealed single bands of expected sizes, ~5.5, ~4.5, ~3.6 and ~1.7 kb (Figure 40 & 41). The oligonucleotides (See Chapter 2; Table 7) carried extensions providing restriction enzyme sites (BamHI or Sall) allowing cloning into the same sites of pACYC184 (Figure 40 & 41). The resulting plasmids were named pFrag-1, pFrag-2, pFrag-3, and pFrag-4 (see Figure 40 & 41) which were isolated and introducing into the  $\Delta$ IE2a mutant.

To assess the impact of the different fragment B regions on the  $\Delta$ IE2a mutant's ability to inhibit Akt signalling, the standard time course infection was carried out. The initial study only examined strains carrying two of these plasmids, pFrag-4 (smallest fragment) and pFrag-2. Probing for Tir revealed that introducing the plasmids into the  $\Delta$ IE2a mutant did not impact on Tir delivery or modification processes but restored the strain's ability to inhibit Akt (Supplementary Figure 8). This positive result led to an additional time course infection with the  $\Delta$ IE2a mutant strain carrying, individually, each plasmid. Again, probing for Tir showed that all but the T3SS mutant had a functional T3SS with plasmid introducing having no obvious impact on Tir expression or delivery levels (Figure 42A-C). Consistent with the previous findings, all plasmid-carrying strains inhibited Akt signalling to a similar, EPEC-like, level (Figure 42A-C). Together this work suggests that factor or factors encoded the smallest fragment - Frag 2(1.7Kb) - are needed for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling presumably via the IE6-encodied LifA as the mutants lack the IE2-encoded LifA-like protein.

Bioinformatics analysis of the Frag-1 region revealed a single large 537 amino acid Orf with a protein blast search (<u>https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi</u>) revealing it encodes an N-terminally truncated version of an IE2-encoded 611 residue,

#### Chapter 4 Results II

predicted (<u>http://www.psort.org/psortb/</u>), cytoplasmic protein. Including the upstream (vector sequence) in the bioinformatics analysis revealed a fortuitous 5' in-frame fusion with a vector *orf* with a fortuitous 5' in-frame fusion to the vector Tet gene providing a start codon to potentially produce a 592-residue fusion protein (not shown). However, as mentioned, there are also multiple small Orfs (>75 residues) predicted on this 1.7kB fragment (Figure 37A) and the responsible factor might not be a protein but a regulatory RNA (Waters and Storz, 2009). Time constraints did not allow the planned cloning of i) the entire 611 residue gene, ii) a C-terminal HA-tagged variant to allow Western blot detection of a gene produce , its location within EPEC or host cells and, if appropriate, determine if T3SS-dependent delivery into host cells and iii) the C-terminal HA-tagged variant carrying an internal stop codon to specifically examine the role for the 611-residue protein; noting stop codon would have minimal impact on other putative orfs or possible regulatory RNAs.



#### Figure 40 Sub cloning Frag-B regions into pACYC-184

Schematic of frag-B and sub-regions (Frag. 1-3) to cloned into pACYC184. D-F Agarose gel data illustrating steps in generating the plasmids D, pACYC184 digested BamHI/Sall to isolate ~4Kb vector fragment for ligation with, E, PCR amplified Frag-1, Frag-2 & Frag-3 and, in F, evidence for successful ligation via Gibson Assembly kit. Note Frag-4 data in Figure 41.



Figure 41 Sub cloning Frag-4 into pACYC-184

A-Schematic of pACYC184 plasmid carrying Frag-4 region. Agarose gel data illustrating steps in generating plasmids, B, pACYC184 digested BamHI/Sall to isolate ~4Kb vector fragment for ligation with, in C, PCR amplified Frag-4 and, in D, evidence (more evident in original file) successful ligation via Gibson Assembly kit.



### Figure 42 Restoring the $\triangle$ IE2 mutant's ability to inhibit Akt signalling is linked to 1.7Kb area of the 5.5kB Fragment B region

J774A.1 macrophage were left uninfected or infected with pre-activated strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control) antibodies. Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant (T3SS), and  $\Delta$ IE2a with pACYC184 plasmids (pFrag-1 to -4) carrying Frag-B sub fragments. The findings are supported by data from an additional experiment (See Supplementary Figure 9).

# 4.2.4 Generating $\triangle$ *Frag-B*, $\triangle$ *Frag-B*/ $\triangle$ *LifA-like and* $\triangle$ *Frag-B*/*NleS* deletion mutants in EPEC-WT

An alternative strategy was used to i) support the suggested key role of Frag-B encoded factors for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling and ii) test whether it related to LifA and/or LifA-like protein activities. Hence, suicide vectors were generated to delete 1) the fragment B region downstream of the *lifA-like* gene ( $\Delta$ Frag-B), 2)  $\Delta$ Frag-B plus the *lifA-like* gene ( $\Delta$ Frag-B/L) and 3)  $\Delta$ Frag-B/L plus the *nle/espL* gene/pseudogene ( $\Delta$ Frag-B/L/N) cluster (Figure 43). Thus, oligonucleotides (Chapter 2, Table 7) were designed to PCR amplify 0.5-1Kb regions upstream and downstream of the target region for cloning into the pSuicide vector (digested Sacl/Xba1). The latter involved a three-way ligation (up and downstream PCR plus vector fragments) and the Gibson recombination assembly kit (Figure 44-46) via homology provided by extensions in the oligonucleotides (Table 7; Materials & Methods). PCR data supported the generation all three required suicide vectors (Figure 44-46) (Table 4; Materials & Methods) which were introduced into SM10λpir to delete the target region from EPEC (Materials and Methods; section 2.2.8). PCR screening supported the generation of  $\Delta$ Frag-B (Figure 44C),  $\Delta$ Frag-B/L (Figure 45C) and  $\Delta$ Frag-B/L/N (Figure 46C) mutant strains.

A standard time course infection studies was carried out with the newly generated mutants plus control strains. Importantly, probing for Tir showed the new and control  $\Delta$ IE2a mutant strains had a functional T3SS and delivered as much, if not more, Tir than EPEC (Figure 47A), The T3SS mutant, as expected, expressed Tir but could not deliver it into the macrophages i.e., no T" modified form (Figure 47A-B).



#### Figure 43 Schematic representation of IE2 region deletions.

Blue arrows illustrate indicated delete ( $\Delta$ ) regions.



#### Figure 44 Generating ∆Frag-B mutant

A) PCR amplification of expected ~1kB fragments upstream and downstream of the target FragB region (see Figure 41). B) Undigested and Sacl/Xbal digested pDS132 digestion before isolation of ~4Kb vector fragment for ligation with PCR fragments. C) PCR screening supports generation of EPEC  $\Delta$ Frag-B mutant (clones 1 & 2). The PCR used DNA from EPEC and SM10 carrying the  $\Delta$ Frag-B suicide vector.



#### Figure 45 Generating △Frag-B/L mutant

A) PCR amplification of expected ~0.5-1kB fragments upstream and downstream of the target FragB region (see Figure 41). B) Undigested and SacI/Xbal digested pDS132 digestion before isolation of ~4Kb vector fragment for ligation with PCR fragments. C) PCR screening supports generation of EPEC  $\Delta$ Frag-B/L mutant (clones 1-3). The PCR used DNA from EPEC and SM10 carrying the  $\Delta$ Frag-B/L suicide vector.



#### Figure 46 Generating ∆Frag-B/L/N mutant

A) PCR amplification of expected ~1kB fragments upstream and downstream of the target FragB region (see Figure 41). B) Undigested and Sacl/Xbal digested pDS132 digestion before isolation of ~4Kb vector fragment for ligation with PCR fragments. C) PCR screening supports generation of EPEC  $\Delta$ Frag-B/L/N mutant (clones 1-3). The PCR used DNA from EPEC and SM10 carrying the  $\Delta$ Frag- B/L/N suicide vector.
Infection with the T3SS and  $\triangle$ IE2a mutant strains produced sustained pAktSer473 signals, though some loss of signal was noted at later time points, not due to gel loading differences (Figure 47B). As usual, EPEC infection led to a transient pAktSer473 signal (Figure 47A) with the  $\triangle$ Frag-B mutant producing, as expected, an EPEC-like profile (Figure 47B) as it encodes both LifA homologues. However, the  $\triangle$ Frag-B/L/N and, to a lesser extent, the  $\triangle$ Frag-B/L (Figure 47C) mutant strains behaved like the negative control strains (T3SS and  $\triangle$ IE2a mutants) supporting an important role for factors on fragment B and/or 'N' regions.

The observation of a stronger, sustained pAktSer473 signal in cells infected with the  $\Delta$ Frag-B/L/N, compared to  $\Delta$ Frag-B/L, mutant suggested that there might be roles for factor(s) encoded on the absent 'N' region (Figure 47). Hence, another time course infection study was carried out with  $\Delta$ Frag-B/L/N mutant carrying a plasmid carrying the 'N' related genes i.e., *nleE* and pseudo *nleB/espL*. The generation of this plasmid is described (see Materials and Methods). Western blot analysis of isolated samples supported the previous findings though the  $\Delta$ Frag-B/L mutant was linked to pAktSer473 signal loss at later time points (Figure 48). However, this was noted to also occur in some infections with strains that cannot inhibit Akt signalling - including the T3SS (Figure 45 & 50), *lifA/lifA*-like deficient and ∆IE2a (Figure 28, 29 & 41) mutants - suggesting that is non-specific. While a sustained pAktSer473 signal was evident in cells infected with the △Frag-B/L/N introduction of the 'N' region-carrying plasmid mutant. the (pACYC*nleE2/espL\*/nleB*\*) (refer suppl. Figure 10 for generation) did not provide any obvious additional capacity to inhibit Akt signalling. Collectively, this work supports the idea that a factor (or factors) encoded on the frag-1 region downstream of the *lifA*-like gene is required for LifA (encoded on IE6) to inhibit Akt signalling.



#### Figure 47 IE2 mutant missing Frag-B/L/N cannot interfere with Akt signalling

J774A.1 cell were left uninfected or infected with pre-activated strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control) antibodies. Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, T3SS mutant,  $\Delta$ IE2,  $\Delta$ Frag-B,  $\Delta$ Frag-B/L and  $\Delta$ Frag-B/L/N. The data is supported by findings from another experiment (see Supplementary Figure 11).



### Figure 48 Akt signalling inhibitory defect of EPEC $\triangle$ Frag-B/L/N mutant is not rescued by plasmid re-introducing the 'N' region.

J774A.1 cell were left uninfected or infected with pre-activated strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control) antibodies. Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T<sup>"</sup>) Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, T3SS mutant,  $\Delta$ IE2a.  $\Delta$ Frag-B,  $\Delta$ Frag-B/*lifA*-like ( $\Delta$ Frag-B/L) or  $\Delta$ Frag-B/*lifA*-like/NIe region ( $\Delta$ Frag-B/L/N). The  $\Delta$ Frag-B/L/N carried no plasmid (-) or a plasmid (+) carrying the *nleE2/espL\*/nleB\** gene region (\* indicates pseudogene).

#### 4.3 Discussion

The work described in this chapter not only supported earlier work (see Chapter 3) suggesting that IE2 encodes factors needed for LifA (encoded on IE6) to inhibit Akt signalling but indicates the factor is encoded on a 1.7kb fragment downstream of the *lifA*-like gene.

The studies in this chapter were started due to a conflicting result in relation in how EPEC inhibits Akt signalling. Thus, screening mutants lacking individual IE or PP islands revealed a key role for IE2-encoded factors (unlike for 15 other screened IE/PP regions including IE6; Chapter 3; Section 3.2.6) while later studies clearly revealed key, but redundant roles for the LifA (IE6 encoded) and LifA-like (IE2 encoded) proteins (see Chapter 3). As EPEC strains have been found to have undocumented genome alterations (Kenny lab, unpublished) (Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017) it was important to show that the IE2 phenotype was due to absence of IE2. Hence the mutant by was remade by cloning of the deleted IE2 region – was substituted for gene encoding kanamycin resistance (Litvak et al., 2017) into a suicide vector to delete IE2 from EPEC E2348/69 strain used in the Kenny lab. Importantly, this new Km-resistant strain was PCR-confirmed to lack an IE2 specific gene and failed to inhibit Akt signalling. Of note the new mutant delivered Tir into macrophages like EPEC showing it had a functional T3SS. This finding supported the idea that IE2 encodes factors needed for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling.

Bioinformatics analysis revealed IE2 encodes at least 23 predicted proteins, 10 transposes and 1 integrase (Iguchi *et al.*, 2009). However, functional proteins can be small - for example ~10% of EPEC T3SS are only 70-100 residues (Iguchi *et al.*, 2009) - with bioinformatics analysis revealing many small Orfs (>75AA) on both strands of the IE2 region. It is also possible that the responsible factor was not a protein but a small regulatory RNA (Waters and Storz, 2009). The initial focus was on the three large (~10-13Kb) protein encoding regions as unlike to involve the two 6-9Kb pseudogene/transposon rich regions. Studies set out to clone the regions onto plasmids to examine if their introduction back into the  $\Delta$ IE2 mutant would restore its ability to inhibit Akt signalling. As the target regions were large (10-13kB) it was decided to clone each region in two, overlapping, 4-5 Kb fragments onto

different antibiotic selectable vectors. The latter would enable test individually or in pairs.

Unfortunately, only 3 fragments could be cloned and only one could be successfully be introduced into the  $\Delta$ IE2 mutant but amazingly it restored the mutant's ability to inhibit Akt signalling. It is possible that the failure to get the other clones reflects the fragments encoding factors harmful to the bacteria or perhaps additional attempts may have been more successful. It may be worthwhile to determine whether these fragments encode factors 'harmful' for bacterial growth when cloned onto high copy number vectors as, if so, this may provide a new research area to explore.

Studies on Fragment B not only supported it carrying factor(s) required for the  $\Delta IE2$ mutant to inhibit Akt signalling but located the responsible factor(s) to the 5' most 1.7Kb area of the ~5.5Kb Fragment B region downstream of the lifA-like gene. Consistent with this, the other 3 larger sub cloned fragments – all carry the 1.7Kb - also restored the  $\Delta$ IE2 mutant's ability to inhibit Akt signalling. This emphasises the role for factor(s) in the shared 1.7kb region. The 1.7Kb region has the largest Orf downstream of the LifA-like/Nle encoding region (see Figure 37A) but bioinformatics analyses revealed the Orf was truncated during cloning process. The whole gene (encodes 611 residue Orf; E2348C 1074) would have been cloned intact on Fragment A. This fragment B Orf lacks sequence for the first 72 residues but an available start (methionine) codon may enable expression of a 537residue protein. Surprisingly, bioinformatics analysis revealed an in-frame fusion with the 5' end of the tet gene that could, in theory, allow the production of a 620residue hybrid protein. The IE2 611 residue protein for its predicted cellular location (<u>https://www.psort.org/psortb/results.pl</u>) indicates a cytoplasmic location with the protein lacking an N-terminal sec pathway signal sequence. It should be noted that the *tet* gene product produces an inner membrane protein (Allard and Bertrand, 1992) and thus its N-terminus has a signal sequence to direct it and, presumably, the 620-residue fusion protein to the sec pathway. Interestingly, a previous bioinformatics interrogation of EPEC proteins using a program to identify proteins carrying a T3SS secretion signal (Goldberg et al., 2016) identified known EPEC effectors and predicted many more but only two were encoded on IE2: C 1079 and C 1074 encoding the LifA-like and 611 residue proteins respectively (B.

141

Kenny, unpublished). Given that T3SS secretion, signals are generally N-terminal and thus presumably absent from the truncated 611 C\_1074 protein, this question whether it is a T3SS substrate.

Studies to determine whether the responsible factor on the 1.7Kb region relates to the Orf611 protein, another Orf or cryptic regulatory sequence were started but not completed due to COVID-19 lockdown and time constraints. As mentioned, studies were initiated to clone the complete Orf 611 gene into a vector with and without a C-terminal HA epitope tag to examine if the protein is expressed and if the cellular location i.e., cytoplasmic, membrane, periplasm, secreted or translocated. If these constructs restored the ability of the  $\Delta$ IE2 mutant to inhibit Akt signalling, then it was planned to introduce a stop codon to disrupt 611 Orf production with minimal impact on other predicted *orfs* (and possible regulatory RNAs) to indicate if a key role was due to the 611 Orf or another Frag-2 factor.

The importance of the IE2 Fragment B (~6Kb region) in allowing EPEC LifA and/or LifA-like proteins to inhibit Akt signalling was investigated by deleting just this region in a strain encodes both LifA homologues (i.e., EPEC) or lacking *lifA*-like gene (i.e., strain encodes only LifA). Crucially, while both strains had a functional T3SS the strain encoding only LifA could not inhibit Akt unlike the strain encoding both homologues supporting the idea that the inhibitory function of LifA depends on this IE2 region. The findings also suggest that the inhibitory function of the LifA-like protein does not requires the Fragment B-encoded factor/s. However, it is possible that the LifA-like protein does requires Fragment B to inhibit Akt signalling but in a way that can be replaced by LifA. This possibility could be addressed by deleting Fragment B from the  $\Delta$ LifA single mutant with studies to determine if the remaining LifA-like protein can still Akt signalling.

In conclusion, the work in this chapter verifies the earlier finding suggesting IE2 encodes factor(s) needed for LifA (encoded on IE6) to inhibit Akt signalling. In addition, the work located the responsible IE2 factor(s) to a ~1.7kB subregion of the ~5.5 Kb 'Fragment B' area immediately downstream of the *lifA*-like gene. Additional work is needed to i) confirm these findings, ii) identify the nature of the factor i.e., the large 611 residue Orf, products from one or more of many other predicted small (>77 residue) orfs or a regulatory element such as a small RNA

142

and iii) define the mechanism by which the factor/s enables LifA, and possibly the LifA-like protein, to inhibit Akt signalling.

# Chapter 5. Investigating the mechanism(s) by which LifA homologues inhibit Akt signalling

#### **5.1 Introduction**

Bacterial effectors in EPEC and other T3SS pathogens can exhibit functional redundancy in subverting host cellular activities (Dean and Kenny, 2009). The studies described in Chapter 3 showed functional redundancy of LifA homologues in the inhibition of Akt signalling. As such, the scope of this work was broadened to examine the mechanism for the rapid loss of Akt signal. Prior to investigating the mechanism, it was necessary to review the literature on these bacterial proteins.

LifA is a very large protein (3223 residues) first identified in EPEC E2348/69 as a toxin which specifically inhibits the ability of human lymphocytes to proliferate and produce the cytokines interleukin -2 (IL-2), IL-4 and gamma interferon (Klapproth et al., 2000). Cellular lysates from EPEC, but not non-pathogenic *E. coli*, led to a dose dependent inhibition of cytokine expression suggesting the inhibitory activity was due to EPEC encoded protein(s) (Klapproth et al., 1995). In 1996, screening cosmids carrying EPEC fragments in non-pathogenic E. coli K-12 for this toxin activity identified one providing this phenotype (Klapproth et al., 1996). Sequencing revealed the toxin to be encoded by a very large gene (9669bp), named LifA for Lymphocyte Inhibitory Factor A (LifA), also called Lymphostatin as inhibits lymphocyte proliferation (Klapproth et al., 2000) At the same time, studies with an EHEC O111:H- strain identified a gene involved in its adherence to CHO cells with the gene product named Efa-1 for EHEC factor for adherence-1. Efa1 and LifA are virtually identical (99.9% gene sequence homologue) (Nicholls et al., 2000b) and, hereafter, called lifA for simplicity. LifA appears to be almost exclusive to A/E pathogens but homologues have been found in Chlamydia species (Klapproth et al., 2000; Nicholls et al., 2000b). The lifA gene is chromosomally located, sometimes linked to the LEE region, with described roles for its gene product as a lymphostatin, an adhesin (involved in tissue colonization) and regulatory as influences LEE protein expression (Nicholls et al., 2000b; Badea et al., 2003; Klapproth et al., 2005; Deacon et al., 2010; Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017).

A serotype specific LifA truncation (*efa1'*) has been found in many EHEC O157:H7 strains resulting in two separate *orf's*, Z4332 and Z4333 (Hayashi *et al.*, 2001; Perna *et al.*, 2001). Z4332 encodes a 433 residue protein 99.9% identical to the N-terminal LifA region while Z4333 encodes a region that 100% matches residues 437-711 with

no sequence for the C-terminal domain (Deng *et al.*, 2012) (Figure 49). PCR screening has found full length *lifA* genes in most A/E pathogens with strains which lacking an intact *lifA* gene encoding a homologue, called ToxB, on a plasmid (Badea *et al.*, 2003). The *toxB* plasmid is carried by most EHEC and some EPEC strains. ToxB is encoded on slightly smaller gene than *lifA* (9505 versus 9669bp) with the proteins sharing ~29% identity, ~62% similarity (Cassady-Cain *et al.*, 2017). ToxB is thought to be a T3SS protein and has recently been shown to also have lymphostatin activity in addition to roles in promoting strain adherence and altering LEE protein expression levels (Stevens *et al.*, 2002; Klapproth, 2010a; Cassady-Cain *et al.*, 2017). Studies have reported roles for the *efa1*' and *toxB* genes in EHEC adherence *in vitro*, but not *in vivo* models, and in altering LEE protein expression levels (Stevens *et al.*, 2004).

Genome sequencing EPEC 2348/69 revealed *lifA* on IE6 with a homologue, *lifA*-like, on IE2 (Iguchi *et al.*, 2009; Deng *et al.*, 2012). The LifA-like protein is smaller than LifA (2624 versus 3223 residues) and shares only ~30% identity to LifA. Proteomic studies identified both LifA homologues as T3SS substrates with evidence provided for T3SS-dependent delivery of LifA, but not the LifA-like protein, into mammalian cells (Deng *et al.*, 2012). Notably these studies only examined delivery of N-terminal regions, which carry features (T3SS signal sequence and chaperone binding site) needed for the delivery process (Deng *et al.*, 2012).

Studies on the LifA homologues have reveal sequence similarity (~38%) to the Nterminal domain of large clostridial toxins (LCTs) including toxin A and B from *Clostridium difficle*. Indeed, all but the C-terminally truncated LifA variants have motifs predictive of them having glucosyltransferase-, cysteine protease and/or aminotransferase activities (Klapproth, 2010b; Deng et al., 2012)(Figure 50). The Cputative terminally truncated LifA, if expressed, would only have the glucosyltransferase motif (Figure 50). A shared motif (DXD) is reported to be key for glycohydrolase-glycosyltransferase activity (Busch et al., 1998) crucial for the clostridial cytotoxin to inhibit, via glycosylation, the activity of small Rho GTPases such as Ras, Rac, Rho and Cdc42 (Nicholls et al., 2000b).

The DXD motif (Figure 50) is essential for sugar binding by LCTs (Klapproth *et al.*, 2000). The LCTs are glycosyltransferases that bind mostly uridine diphosphate-glucose (UDP-Glc)(Schirmer and Aktories, 2004). However, toxin A binds uridine

146

diphosphate-N-acetylglucosamine uridine diphosphate-N-acetylglucosamine (UDP-GlcNAc) (Schirmer and Aktories, 2004). Disruption of glycosyltransferase and cysteine protease motifs in *C. rodentium*.



#### Figure 49 Schematic of different LifA homologs

Comparison of LifA homologs showing size (amino acids), percentage identity to EPEC LifA and location of motifs lined to protein glycosyltransferase, cysteine protease and aminotransferase activity. Figure taken from Deng *et al.*, (Deng *et al.*, 2012)



#### Figure 50 Schematic showing location of predicted motifs within *lifA/efa1*

The *lifA/efa-1* gene encodes a 3223 amino acid protein in many EPEC, EHEC and C. *rodentium* strains and indicated is the location of motifs linked to glycosyltransferase (DXD), cysteine protease (CHD) and/or aminotransferase (TMGKALSASA) activities. Figure taken from Klapproth *et al.*, (Klapproth, 2010b).

LifA inhibits bacterial colonization of the intestine and the T3SS-dependent induction of hyperplasia in mice (Klapproth *et al.*, 2005). However, substitution of DXD for triple alanine (AAA) in EHEC LifA did not affect bacterial colonization in calves or epithelial cell models (Deacon *et al.*, 2010). Recently, recombinant LifA (*rlifA*) was shown to bind UDP-GlcNAc, but not UPD-Glc, with a DXD to AAA substituted rLifA losing its ability to bind UDP-GlcNac and to inhibit T cell proliferation (Cassady-Cain *et al.*, 2016). This work suggests that LifA can act as a glycosyltransferase, similar to LCTs, but its *invivo* target is yet to be defined (Cassady-Cain *et al.*, 2016; Bease, 2020).

The CHD motif is found LifA is a cysteine protease associated with pathogenesis of some gram-negative bacteria. This motif is in YopT-like cysteine protease superfamily, and refers to three residues (cysteine, histidine aspartic acid i.e., CHD) critical for protease activity (Shao *et al.*, 2002). YopT is a *Yersinia* effector protein that cleaves host Rho GTPases resulting in the actin cytoskeleton degradation (Shao *et al.*, 2002). Substituting the LifA CHD residues to alanine residues had no impact on bacteria colonisation of calves but was crucial for lymphostatin activity. However, it was later noted that altered LifA protein was truncated and lacked the final 100 amino acids (Deacon *et al.*, 2010). The CHD motif is found in all but the C-terminally truncated LifA homologues and might be involved in autoproteolysis (Shao *et al.*, 2002). Indeed, recent studies support this idea (Bease, 2020). The potential role of the aminotransferase activity has not been assessed.

The objective of the studies undertaken for this chapter was to provide mechanistic insight on how LifA enables EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling in a T3SS dependent manner.

#### 5.2 Results

#### 5.2.1 Plasmid expression of LifA

Having shown that the EPEC T3SS dependent inhibition of Akt signalling depends on both LifA homologues, through redundant activities, studies explored the inhibitory mechanism. Studies focused on LifA as research tools were available for this - but not the LifA-like protein including LifA-expressing plasmids and antibodies (Cassady-Cain *et al.*, 2016). The *lifA* gene (9663bp) had been cloned into the pRham vector where its expression can be repressed or induced by adding repressor (0.5% glucose) and inducer (0.2% L-rhamnose) sugars respectively (Cassady-Cain *et al.*, 2016). The pRham-*lifA* (p*lifA*) plasmid encodes a C-terminally His-tagged LifA variant with the purified LifA-His protein retaining lymphostatin activity (Cassady-Cain *et al.*, 2016). In additional pRham-*lifA* plasmids were available that express LifA-His variants carrying the substitutions that disrupt the DXD (p*lifA*- $\Delta$ DXD) and cysteine protease (p*lifA*- $\Delta$ CHD) motifs (Cassady-Cain *et al.*, 2016).

As the activation-associated phosphorylation of Akt was recently reported to be controlled by glycosylation (Owaga *et al.*, 2015), the initial studies focused on *plifA* and the  $\Delta$ DXD variant (*plifA*- $\Delta$ DXD) that lacks *in vitro* glucosyltransferase activity (Cassady-Cain *et al.*, 2016). Thus, both plasmids were introduced, by electroporation, into the  $\Delta$ *lifA*/*lifA*-like double mutant (Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2017) with plasmid introduction supported by PCR analysis (Figure 51). Sequencing a small (~450bp) PCR-amplified fragment encompassing the region encoding the DXD motif confirmed introduction of the native and  $\Delta$ DXD *lifA* variants respectively (not shown). The availability of anti-LifA antibodies allowed studies to investigate if the plasmids restored expression of a full-length LifA protein (~365 kDa). Thus, the strains were grown in the standard EPEC infection media (DMEM; contains 0.45% glucose) and, as a control, Lysogenic Broth (LB; lacks glucose) with media containing or not the repressor (0.5% glucose) and/or inducer (0.2% L-rhamnose) sugars (Giacalone *et al.*, 2006).



#### Figure 51 Introduction of plifA plasmid into the lifA-double mutant

Purified plifA plasmid or total bacterial DNA - from indicated strains (released by boiling in water) - were used as templates in a PCR reaction with specific primers for amplifying a 488bp internal *lifA* fragment encompassing the sequence encoding the DXD (residues 557-559) motif. The reaction products were separated on a 1% agarose gel, alongside 2 log DNA markers, and visualised using gel green strain (see Materials and Methods). Strains used were EPEC, *lifA*-deficient double mutant (*lifA*/*lifA*-like) and 2 clones that potentially carried the plasmid encoding LifA (plifA) or the LifA\_ $\Delta$ DXD (p $\Delta$ DXD) variants. The position of 500bp DNA marker band is indicated.



#### Figure 52 Anti-LifA antibodies detect LifA and a non-specific band

Indicated bacterial strains were grown in A) LB or B) DMEM in the absence (-) or presence (+) of added glucose (0.5%) or L-rhamnose (0.2%). Glucose represses plasmid expression of LifA while L-rhamnose induces expression (Giacalone *et al.*, 2006). Following a 2h growth period, total bacterial extracts were isolated and resolved on 6% SDS-PA gels before transferring to nitrocellulose and probing with anti-LifA antibodies. The position of the 250kDa molecular size marker and LifA-specific bands are indicated. Strains used were EPEC, the LifA deficient double mutant ( $\Delta lifA/lifA$ -like) carrying no plasmid (-) or plasmids encoding the His-tagged LifA (*plifA*) or LifA- $\Delta$ DXD (p $\Delta$ DXD) variant. The  $\Delta$ DXD variant lacks the DXD motif (residues changed to alanine residues) needed for its *in vitro* detected O-glycosylation activity (Cassady-Cain *et al.*, 2016).

Following a 2-hour incubation - time of a standard macrophage infection - total cellular extracts were isolated for Western blot analyses using the anti-LifA antibodies. The blots for LB grown cells revealed a non-specific band (<250kDa) - in extract from the LifA-deficient double mutant - and four LifA-specific bands (doublets of ~250kDa and >250KDa; Figure 52A). Surprisingly, these bands were detected independent of added repressor or inducer sugars (Figure 52A). Probing the samples from DMEM grown cells revealed a similarly sized non-specific band but only two LifA specific bands (doublet >250KDa). A LifA signal in EPEC was difficult to detect suggesting its normal expression level is very low in DMEM relative to LB (Figure 52B versus 52A). Again, plasmid encoded LifA was detected independent of one or both sugars though a higher LifA signal was seen for cells grown in DMEM containing the inducer sugar (Figure 52B). Attempts to detect the plasmid expressed LifA-His fusion protein using commercial anti-His antibodies were unsuccessful (not shown) indicating expression is below the detection level of this antibody.

This work confirms the successful introduction of the p*lifA* plasmid into the LifA deficient double mutant linked to the appearance of a single non-specific protein band and multiple (>250 kDa) LifA-specific bands. LifA could be detected in LB grown EPEC, but not the double mutant, with bands sizes like those of the plasmid expressed form. The latter suggests that the plasmid expresses a full length LifA\_His fusion proteins but this could not be verified by the failure to detect the C-terminal His tag. Notably, bacterial growth in LB (versus DMEM) was linked to a higher LifA levels within EPEC with plasmid expression linked as two additional LifA-specific bands. Finally, plasmid expression of LifA was unexpectedly not inhibited by the repressor sugar but adding the inducer sugar to DMEM appeared to increase expression levels.

#### 5.2.2 LifA expression does not require the CesT chaperone

Earlier work (Chapter 3; section 3.3.2) supported a previously suggested (Amin, 2017) key role for the multi-substrate chaperone, CesT, in EPEC's ability to inhibit Akt signalling. T3SS chaperones promote the delivery of substrate effectors by either increasing their stability within bacteria, preventing inhibitory interactions with other bacterial proteins and/or promoting efficient delivery to the T3SS export machinery (Thomas *et al.*, 2005). LifA has been shown to be an adhesin, a lymphostatin,

regulates T3SS functionality and is a T3SS secreted protein that appears to be delivered into infected host cells (Nicholls *et al.*, 2000b; Badea *et al.*, 2003; Klapproth *et al.*, 2005; Deacon *et al.*, 2010; Deng *et al.*, 2012; Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2017). However, it should be noted that the LifA delivery studies relate to an N-terminal region and not the full-length (365kDa) protein (Deng *et al.*, 2012).

The availability of antibodies to detect LifA provided the chance to examine the relationship between CesT and the LifA expression, secretion and/or delivery events. Initial studies examined LifA expression and secretion levels by infecting DMEM with EPEC and mutants lacking i) a functional T3SS, ii) both LifA homologues or iii) the CesT chaperone (see Materials and Methods). Following a 6 hour infection, total cellular and secreted proteins were isolated and resolved on 15% or 8% SDS-PA gels to visualised proteins by Coomassie blue staining and detect LifA by Western blot analysis (see Materials and Methods; Section 2.3.3) This work revealed typical cellular protein profiles but a few differences were evident in the  $\Delta lifA/lifA$ -like double and *\[]* core (lacks 7 LEE-encoded proteins - 2 chaperones [CesT; CesF], 3 effectors [EspH, Map, Tir] and Intimin surface protein) mutant profiles (Figure 53A). Examining the secreted protein profiles revealed a typical profile with EPEC (Cepeda-Molero et al., 2017) (Figure 53B) i.e., secretion of the 3 translocator proteins (EspA, EspB, EspD) and EspC autotransporter. As expected, the T3SS mutant did not secrete the translocators but, surprisingly, EspC levels were unusually low for this mutant (Figure 53B)(Kenny et al., 1997a). The LifA-deficient double and CesT-deficient mutant strains secreted translocator and EspC proteins (Figure 53B) but there was no observable LifA (~365 kDa) band (see Supplementary Figure 12 & 13).

Western blot analysis of the bacterial extracts unexpectedly revealed more nonspecific LifA bands than the previous shorter, 2hr growth period (Figure 53C versus Figure 52) with several strain-specific differences (Figure 53C). Importantly, the analysis revealed the LifA specific doublet (>250kDa) - as these bands were absent in the *lifA* double mutant extracts - but apparent in those from EPEC, the T3SS and CesT-deficient mutant strains (Figure 53C). The CesT-negative nature of the  $\triangle cesT$ and  $\triangle core$  mutant strains was experimentally supported in subsequent studies (see below). The findings are supported in additional studies (see Supplementary Figure 12 & 13) and indicates that LifA expression and/or stability in EPEC does not require CesT function.

154



#### Figure 53 CesT-independent LifA expression

Indicated strains were grown in DMEM for 6 hours before isolating total cellular and secreted (supernatant) proteins (see Materials and Methods). The samples were resolved on **(A&B)** 15% SDS-PA gels and proteins visualised by Commassie blue staining or on **(C&D)** 8% SDS-PA gels for western blot detection of LifA. Positions of LifA, the secreted translocators (EspA, EspB, EspD) and EspC autotransporter proteins are indicated alongside some of molecular mass marker protein. Strains used were EPEC and mutants lacking a functional T3SS (T3SS), both LifA homologues ( $\Delta lifA/lifA$ -like) and CesT ( $\Delta cesT$  and  $\Delta core$ ). The  $\Delta core$  mutant lacks the LEE region encoding 2 chaperones (CesT, CesF), 3 effectors (EspH, Map, Tir) and Intimin surface protein. These findings are supported by additional experiments (see Supplementary Figure 12 & 13).

Probing the secreted protein samples only revealed non-specific bands except in EPEC - where many bands were detected but not reproducibly (Supplementary Figure 12 & 13) - suggesting it relates to accidental loading of a cellular extract. Numerous attempts to detect LifA in the extracellular media were inconclusive linked to low signals i.e., at or below detection levels, poor gel resolution, protein transfer issues and/or the harsh concentration - chemical (TCA) - the secreted protein (See Materials & Methods). While LifA cellular levels were unaltered following loss of a functional T3SS or CesT protein, the obtained data hinted at LifA being secreted in a CesT dependent manner. LifA also functions as a surface adhesin (Nicholls *et al.*, 2000a) and thus CesT may direct a subpopulation of LifA to the T3SS.

#### 5.2.3 LifA detection in the macrophage infection model

Studies next investigated whether the LifA antibodies would specifically detect LifA following a standard infection protocol in the J774A.1/pAkt assay model. Hence, macrophages were infected with LifA-positive and -deficient EPEC strains (pre-activated in the presence or absence of glucose for 2 hours) for the indicated times in media with or without added repressor/inducer sugars. Western blot analysis of the isolated total cellular extracts with the anti-LifA antibodies revealed inducer-related increases in the plasmid-encoded LifA protein (doublet >250kDa) as no corresponding signal were in the extract from uninfected cells or cells infected with the LifA-deficient double mutant. LifA detection in samples from cells infected with EPEC or the T3SS mutant was inconsistent but a prominent non-specific band was seen in all extracts, including non-infected cells (Figure 54). This work reveals that the anti-LifA antibodies can readily detect plasmid encoded LifA following the inducer sugar) but detection of LifA in EPEC is more difficult, at least in this experiment, to detect.



#### Figure 54 LifA detection in macrophage infection model

Indicated strains were preactivated in DMEM prior to a 2h infection of J774A.1 macrophage (MOI 200:1) in the presence (+) or absence (-) of added repressor (0.5% glucose) or inducer (0.2% L-rhamnose) sugars for indicated periods. The non-adherent bacteria were washed away before isolating remaining proteins in sample buffer for resolving on 6% SDS-PA gels and transferring to nitrocellulose for Western blot analysis probing for LifA Shown is the position of the LifA-specific bands and 250kDa molecular size marker protein. Strains used were EPEC and mutants lacking a functional T3SS (T3SS) or LifA homologues ( $\Delta lifA/lifA$ -like). The  $\Delta lifA/lifA$ -like carried no plasmid (-) or plasmids encoding LifA (plifA) or the LifA- $\Delta$ DXD (p $\Delta DXD$ ) variant with Uninfec. Indicating extracts from uninfected (Uninf.) macrophages.

#### 5.2.4 T3SS-dependent LifA localisation to the host membrane

The next studies explored whether LifA is delivered into macrophage by examining if it could be isolated with host 'cytoplasmic' (saponin detergent-released) or host 'membrane' (Triton X100-detergent soluble) proteins (see Materials & Methods; section 2.3.2). These studies used a standard (2h) and extended (4h) infection period; latter to allow more LifA delivery which may improve detection by Western blot analysis. Probing the isolated cytoplasmic fractions for Tir confirmed that all strains, expect the T3SS mutant, had a functional T3SS (Figure 55A). Examining the same samples for LifA revealed a single, non-specific, band evident in uninfected cell samples (Figure 55A). Probing the corresponding membrane protein fractions revealed a non-specific (<250kDa) and a LifA-specific band (>250kDa) - latter as in sample from cells infected with EPEC but not uninfected or *\lifA/lifA*-like double mutant infected cells (Figure 55B). Importantly, the LifA signal was not detected in samples taken from cells infected with the T3SS mutant (Figure 55B). Probing for Tir confirmed that all strains, except the T3SS mutant, had a functional T3SS (Figure 55B). Notably, plasmid-expressing LifA in the lifA-double mutant was linked to a greater anti-LifA and anti-Tir signals (Figure 55B). This work reveals the T3SS-dependent association of LifA with host membrane proteins and linked plasmid expression of LifA with increased Tir delivery levels.

#### 5.2.5 CesT-dependent localisation to the host membrane

Investigations next examined whether LifA localisation with host membrane proteins was dependent on CesT given its apparent key role for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling (Chapter 3)(Amin, 2017). Hence, J774 macrophages were left uninfected or infected for 2 hours with the CesT-deficient and control strains before isolating host cytoplasmic and membrane fractions as before. However, only the membrane-related samples were resolved (6% SDS-PA gels) and processing for Western blot analysis. Probing for Tir supported strain genotype, as the T3SS mutant was unable to deliver Tir while the  $\Delta cesT$  mutant delivered only low levels of Tir into the host membrane. Probing for LifA support CesT-dependent localisation of LifA with host membrane though there may be some T3SS-independent localisation (Figure 56A-B).



#### Figure 55 T3SS-dependent LifA localisation with host membrane proteins

Indicated strains were pre-grown for 2h in DMEM containing additional glucose (0.5%) prior to 2 or 4 hr infections of J774A.1 macrophages (MOI 200:1) in presence of the inducer sugar (0.2% L-rhamnose). Post-infection, the host cytoplasmic fraction (A) and membrane fractions (B) were isolated (see Materials and Methods) with samples resolved on 6% SDS-PA gels for Western blot analysis probing for LifA and Tir. The position of Tir - unmodified (T°) and kinase modified (T") Tir forms – and LifA proteins are indicated. Also shown are the position of two molecular weight marker proteins. Strains used were EPEC and mutants lacking a functional T3SS (T3SS) or both LifA homologues ( $\Delta lifA/lifA$ -like). The  $\Delta lifA/lifA$ -like mutant carried no plasmid (-) or plasmids encoding LifA (*plifA*) or the LifA- $\Delta$ DXD (*p* $\Delta$ DXD) variant with Uninfec. Indicating samples from uninfected (Uninf.) macrophages.



#### Figure 56 CesT-dependent localisation of LifA with host membrane proteins

Indicated strains were pre-grown for 2h in DMEM (contains additional 0.5% glucose) prior to a 2h infection of J774A.1 macrophages (MOI 200:1) in the presence of 0.2% L-rhamnose (promotes plasmid expression of LifA). Post-infection, the host cytoplasmic and membrane proteins were isolated with the membrane-related samples resolved on a 3-8% gradient SDS-PA gels before processing for Western blot analysis to probe for LifA and Tir. The position of Tir - unmodified (T°) and kinase modified (T") Tir forms – and LifA proteins are indicated alongside the position of two molecular weight marker proteins. Strains used were EPEC and strains lacking a functional T3SS (T3SS mutant), LifA ( $\Delta$ /*ifA*), both LifA homologues ( $\Delta$ /*ifA*/*lifA*like) or CesT i.e.,  $\Delta$ *cesT* and TOEA7 $\Delta$ *core* mutants; latter lacks 14 of 17 known non-LEE effectors (not NIeJ, EspC or LifA homologues) plus LEE-encoded chaperones (CesT, CesF), effectors (EspH, Map, Tir) and Intimin surface protein. Some strains carried plasmid encoding CesT (*pcesT*) or LifA (*plifA*) with plasmid minus controls strain indicated (-). Note the last lane (labelled *plifA*) relates to extracts from cells infected with the  $\Delta$ *lifA*/*lifA*-like mutant carrying the *plifA* plasmid.

To support this finding and improve band resolution, the experiment was repeated with additional controls before separating the membrane fractions on commercial gradient (3-8%) SDS-PA gels and processing for Western blot analysis. Probing for Tir supported strain genotype by confirming the CesT-deficient  $\triangle$  core and TOEA7 $\triangle$  core mutants lacked Tir with reduced and no Tir delivery by the  $\triangle cesT$  (Abe *et al.*, 1999) and T3SS mutants, respectively (Figure 56A-B). Probing for LifA revealed several nonspecific bands - i.e., in samples from the uninfected and *lifA* single/double mutant infected cells – with a prominent LifA-specific band (>250kDa) in samples from cells infected with EPEC (Figure 56 A&B). Importantly, this LifA-specific band was not evident in samples from cells infected with the T3SS or CesT-deficient mutant strains (Figure 56) i.e.,  $\triangle cosT$ ,  $\triangle core$  or TOEA7 $\triangle core$  mutants. The  $\triangle core$  mutant lacks 7 LEE genes - encoding 2 chaperones (CesT; CesF), 3 effectors (EspH, Map, Tir) and the Intimin surface protein - while TOEA7 core also lacks all known NIe effectors except NIeJ, EspC and the LifA homologues (Amin, 2017). Importantly, re-introducing CesT (on a plasmid, pcesT) into the TOEA7 core mutant restored LifA detection to a level seen in the EPEC-infected cells. However, there was a less noticeable impact of introducing pcesT into the  $\triangle cesT$  mutant (Figure 56) but probing for Tir revealed little additional Tir delivery suggesting that there was little or no plasmid expression of CesT (Figure 56). Collectively, this work suggests that LifA can associated with or, like Tir, insert into the host membrane in a manner dependent on EPEC having a functional T3SS and expressing the multi-substrate chaperone, CesT.

#### 5.2.6 DXD motif-independent inhibition of Akt signalling by LifA

Studies have shown that mammalian cells can regulate Akt activity by glycosylating the Ser473 and Thr308 residues, which prevents phosphorylation-mediated activation of the kinase (Owaga *et al.*, 2015). As LifA has *in vitro* demonstrated glycosyltransferase activity that depends on the DXD motif (Cassady-Cain *et al.*, 2016), time course infection studies were carried out with the *lifA* double mutant carrying no plasmids or a plasmid encoding LifA (p*lifA*) or the  $\Delta$ DxD (p $\Delta$ DxD) variant (Cassady-Cain *et al.*, 2016). Western blot analysis of isolated total cellular extract samples confirmed sustained infection-induced pAktSer473 signals in cells infected by the T3SS or the *lifA* double mutant strains (Figure 57A-B). Probing for Tir confirmed EPEC and the *lifA* double, but not T3SS mutant had a functional T3SS (Figure 57C).

In contrast, cells infected with EPEC or the plasmid carrying *lifA* double mutant strains had transient pAktSer473 signal profiles (Figure 57C). Plasmid expression of LifA or  $\Delta$ DxD variants was linked to a faster loss in pAktSer473 signal (Figure 57C). These results were supported by data from additional experiments (Supplementary Figure 14-16). The presence of the DXD to AAA substitution was supported by sequencing of PCR amplified DNA isolated from the strain isolated following the infection period (not shown). Probing the samples for Akt phosphorylation on Thr 308 (pAktThr308) showed similar profiles to the pAktSer473 signal (not shown). This work shows that EPEC requires a functional T3SS to prevent sustained phosphorylation of Akt (on Ser473 and Thr308 residues) in a manner dependent on LifA but not the DXD motif required for LifA's *in-vitro* demonstrated glycosyltransferase activity.

Α T3SS mutant **EPEC** Time (min) 3 S 30 Tir 🕂 pAktSer473 β-Actin В ∆lifA/lifA-like Jninf 15 Time (min) 30 90 60 Tir pAktSer473 β-Actin ∆lifA/lifA-like С plifA *p*∆*DXD* 15 30 15 Time (min) 60 5 30 60 6 Tir pAktSer473 β-Actin

#### Figure 57 Loss of pAktSer473 signal does not require LifA DXD motif

J774A.1 macrophage were left uninfected (Uninf.) or infected with, pre-activated, strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times. Following the removal of non-adherent bacteria, remaining proteins were isolated in sample buffer and processed for Western blot analysis (6% SDS-PA gels) and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and  $\beta$ -actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant and strains lacking both LifA homologues ( $\Delta$ *lifA*/*lifA*-like) and, when, indicated plasmids encoding LifA (p*lifA*) or the LifA- $\Delta$ DXD (p $\Delta$ DXD) variant. The DXD is linked to LifA glycosyltransferase activity, The DXD motif is needed for glycosylation of sugar (See Supplementary Figures 14-16).

#### 5.2.7 CHD motif-independent inhibition of Akt signalling by LifA.

Having ruled out a role for the DxD motif, studies examined the impact of disrupting cysteine protease associated CHD motif function and recently shown to be needed for auto-cleavage of host internalised, purifed LifA (Bease, 2020). Thus, another time course infection study was carried out with the *lifA* double mutant without or plasmids encoding LifA (plifA) or variants lacking a functional DXD ( $p \Delta DxD$ ) or CHD ( $p \Delta CHD$ ) motif. Western blot analysis probing for pAktSer473 revealed, as before, sustained infection-induced signals for cells infected with the T3SS and *AlifA*-double mutant strains (Figure 58A&B). However, infection with all plasmid-carrying  $\Delta lifA$ -double mutant straines was linked to EPEC-like profile i.e. loss of pAktSer473 signal by 30 to 60 minute post-infection (Figure 58C). Probing for host actin showed loss of pAktSer473 signal was not due to gel loading or Western blot transfer issues (Figure 58A-C). These results were supported by data from an additional experiment (Supplementary Figure 17). The strains carrying plasmids encoding the  $\Delta DXD$  and  $\Delta$ CHD variants were supported by sequencing. PCR-amplified fragments from bacterial DNA extracted at the end of macrophage infection period (not shown). Together, these studies indicate that LifA's T3SS-dependent ability to inhibit Akt signalling does not require it to have intact DXD or CHD motifs that have been linked to LifA-mediated glycosyltransferase and cysteine protease activities respectively.



#### Figure 58 Loss of pAktSer473 signal does not require LifA CHD motif.

J774A.1 macrophage were left uninfected (Uninf.) or infected with, pre-activated, strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times. Following the removal of non-adherent bacteria, remaining proteins were isolated in sample buffer and processed for Western blot analysis (6% SDS-PA gels) and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and  $\beta$ -actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant and strains lacking both LifA homologues ( $\Delta$ *lifA*/*lifA*-like). The  $\Delta$ *lifA*/*lifA*-like mutant had no plasmid (-) or a plasmid (+) encoding LifA (p*lifA*), LifA- $\Delta$ DXD (p $\Delta$ DXD) or LifA- $\Delta$ CHD (p $\Delta$ CHD) variant. The DXD and CHD motifs are linked to glycosyltransferase and cysteine protease activities, respectively. These findings are supported by an additional experiment (see Supplementary Figure 17).

## 5.2.8 LifA inhibition of Akt signalling does not require other NIe effector activity

Previous work (Amin, 2017) suggested EPEC inhibition of Akt signalling does not require the functions of LEE or most of the known NIe effectors but the involvement of the LifA homologues, NIeJ and EspC was not examined. Having now identified the reponsible effectors as the LifA homologues, studies examined whether the LifA inhibitory activity required other NIe effectors, including NIeJ, EspC and LifA-like homologue. Hence, the LifA-encoding plasmid was introduced in EPEC0 as it lacks all known effectors, except EspB which is needed for the effector delivery process (Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2017). The *plifA* plasmid was also introduced in EPEC2 - from which EPEC0 was generated (Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2017) - as it encodes Tir as a marker of T3SS functionality and also EspZ which prevent T3SS-dependent pAkt signal loss due to another mechanims i.e. cytotoxic death (Amin, 2017).

A standard time course infection study was carried out with isolated total cellular extracts processes for Western blot probing of Tir, pAktSer473 and actin. The Tir signal supported strain genotype as EPEC0, unlike EPEC2, lacks Tir with all Tir positive strains, except the T3SS mutant, having a functional T3SS (Figure 59). Probing for pAktSer473 revealed a sustained signal in cells infected with the T3SS-defective mutant and as expected, the *lifA*-deficient EPEC2 and EPEC0 strains. Unexpectedly, introduction of the *lifA*-expressing plasmid (*plifA*) into EPEC2, but not EPEC0, was linked to loss of pAktSer473 signal though not as dramatic as for EPEC-infected cells (Figure 59A-C). Examining host actin levels showed that pAkt signal loss was not due to loading or Western transfer issues (Figure 59A-C). This work suggests that LifA's ability to interfere with Akt signalling does not require Nle effectors but may depend on LEE factors encoded by EPEC2 but not EPEC0 i.e., Tir and/or EspZ.

As a Tir-expressing plasmid (p*tir*) was available it was introduced in EPEC0 carrying the p*lifA* plasmid and used in another time course infection study. Probing for Tir (Figure 60A-C) provided data that supported the previous findings and confirmed that p*tir* was introduced into EPEC0 illustrating the strain has a functional T3SS (Figure 60D).



#### Figure 59 LifA dependent loss of pAkt signal does not require other NIe effectors

J774A.1 macrophage were left uninfected (Uninf.) or infected with, pre-activated, strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times. Following the removal of non-adherent bacteria, remaining proteins were isolated in sample buffer and processed for Western blot analysis (6% SDS-PA gels) and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and  $\beta$ -actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant, EPEC2 (lacks all known effectors except EspB – needed for effector delivery process – Tir and EspZ) and EPEC0 (like EPEC2 but also lacks Tir and EspZ effectors). The EPEC0 and EPEC2 mutants either carried no plasmid (-) or a plasmid (+) encoding LifA (plifA).



#### Figure 60 Possible role for Tir in the LifA driven loss of pAktSer473 signal.

J774A.1 macrophage were left uninfected (Uninf.) or infected with, pre-activated, strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times. Following the removal of non-adherent bacteria, remaining proteins were isolated in sample buffer and processed for Western blot analysis (6% SDS-PA gels) to probe for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and  $\beta$ -actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant, EPEC2 (lacks all known effectors except EspB – needed for effector delivery process – Tir and EspZ) and EPEC0 (like EPEC2 but also lacks Tir and EspZ effectors). The EPEC0 and EPEC2 mutants had no plasmid (-) or a plasmid (+) encoding LifA (p*lifA*) or Tir (p*tir*).

Probing the samples for pAktSer473 data (Figure 60A-C) reproduced the previous data (Figure 59) and revealed that only EPEC0 which carried the Tir and LifA plasmids had regained some ability to interfere with Akt signalling (Figure 60D). Probing for actin revealed that the loss of pAktSer473 signal was not due to gel loading or Western blot transfer issues (Figure 60). Collectively, these experiments indicate a role for Tir in the LifA dependent loss of pAkt signal despite previous studies ruling out a role for Tir alone (*tir* mutant)(Amin, 2017) or with most non-LEE-encoded (TOEA7 $\Delta$ core/pcesT) effectors (Chapter 3).

#### 5.2.9 pAkt signal loss is linked to O-GlcNAcylation of Akt

As mentioned, mammalian cells can regulate Akt function through O-GlcNAcylation of serine 473 and threonine 307 residues which inhibits phosphorylation-associated activation (Owaga *et al.*, 2015). O-GlcNAcylation involves the addition of a single N-acetylglucosamine (O-GlcNac) to serine or threonine residues. While LifA can bind GlcNAc and has DXD motif-dependent glycosyltransferase activity (Cassady-Cain *et al.*, 2016), earlier studies ruled out a need for the DXD motif in LifA-dependent inhibition of Akt signalling (Chapter 3). Nevertheless, it was still possible that the LifA inhibitory mechanism involved O-GlcNAcylation.

To investigate this hypothesis, Akt was immunoprecipitated from J774A.1 macrophage following infections with EPEC or the T3SS mutant with samples probed, by Western blot analysis, for pAktSer473 and O-GlcNac modified forms. Hence, J774A.1 macrophage were infected for 2 hours before isolating Triton X100 soluble fractions (contains host cytoplasm and membrane proteins plus EPEC delivered effectors) with a sample taken (Input) as a reference. The remaining solution was used for overnight immunoprecipitation with anti-Akt antibodies coupled to magnetic beads (see Materials and Methods). The following day the beads were isolated, and a sample of the post-immunoprecipitation solution was taken ('Output') to determine immunoprecipitation efficiency. The immunoprecipitate was washed several times before resuspending in sample buffer (see Materials and Methods; Section 2.3.5) and examined by Western blot analysis for pAktSer473, Tir, actin and O-GlcNac-modified proteins.



#### Figure 61 EPEC inhibition of Akt signalling is linked to Akt O-GlcNAcylation

J774A.1 macrophage were infected with, pre-activated, EPEC or T3SS mutant strains (MOI 200:1) for 2 hours. Following the removal of non-adherent bacteria, the J774A.1 macrophage were extracted in a 1% Triton-X 100 solution with removal (centrifugation) on the insoluble fraction leaving a solution containing host cytoplasm and membrane proteins plus T3SS-delivered substrates. A reference sample (Input) was removed before adding anti-Akt antibodies pre-coupled to magnetic beads for overnight incubations to 'capture' Akt. The following day the beads were isolated, and a sample of the remaining solution (Output) was taken. The beads (immunoprecipitate) were washed several times before these, and other samples, were resolved on 6% SDS-PA gels and processed for Western blot analyses to probe for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), total Akt (Pan-Akt), pAktSer473,  $\beta$ -actin (loading control) and O-GlcNAc modified proteins. Arrows indicate the position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. The findings are supported by data from an additional experiment (see Supplementary Figure 18).

Probing for Tir confirmed strain genotype as the host kinase modified form (T") was detected in Input and Output samples from extracts of EPEC, but not T3SS mutant infected cells (Figure 61). Examining the samples for total Akt (with pan-Akt antibodies) revealed similar levels in the input samples with no signal in the output samples showed a very high immunoprecipitation efficiency (Figure 61). Importantly, both immunoprecipiate samples contained Akt, but not Tir, supporting specific Akt isolation (Figure 61). Probing for actin revealed similar signals in the input and output samples supporting similar gel loading with the strong 'actin' signal in the immunoprecipitate an artefact i.e detecting antibody using to immunoprecipitate Akt. Crucially, probing for pAktSer473 supported T3SS mutant dependent loss of pAktSer473 signal - most evident in the immunoprecipitation samples - with background and strong signals in samples isolated from EPEC and T3SS mutant infected cells respectively (Figure 61). Surprisingly, studies with a monoclonal antibody that detects proteins containing O-linked N-acetylglucosamine (O-GlcNAc) residues revealed an infection-associate signal in the input sample of T3SS infected cells and immunoprecipiate from EPEC infected cells (Figure 61).

While this finding was suggestive of a sample mix-up, it was confirmed through experimental repeats using non-infected cells (Supplementary Figure 18) and changing other variables (see below). Hence this work links EPEC's T3SS dependent ability to inhibt Akt signalling to O-GlcNAcylation of the kinase.

#### 5.2.10 O-GlcNAcylation of Akt by EPEC depends on LifA

To further investigate the predicted link between infection-associated O-GlcNac modification of Akt and LifA protein function, immunoprecipitation experiments were repeated to include additional controls i.e. uninfected cells and cells infected with the LifA-deficient ( $\Delta$ *lifA*/*lifA*-like) double mutant. Probing the isolated input, output and immunoprecipitate samples for Tir confirmed that EPEC and the *lifA*-deficient double mutant, unlike the T3SS, mutant had a functional T3SS (Figure 62). As expected, Tir was not detected in the uninfected cell or any immunoprecipitate samples (Figure 62). Probing for pAktSer473 illustrated that EPEC, but not the the T3SS and *lifA*-deficient

double mutant inhibited Akt signalling with the resultant mutant-asociated pAktSer473 evident in the immunoprecipiate but not output samples (Figure 62). Probing for O-GlcNAc modified proteins revealed signals in the input samples from only the T3SS and *lifA*-deficient double mutant indfected cells and one immunoprecipitate which was surpsingly from the EPEC infected cells (Figure 62).


### Figure 62 LifA inhibition of Akt signalling is linked to O-GlcNAcylation of Akt

J774A.1 macrophages were infected with, pre-activated, EPEC strains (MOI 200:1) for 2 hours. Following the removal of non-adherent bacteria, the J774A.1 macrophages were extracted in a 1% Triton-X 100 solution with removal (centrifugation) on the insoluble fraction leaving a solution containing host cytoplasm and membrane proteins plus T3SS-delivered substrates. A reference sample (Input) was removed before adding anti-Akt antibodies precoupled to magnetic beads for overnight incubations to 'capture' Akt. The following day the beads were isolated, and a sample of the remaining solution (Output) was taken. The beads (immunoprecipitate) were washed several times before these, and other samples, were resolved on 6% SDS-PA gels and processed for Western blot analyses to probe for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), total Akt (Pan-Akt), pAktSer473,  $\beta$ -actin (loading control) and O-GlcNAc modified proteins. Arrows indicate the position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T<sup>o</sup>) Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC and mutants lacking a functional T3SS (T3SS) or both LifA homologues ( $\Delta lifA/lifA$ -like). These findings were supported by data from an additional experiment (see Supplementary Figure 19).

Similar input and output samples loading were supported by probing for the host protein, GAPDH (Figure 62). Unfortunately, probing for total Akt did not generate a signal but Akt immunoprecipitation is illustrated by detecting phosphorylated Akt in input and immunoprecipitate but not output samples from cells infected with the T3SS and *lifA*-double mutants (Figure 62). Absence of Tir and GAPDH proteins from the immunoprecipitate samples supports the specific isolation of Akt (Figure 62). These findings were supported by data from an additional experiment (see Supplementary Figure 19). This work shows that EPEC infection not only leads to the T3SS-independent phosphorylation of Akt on Serine 473 but also the O-GlcNAcylation of protein(s) sharing a similar molecular mass to Akt. Crucially, the analysis shows that the EPEC LifA protein can, in a T3SS-dependent manner, inhibit Akt signalling linked to O-GlcNAc-modification of Akt. Moreover, these findings suggest that EPEC infection also leads to the GlcNAc-modification of Akt-sized protein(s) with this modified form 'lost' in a T3SS/LifA-dependent manner and, for extracts from T3SS mutant-infected cells, during the overnight immunoprecipitation period.

### **5.3 Discussion**

The studies in this chapter provide important insights on the mechanism by which LifA inhibits Akt signalling by revealing a CesT-dependent co-localisation of LifA with host membrane proteins and LifA-dependent O-GlcNAc modification of Akt. Crucial to these studies were the availability of research reagent (provided Prof. Mark Stevens group, Edinburgh University), i.e. plasmids encoding LifA variants, antibodies to detect LifA and purified recombinant LifA::His protein

The provided plifA plasmids encoded a LifA::His tagged variant whose expression is tightly repressed in presence of 0.5% glucose and induced by another sugar, 0.2% Lrhamnose (Cassady-Cain et al., 2016). Surprisingly, studies with the lifA-double mutant carrying plifA revealed constitutive expression of LifA in standard growth (LB; lacks glucose or L-rhamnose) or mammalian infection (DMEM; contains 0.45% glucose but not L-rhamnose) media with little impact of adding 0.5% glucose. Interestingly, LifA expression from the EPEC chromosome was difficult to detect when grown in DMEM (induces T3SS expression) than LB suggesting that LifA expression may be downregulated when the T3SS is expressed. However, it appeared that adding L-rhamnose increases expression of the plasmid-encoded, but not chromosomalencoded LifA. Crucially, the LifA antibodies revealed bands in EPEC which were absent from the LifA-deficient single or double mutant unless they carried plifA. While plasmid encoded LifA had a C-terminal His tag this could not be detected with anti-His antibodies (probably below detection sensitivity level), so studies could not provide further support for plifA expressing a full-length (3223-residue) protein. It was noted that strain grown DMEM led to a LifA doublet (both >250kDa) suggestive of possible modification or cleavage-forms with a further double (<250kDa) when grown in LB suggestive of further processing/cleavage within the bacteria. It should be noted that LifA has been shown to have autoproteolytic activity, linked to ~225 and 140kDa bands, but this process required host factors (Bease, 2020).

EPEC was shown to inhibit Akt signalling in a CesT dependent manner (Chapter 3)(Amin, 2017) so the availability of LifA-specific antibodies allowed studies to examine if the multi-substrate chaperone impacted to LifA expression, secretion or delivery into host cells. This work revealed that LifA expression does not require CesT

175

#### **Chapter 5 Results III**

with studies on LifA secretion inconclusive due to very low secretion levels and/or technical issues though there were hints of CesT-dependent release. Previous studies have reported LifA to be a T3SS substrate (Deng *et al.*, 2012; Bease, 2020).

One function of LifA is as an adhesin and indeed the cell binding capacity of nonpathogenic *E. coli* was dramatically increased when it carried plifA (not shown). The latter suggests LifA is transferred to the cell surface in a T3SS independent manner with, perhaps, CesT acting to direct a subpopulation to the T3SS and hence CesT absence would have little impact on LifA cellular levels. Most importantly, the work clearly revealed LifA, following EPEC infection of macrophages, co-localised with host membrane proteins in a CesT and T3SS-dependent manner. LifA is not predicted to have transmembrane domains (Luo and Donnenberg, 2011; Bease, 2020) suggesting that it is a membrane-associated rather than membrane inserted. Given LifA's inhibitory activity is T3SS-dependent this suggests LifA is first transferred into the cytoplasm and then associates with host membranes. Further studies should examine if LifA associates with the plasma or other membrane compartments especially given the recent report that Akt is activated at the endosome membrane (Thapa et al., 2020). Such studies could use published protocols and/or commercial kits to isolate distinct subcellular compartments for western blot probing for LifA. Moreover, studies with proteases and/or reagents (including high salt or pH solutions) that extract membraneassociated proteins could be used to determine if LifA is on the cell surface or if LifA is only a membrane-associated protein (Kenny and Finlay, 1995). Moreover, the anti-LifA antibodies might be able to, in epifluorescent and/or confocal microscopy studies, specifically detect a T3SS-dependent LifA signal on or within infected host cells.

Notably studies with LifA variants lacking motifs required for glycosyltransferase and cysteine protease activities detected in infection and/or *in vitro* studies (Bease, 2020) were not required for LifA to inhibit Akt signalling. Sequencing of DNA from bacteria isolated at the end of the infection experiment confirmed the presence of variants with disrupted DXD and CHD motifs required for LifA glycosyltransferase and cysteine protease activity respectively. This finding highlights the multifunctionality of LifA, a common feature of T3SS effectors (Cassady-Cain *et al.*, 2016). Informatively, studies with effector deficient strains suggested that LifA's inhibitory activity does not require other known NIe effectors and supported functional redundancy with the LifA-like protein. However, these studies surprisingly indicated a possible role for Tir despite

Tir being previously shown not to be required, individually or with most known effectors, for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling (Amin, 2017). These studies involved effector-deficient strains (EPEC2 and EPEC0) and so it is possible that this Tir role is only evident in specific genetic backgrounds - akin to studies identify roles for both LifA homologues in the attaching and effacing phenotype (Cepeda-Molero *et al.*, 2017).

The most exciting and surprising findings came from studies examining the possibility that EPEC infection leads to O-GlcNAc modification of Akt as this was reported to be a host mechanism for regulating Akt activity (Owaga et al., 2015; Zhuang et al., 2017). Indeed, immunoprecipitation studies (with anti-Akt antibodies) confirmed a T3SS- and LifA-dependent loss of the infection-induced pAktSer473 signal linked to O-GlcNAc modification of Akt. Surprisingly, infection by the T3SS and LifA-deficient mutants was linked to O-GlcNAc modification of an Akt-sized band/s which was 'lost' during the immunoprecipitation process thereby preventing studies to determine if the protein is indeed Akt. Finding ways to preventing loss of the O-GlcNAc modified protein (by, for example, screening inhibitors of protein proteases or deglycosylation activity) would enable studies to determine its linkage to Akt. Notably, preliminary studies report EPEC infection also leads to transient O-GlcNAc modification of this Akt-sized band (not shown). Further studies should also determine if O-GlcNAc modification of this Akt-sized band is EPEC-specific i.e., can it be induced by non-pathogenic *E. coli*, other pathogens, or even bacterial-sized beads. Examining this novel O-GlcNAc modification event could open a new research area.

In conclusion, the findings presented in this chapter suggest that CesT targets a subpopulation of LifA to the T3SS for transfer to infected host cells where its association with a host membrane compartment is linked to O-GlcNAc modification of Akt - an event that inhibits kinase activity. Interestingly, this LifA inhibitory activity is independent of motifs needed for its known glucosyltransferase and cysteine protease functions.

### **Chapter 6. Final discussion**

The research described in this thesis not only achieved the main objectives of identifying the effectors enabling EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling and to provide mechanistic insights but also revealed roles for other EPEC-encoded factors and novel infection-induced modifications of host protein/s.

To define the responsible effector(s) with multiple approaches were undertaken, in parallel, with a focus on the 4 T3SS substrates (NIeJ, EspC, LifA, LifA-like protein) whose contributions to the inhibitory process had not yet been examined (Amin, 2017). Studies with an available gene knock mutant ( $\Delta espC$ ) argued against a key role for EspC (O. Amin, unpublished) while use of an available suicide vector (Klapproth *et al.*, 2000) to disrupt *lifA* ( $\Delta lifA::Km$ ) allowed studies arguing that LifA was also not critical. However, it was possible that the remaining intact N-terminal-encoding region (~2000 residues) could be expressed and delivered into host cells where it may have functions needed to inhibit Akt signalling but subsequent studies revealed that this was not the case. Work to knockout all 4 T3SS substrate-encoding genes - individually and collectively - was not needed due to another approach identifying the responsible effector.

A second possible approach was promoted (but not used) by generating data supporting the idea of the Akt inhibitory process requiring the LEE-encoded multi-substrate chaperone, CesT. Hence, this opened the possibility of isolating CesT-interacting proteins (from EPEC lacking all CesT and T3SS substrates know not to be needed for the inhibitory process) to identify candidate effectors by mass spectrometry for further exploration. Future study should examine predicted CesT-LifA and, when antibodies available, CesT-LifA-like interactions by immunoprecipitating from EPEC a plasmid expressed CesT::HA fusion protein - retains known chaperone functions - with anti-HA antibodies and determining if LifA (and/or LifA-like) coimmunoprecipitate.

A third approach was to screen available genome sequenced A/E pathogens strains (have defined but distinct NIe effector repertoires) to determine if the inhibitory process is unique to EPEC or shared by one or more strains to perhaps indicate candidate effector/s to explore. As mentioned, roles for all EPEC but 4 T3SS substrates had been discounted with interestingly the available A/E pathogens all encoding EspC and LifA-type homologues. The screening program was consistent with the examined

second EPEC strain (B171), rabbit-EPEC and *Citrobacter rodentium* all possessing a T3SS-dependent capacity to inhibit Akt signalling. Interestingly, the examined EHEC O157:H7 strain appeared to inhibit Akt signalling via additive T3SS-dependent and independent mechanisms. The subsequent discovery that EPEC uses the LifA homologues to inhibit Akt provides a possible explanation. Hence, most EHEC strains lack an intact lifA gene - have an orf2 variant (efa1') that encode the N-terminal 433 residue and a central 275 residue region respectively - but encode another homologue, ToxB, on a plasmid (Tatsuno et al., 2001). ToxB shares 30% identity (48% similarity) with EPEC LifA with its expression linked, like LifA, to lymphostatin-like activity and promoting bacterial adherence (Burland et al., 1998; Stevens et al., 2002; Klapproth, 2010a; Cassady-Cain et al., 2017). It is predicted that the efa1' gene product might produce a T3SS substrate that has some ability to inhibit Akt signalling with ToxB providing an additional, T3SS-independent, inhibitory mechanism. This possibility could be addressed by examining *efa1* and *toxB* single and double mutants for their ability to inhibit Akt signalling by EHEC strains with and without a functional T3SS. In addition, studies could examine the predicted role for LifA homologues in enabling other A/E pathogens to inhibit Akt signalling and test the prediction that strains that lack LifA-homologues can't inhibit Akt signalling. If an inhibitory activity is uncovered for the *efa1*' gene products this could be useful for providing mechanistic insights as a much small protein (708 residues in total) than the 2600-3000 residue LifA, ToxB and LifA-like proteins.

The strategy that identified the responsible effectors related to screening available mutants that lacked, individually, most of the horizontally acquired DNA (PPs and IEs), as all known T3SS substrates are encoded on such elements. Indeed, the screen revealed the strain lacking IE2 (~61Kb, encodes LifA-like protein and the NIeE2 effector) could not inhibit Akt signalling. As a role for NIeE2 had been discounted this implicated the LifA-like protein or other IE2-encoded factors. Luckily, a bank of EPEC mutants was available that lacked (in a sequential manner) all genes for known NIe effectors including those for NIeJ, EspC, LifA and the LifA-like protein (Litvak *et al.*, 2017). Crucially, the new screen revealed a critical role for the LifA-like protein but surprisingly in a redundant manner with LifA that is encoded on IE6 (~16Kb; also encodes three NIe effectors). Redundant roles were confirmed with studies using available *lifA*-deficient single and double mutants plus a newly-generated double

180

mutant which also illustrated the *lifA*::km gene does not produce a protein that can inhibit Akt signalling. Importantly, the inhibitory defect of the double mutants could be rescued by introducing a plasmid encoding a LifA::His tagged fusion protein reiterating redundancy.

The finding that the IE2-deleted mutant could not inhibit Akt signalling despite having an intact lifA gene suggested IE2 encodes factors needed for LifA to inhibit Akt signalling, or strain has unknown mutations in *lifA* or other genes needed for the LifA inhibitory process. The former hypothesis was supported by obtaining the same findings with a newly generated IE2-deficient strain leading to further studies. Attempts to rescue the mutant defect by introducing plasmids carrying 4.5Kb IE2 fragments only result in one being introduced into the mutant but it rescued the defect. Subcloning implicated a 1.7Kb fragment which has only I large orf's encoding a putative 611 residue protein (E2348C 1074) that is the only IE2-encoded gene product, besides the LifA-like protein, predicted to possess a T3SS signal sequence. However, the cloning strategy resulted in a 5' gene truncation (the intact gene was to have been cloned on another targeted fragment) removing the N-terminal ~72 residues. However, expression may occur from an internal start codon to produce 537 residue variants. Surprisingly, bioinformatics analyses suggest that the truncated gene was cloned was inframe with the plasmid *tet* gene (into which it was inserted) thereby, in theory, allowing the production of a 620-residue hybrid protein. The first 21 residues of T3SS substrates carry the export signal with, when needed, chaperone bindings sites within the first 80-100 residues which would be absent from the truncated or fusion proteins. The latter questions Orf16 being a T3SS substrate that functions to enable LifA (IE6encoded) to inhibit Akt signalling. Orf16 is predicted to be a cytoplasmic protein and thus could be required for LifA expression and/or transfer into host cells. These possibilities can be addressed by using the available anti-LifA antibodies to determine levels in bacterial extracts and the host membrane fraction. Unfortunately, there was not sufficient time to carry out this or other planned studies. The latter included Cterminally HA tagging the truncated and full length Orf611-related proteins for cellular fractionation and/or epifluorescent microscopy studies to examine their cellular location in EPEC (cytoplasm, membrane, periplasm, extracellular) and/or, in a T3SSdependent manner, host cells. Other studies were going to interrogate a key role for

the Orf611-encoding orf (and not other small orfs or potential regulatory RNAs) by specifically preventing its production though the introduction of an internal stop codon. Lymphostatin, the 366 kDa lifA gene produce, inhibits lymphocyte proliferation and transcription of multiple lymphokines (Klapproth et al., 1996; Klapproth et al., 2000), acts as an adhesin (Torres et al., 2005) and is a T3S substrate that may be delivered into host cells (Deng et al., 2012). Studies on how LifA inhibits Akt signalling focused on variants lacking motifs suggestive of it having glycosylation and protease activities. One motif (DXD) is needed for LifA to bind a sugar (UDP-GlcNAc) and for lymphostatin activity suggesting LifA acts as a glycosyltransferase (Cassady-Cain et al., 2016). The second motif (CHD) was recently shown to be needed for LifA processing within mammalian cells (Bease, 2020). However, LifA's roles in inhibiting Akt signalling did not require either motif whose disruption was supported by DNA sequencing. The report (Shi et al., 2015) of host cells regulating Akt activity by competitive modification of Ser473 and Thr308 by a phosphate (activates) or O-GlcNAc (prevents activationassociated phosphorylation) prompted studies to determine if EPEC infection leads to O-GlcNAc modification of Akt. The resulting anti-Akt immunoprecipitation studies clearly revealed a T3SS- and LifA-dependent O-GlcNAc modification. Studies are needed to test the prediction that the sugar has been added to the Ser473/Thr308 residues by, for example mass spectrometry (Brunet et al., 2003) or using cell model systems that express Akt variants lacking the Ser473/Thr308 phosphorylation substrates (Shi et al., 2015). Another important aspect to examine is whether LifA directly glycosylates Akt (unlikely given DxD motif required to bind UDP-O-GlcNAc is not needed) or subverts the activity of the host enzymes that add or remove O-GlcNAc from Akt (Shi et al., 2015) by, for example, using commercially available inhibitors.

Unexpectedly the immunoprecipitation studies revealed O-GlcNAc modification of a prominent Akt-sized band in cells infected with the T3SS and LifA-deficient mutants, but not EPEC. Unfortunately, the O-GlcNAc modification was 'lost' during the immunoprecipitation process, even following a rapid (2 hr) protocol, so it identifies as Akt could not be confirmed. Future studies should investigate if the modified form be stabilised by, for example, adding inhibitors of host protease and/or deglycosylation activities. Interestingly, a recent analysis of samples from previous time-course experiments revealed similar O-GlcNAc modification and pAktSer473 profiles (not shown) linking both events. It is predicted that EPEC infection induces phosphorylation

(on Ser473 and Thr308) and O-GlcNAc modification of Akt. Investigations are needed to determine if all or only some Akt molecules are phosphorylated (active), O-GlcNAc modified (in active) or carry both modifications; noting Akt can be O-GlcNAc modified on other residues. While infection with the T3SS and LifA/LifA-like deficient mutants are linked to sustained phosphorylation (on Ser473 and Thr308) and O-GlcNAc modification, the phosphorylated-modified forms are not evident following a 2-hour EPEC infection, noting the O-GlcNAc modified form is only detected in the immunoprecipitates i.e., very low levels on, possibly, a subpopulation of Akt molecules. Previous studies linked the EPEC inhibitory process to Akt retention (in non-phosphorylated form) on host membranes (Amin, 2017). It is predicted that infection triggers a general response i.e., O-GlcNAc modification of Akt which promotes its recruitment to a particular membrane for phosphorylation-induced activation and subsequent release to phosphorylated targets in other compartments until deactivated (dephosphorylated). Additional rounds of recruitment/activation/release occur until the receptor-induced signalling cascade is shut down. It is proposed that LifA is targeted to membrane recruited, possibly O-GlcNAc modified, Akt where is prevents its kinase-mediated activation and subsequent release thereby preventing downstream Akt signalling. Further studies are needed to determine the role of the IE2-encoded factor in this process and whether the LifA-like protein shared the same, similar, or different inhibitory mechanism. For example, studies should examine if inhibition of Akt signalling by the lifA mutant (expresses LifA-like protein) leads to O-GlcNAc modification of Akt. It is possible the LifA-like protein uses a distinct mechanism as it is much smaller (78%) than LifA, shares only 28% identity with LifA and studies failed to support T3SS delivery, unlike LifA, into host cells (Deng et al., 2012). Such studies will require the generation of plasmids that expressing the LifA-like protein and antibodies to monitor its expression and cellular location within EPEC and/or infected host cells.

In conclusion, this study clearly showed that EPEC's T3SS dependent ability to inhibit pAkt signalling depends on the LifA homologues which act in a redundant way. This inhibitory activity also appears to require EPEC to express its multi-substrate effector chaperone, CesT.

183

Supplementary figures

### **Supplementary Figures**



### Supplementary Figure 1 TOEA7 $\Delta$ core mutant inhibits Akt signalling when carrying plasmid encoding CesT and Tir

J774A.1 monolayer were left uninfected or were infected (MOI 200:1) with pre-activated strains for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAKTSer473 and actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T<sup>"</sup>) Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, T3SS (*cfm-14*) and *TOEA7* $\Delta$ *core* (lacks 14 Nle and 6 LEE proteins [3 effectors, CesT & CesT chaperones and Intimin surface protein]) mutant without (-) or with (+) a plasmid encoding CesT and Tir (pACYC-*tir/cesT*).



### Supplementary Figure 2 Other A/E pathogens inhibit Akt signalling

J774A.1 cell were left uninfected or infected (MOI 200:1) with pre-activated strains for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAKTSer473 and actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position on unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") EPEC Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC B171-8, *Citrobacter rodentium (Citrobacter)*, rabbit EPEC O15:KH (RDEC-1) and enterohaemorrhagic *E. coli* 0157:H7 EDL993 (but lacks genes encoding Shiga-like toxins; EHEC) and T3SS-deficient variant of each strain except EPEC B171 (used EPEC E2348/69 T3SS mutant).



# Supplementary Figure 3 Major contribution of IE2-encoded factor for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling

J774A.1 macrophage were left uninfected or infected (MOI 200:1) with indicated pre-activated strains for 90 (not shown) and 120 minutes before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control) antibodies. Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC and mutants lacking a functional T3SS (T33S) or horizontally acquired IE2 ( $\Delta$ IE2), IE5 ( $\Delta$ IE5), IE6 ( $\Delta$ IE6) or PP13 ( $\Delta$ PP13) regions (Litvak *et al.*, 2017).



# Supplementary Figure 4 EPEC6 multi-effector deficient strain cannot inhibit Akt signalling

J774A.1 macrophage were left uninfected or infected with pre-activated strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane, and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control) antibodies. Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant (T3SS), EPEC8 (missing *map*, *espF*, *espH*, *espG*, *espG2*, *espC*); EPEC7 (as EPEC8 but also missing *espL*, *nleB1*, *nleE1*, *lifA*); EPEC6 (as EPEC7 but also missing *nleE2* and *lifA\_like*); EPEC5 (as EPEC6 but also missing *nleH1* and *espJ*).



# Supplementary Figure 5 Redundant role for LifA homologues in loss of pAktSer473 signal

J774A.1 cell were left uninfected or infected with pre-activated strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control) antibodies. Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T<sup>"</sup>) Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant (T3SS) and strains lacking LifA ( $\Delta$ *lifA*-like) or both ( $\Delta$ *lifA*-like) proteins.



### Supplementary Figure 6 Role for LifA homologues in loss of pAktSer473 signal.

J774A.1 cells were left uninfected or infected with pre-activated strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control) antibodies. Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T<sup>"</sup>) Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant (T3SS) and strains lacking LifA ( $\Delta$ *lifA*-like) or both ( $\Delta$ *lifA*-like) proteins.



### Supplementary Figure 7 IE2 mutant confirms the T3SS mutant like profile of pAktSer473 signal

J774A.1 monolayer were left uninfected or were infected (MOI 200:1) with pre-activated strains for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position on unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T<sup>"</sup>) Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, T3SS (*cfm-14*), and  $\Delta$ IE2 and  $\Delta$ IE2a.



# Supplementary Figure 8 Rescuing EPEC like loss of pAktSer473 signal with pACYC-Frag-B

J774A.1 cell were left uninfected or infected (MOI 200:1) with pre-activated strains for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position on unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, T3SS mutant,  $\Delta$ IE2+/-pACYC-Frag-B.



### Supplementary Figure 9 Restoring *A*IE2 mutant's ability to inhibit Akt signalling

J774A.1 macrophage were left uninfected or infected with pre-activated strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control) antibodies. Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T<sup>o</sup>) Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant (T3SS), and  $\Delta$ IE2a with pACYC184 plasmids (pFrag-2 or pFrag-4) carrying Frag-B sub fragments.

#### Supplementary figures



#### Supplementary Figure 10 Generating pACYC-nleE2/espL\*/nleB\*

A-Schematic of pACYC184 plasmid carrying  $nleE2/espL^*/nleB^*$  genes (\* indicates pseudogene). Agarose gel data illustrating some steps in generating plasmids -pACYC184 digested BamHI/SaII to isolate ~4Kb vector fragment for ligation with PCR amplified  $nleE2/espL^*/nleB^*$  region with, in D, evidence of successful ligation via Gibson Assembly kit. E) PCR support of pACYC184- $nleE2/espL^*/nleB^*$  introduction into  $\Delta$ IE2a mutant.



# Supplementary Figure 11 *nle2/espL\*/nleB\** region is not required for EPEC to inhibit Akt signalling

J774A.1 cells were left uninfected or infected with pre-activated strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times before washing away non-adherent bacteria and re-suspending remaining macrophages in sample buffer. Samples were resolved on 10% SDS-PA gels, transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and actin (loading control) antibodies. Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, T3SS mutant,  $\Delta$ IE2a,  $\Delta$ Frag-B/LifA-like ( $\Delta$ Frag-B/L) or  $\Delta$ Frag-B/LifA-like/NIe/Esp region ( $\Delta$ Frag-B/L/N). When indicate the  $\Delta$ Frag-B/L/N carried no plasmid (-) or a plasmid (+) with the *nleE2/espL\*/nleB\** gene region (\* indicates pseudogene).



### Supplementary Figure 12 CesT independent LifA expression

Indicated strains were grown in DMEM for 6 hours before isolating total cellular and secreted (supernatant) proteins (see Materials and Methods). The samples were resolved on **(A&B)** 15% SDS-PA gels and proteins visualised by Commassie blue staining or on **(C&D)** 8% SDS-PA gels for western blot detection of LifA. Positions of LifA, the secreted translocators (EspA, EspB, EspD) and EspC autotransporter proteins are indicated alongside some of molecular mass marker protein. Strains used were EPEC and mutants lacking a functional T3SS (T3SS), both LifA homologues ( $\Delta$ *lifA*/*lifA*\_like) and CesT ( $\Delta$ *cesT* and  $\Delta$ *core*). The  $\Delta$ *core* mutant lacks the LEE region encoding 2 chaperones (CesT, CesF), 3 effectors (EspH, Map, Tir) and Intimin surface protein.



### Supplementary Figure 13 CesT independent expression of LifA

Indicated strains were grown in DMEM for 6 hours before isolating total cellular and secreted (supernatant) proteins (see Materials and Methods). The samples were resolved on **(A&B)** 15% SDS-PA gels and proteins visualised by Commassie blue staining or on **(C&D)** 8% SDS-PA gels for western blot detection of LifA. Positions of LifA, the secreted translocators (EspA, EspB, EspD) and EspC autotransporter proteins are indicated alongside some of molecular mass marker protein. Strains used were EPEC and mutants lacking a functional T3SS (T3SS), both LifA homologues ( $\Delta lifA/lifA_like$ ) and CesT ( $\Delta cesT$  and  $\Delta core$ ). The  $\Delta core$  mutant lacks the LEE region encoding 2 chaperones (CesT, CesF), 3 effectors (EspH, Map, Tir) and Intimin surface protein.



# Supplementary Figure 14 Loss of pAktSer473 signal does not require LifA DXD motif

J774A.1 macrophage were left uninfected (Uninf.) or infected with, pre-activated, strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times. Following the removal of non-adherent bacteria, remaining proteins were isolated in sample buffer and processed for Western blot analysis (6% SDS-PA gels) and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and  $\beta$ -actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant and strains lacking both LifA homologues ( $\Delta$ lifA/lifA-like) and, when, indicated plasmids encoding LifA (p*lifA*) or the LifA- $\Delta$ DXD (p $\Delta$ DXD) variant.



# Supplementary Figure 15 Loss of pAktSer473 signal does not require LifA DXD motif.

J774A.1 macrophage were left uninfected (Uninf.) or infected with, pre-activated, strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times. Following the removal of non-adherent bacteria, remaining proteins were isolated in sample buffer and processed for Western blot analysis (6% SDS-PA gels) and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and  $\beta$ -actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant and strains lacking both LifA homologues ( $\Delta$ lifA/lifA-like) and, when, indicated plasmids encoding LifA (p*lifA*) or the LifA- $\Delta$ DXD (p $\Delta$ DXD) variant.



# Supplementary Figure 16 Loss of pAktThr308 signal also not require LifA DXD motif

J774A.1 macrophage were left uninfected (Uninf.) or infected with, pre-activated, strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times. Following the removal of non-adherent bacteria, remaining proteins were isolated in sample buffer and processed for Western blot analysis (6% SDS-PA gels) and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and  $\beta$ -actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant and strains lacking both LifA homologues ( $\Delta$ LifA/LifA-Like) and, when, indicated plasmids encoding LifA (plifA) or the LifA- $\Delta$ DXD (p $\Delta$ DXD) variant.



# Supplementary Figure 17 Loss of pAktSer473 signal does not require LifA DXD or CHD motifs

J774A.1 macrophage were left uninfected (Uninf.) or infected with, pre-activated, strains (MOI 200:1) for indicated times. Following the removal of non-adherent bacteria, remaining proteins were isolated in sample buffer and processed for Western blot analysis (6% SDS-PA gels) and probed for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), pAktSer473 and  $\beta$ -actin (loading control). Arrows indicate position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC, a T3SS mutant and EPEC6 (missing 4 LEE effectors [EspF, EspG, EspH, Map] and non-LEE effectors from IE2, IE5 and IE6 including *lifA* and *lifA-like*. EPEC6 had no plasmid (-) or a plasmid (+) encoding LifA (p*lifA*), LifA- $\Delta$ DXD (p $\Delta$ DXD) or LifA- $\Delta$ CHD (p $\Delta$ CHD) variant. The DXD and CHD motifs are linked to glycosyltransferase and cysteine protease activities, respectively.



# Supplementary Figure 18 EPEC inhibition of Akt signalling is linked to Akt O-GlcNAcylation.

J774A.1 macrophage were infected with, pre-activated, EPEC or T3SS mutant strains (MOI 200:1) for 2 hours. Following the removal of non-adherent bacteria, the J774A.1 macrophage were extracted in a 1% Triton-X 100 solution with removal (centrifugation) on the insoluble fraction leaving a solution containing host cytoplasm and membrane proteins plus T3SS-delivered substrates. A reference sample (Input) was removed before adding anti-Akt antibodies pre-coupled to magnetic beads for overnight incubations to 'capture' Akt. The following day the beads were isolated, and a sample of the remaining solution (Output) was taken. The beads (immunoprecipitate) were washed several times before these, and other samples, were resolved on 6% SDS-PA gels and processed for Western blot analyses to probe for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), total Akt (Pan-Akt), pAktSer473,  $\beta$ -actin (loading control) and O-GlcNAc modified proteins. Arrows indicate the position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T") Tir forms. A & B are from independent experiments.



### Supplementary Figure 19 LifA inhibition of Akt signalling is linked to O-GlcNAcylation of Akt

J774A.1 macrophages were infected with, pre-activated, EPEC strains (MOI 200:1) for 2 hours. Following the removal of non-adherent bacteria, the J774A.1 macrophages were extracted in a 1% Triton-X 100 solution with removal (centrifugation) on the insoluble fraction leaving a solution containing host cytoplasm and membrane proteins plus T3SS-delivered substrates. A reference sample (Input) was removed before adding anti-Akt antibodies precoupled to magnetic beads for overnight incubations to 'capture' Akt. The following day the beads were isolated and a sample of the remaining solution (Output) was taken. The beads (immunoprecipitate) were washed several times before these, and other samples, were resolved on 6% SDS-PA gels and processed for Western blot analyses to probe for Tir (T3SS functionality marker), total Akt (Pan-Akt), pAktSer473,  $\beta$ -actin (loading control) and O-GlcNAc modified proteins. Arrows indicate the position of unmodified (T<sup>0</sup>) and host kinase-modified (T<sup>n</sup>) Tir forms. Strains used were EPEC and mutants lacking a functional T3SS (T3SS) or both LifA homologues ( $\Delta lifA/lifA$ -like).

Bibliography

Bibliography

#### Bibliography

Abdallah, C.G., Sanacora, G., Duman, R.S. and Krystal, J.H. (2015) 'Ketamine and rapidacting antidepressants: a window into a new neurobiology for mood disorder therapeutics', *Annual review of medicine*, 66, pp. 509-523.

Abe, A., De Grado, M., Pfuetzner, R.A., Sánchez-SanMartín, C., DeVinney, R., Puente, J.L., Strynadka, N.C. and Finlay, B.B. (1999) 'Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli translocated intimin receptor, Tir, requires a specific chaperone for stable secretion', *Molecular microbiology*, 33(6), pp. 1162-1175.

Abendroth, J., Bagdasarian, M., Sandkvist, M. and Hol, W.G. (2004) 'The structure of the cytoplasmic domain of EpsL, an inner membrane component of the type II secretion system of Vibrio cholerae: an unusual member of the actin-like ATPase superfamily', *Journal of molecular biology*, 344(3), pp. 619-633.

Abendroth, J., Mitchell, D.D., Korotkov, K.V., Johnson, T.L., Kreger, A., Sandkvist, M. and Hol, W.G. (2009) 'The three-dimensional structure of the cytoplasmic domains of EpsF from the type 2 secretion system of Vibrio cholerae', *Journal of structural biology*, 166(3), pp. 303-315. Agre, P., King, L.S., Yasui, M., Guggino, W.B., Ottersen, O.P., Fujiyoshi, Y., Engel, A. and Nielsen, S. (2002) 'Aquaporin water channels–from atomic structure to clinical medicine', *The Journal of physiology*, 542(1), pp. 3-16.

Alberts, B., Johnson, A., Lewis, J., Raff, M., Roberts, K. and Walter, P. (2002) 'The selfassembly and dynamic structure of cytoskeletal filaments', in *Molecular Biology of the Cell. 4th edition*. Garland Science.

Allard, J. and Bertrand, K. (1992) 'Membrane topology of the pBR322 tetracycline resistance protein. TetA-PhoA gene fusions and implications for the mechanism of TetA membrane insertion', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 267(25), pp. 17809-17819.

Alto, N.M., Weflen, A.W., Rardin, M.J., Yarar, D., Lazar, C.S., Tonikian, R., Koller, A., Taylor, S.S., Boone, C. and Sidhu, S.S. (2007) 'The type III effector EspF coordinates membrane trafficking by the spatiotemporal activation of two eukaryotic signaling pathways', *Journal of Cell Biology*, 178(7), pp. 1265-1278.

Alvarez-Martinez, C.E. and Christie, P.J. (2009) 'Biological diversity of prokaryotic type IV secretion systems', *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews*, 73(4), pp. 775-808.

Amin, E.O.M. (2017) Investigating how enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) subverts AKT signalling. Newcastle University.

Annaba, F., Sarwar, Z., Gill, R.K., Ghosh, A., Saksena, S., Borthakur, A., Hecht, G.A., Dudeja, P.K. and Alrefai, W.A. (2012) 'Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli inhibits ileal sodiumdependent bile acid transporter ASBT', *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 302(10), pp. G1216-G1222.

Ardissone, A.N., Diomel, M., Davis-Richardson, A.G., Rechcigl, K.T., Li, N., Drew, J.C., Murgas-Torrazza, R., Sharma, R., Hudak, M.L. and Triplett, E.W. (2014) 'Meconium microbiome analysis identifies bacteria correlated with premature birth', *PloS one*, 9(3), p. e90784.

Atmakuri, K., Cascales, E. and Christie, P.J. (2004) 'Energetic components VirD4, VirB11 and VirB4 mediate early DNA transfer reactions required for bacterial type IV secretion', *Molecular microbiology*, 54(5), pp. 1199-1211.

Backert, S. and Meyer, T.F. (2006) 'Type IV secretion systems and their effectors in bacterial pathogenesis', *Current opinion in microbiology*, 9(2), pp. 207-217.

Bäckhed, F., Ley, R.E., Sonnenburg, J.L., Peterson, D.A. and Gordon, J.I. (2005) 'Host-bacterial mutualism in the human intestine', *science*, 307(5717), pp. 1915-1920.

Badea, L., Doughty, S., Nicholls, L., Sloan, J., Robins-Browne, R.M. and Hartland, E.L. (2003) 'Contribution of Efa1/LifA to the adherence of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli to epithelial cells', *Microbial pathogenesis*, 34(5), pp. 205-215.

Barba, J., Bustamante, V.H., Flores-Valdez, M.A., Deng, W., Finlay, B.B. and Puente, J.L. (2005) 'A positive regulatory loop controls expression of the locus of enterocyte effacementencoded regulators Ler and GrlA', *Journal of bacteriology*, 187(23), pp. 7918-7930.

Baruch, K., Gur-Arie, L., Nadler, C., Koby, S., Yerushalmi, G., Ben-Neriah, Y., Yogev, O., Shaulian, E., Guttman, C. and Zarivach, R. (2011) 'Metalloprotease type III effectors that specifically cleave JNK and NF-κB', *The EMBO journal*, 30(1), pp. 221-231.

Basler, á., Pilhofer, á., Henderson, G., Jensen, G. and Mekalanos, J. (2012) 'Type VI secretion requires a dynamic contractile phage tail-like structure', *Nature*, 483(7388), pp. 182-186.

Bäumler, A.J. and Sperandio, V. (2016) 'Interactions between the microbiota and pathogenic bacteria in the gut', *Nature*, 535(7610), pp. 85-93.

Bayascas, J.R. and Alessi, D.R. (2005) 'Regulation of Akt/PKB Ser473 phosphorylation', *Molecular cell*, 18(2), pp. 143-145.

Bease, A.G. (2020) Mode of action of a novel lymphocyte inhibitory factor of attaching and effacing Escherichia coli. University of Edinburgh.

Berger, C.N., Crepin, V.F., Baruch, K., Mousnier, A., Rosenshine, I. and Frankel, G. (2012) 'EspZ of enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli regulates type III secretion system protein translocation', *MBio*, 3(5), pp. e00317-12.

Bieber, D., Ramer, S.W., Wu, C.-Y., Murray, W.J., Tobe, T., Fernandez, R. and Schoolnik, G.K. (1998) 'Type IV pili, transient bacterial aggregates, and virulence of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli', *Science*, 280(5372), pp. 2114-2118.

Biemans-Oldehinkel, E., Sal-Man, N., Deng, W., Foster, L.J. and Finlay, B.B. (2011) 'Quantitative proteomic analysis reveals formation of an EscL-EscQ-EscN type III complex in enteropathogenic Escherichia coli', *Journal of bacteriology*, 193(19), pp. 5514-5519.

Bommarius, B., Maxwell, D., Swimm, A., Leung, S., Corbett, A., Bornmann, W. and Kalman, D. (2007) 'Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli Tir is an SH2/3 ligand that recruits and activates tyrosine kinases required for pedestal formation', *Molecular microbiology*, 63(6), pp. 1748-1768.

Bononi, A., Agnoletto, C., De Marchi, E., Marchi, S., Patergnani, S., Bonora, M., Giorgi, C., Missiroli, S., Poletti, F. and Rimessi, A. (2011) 'Protein kinases and phosphatases in the control of cell fate', *Enzyme research*, 2011.

Boyer, F., Fichant, G., Berthod, J., Vandenbrouck, Y. and Attree, I. (2009) 'Dissecting the bacterial type VI secretion system by a genome wide in silico analysis: what can be learned from available microbial genomic resources?', *BMC genomics*, 10(1), pp. 1-14.

Braunstein, M., Espinosa, B.J., Chan, J., Belisle, J.T. and R. Jacobs Jr, W. (2003) 'SecA2 functions in the secretion of superoxide dismutase A and in the virulence of Mycobacterium tuberculosis', *Molecular microbiology*, 48(2), pp. 453-464.

Brunet, S., Thibault, P., Gagnon, E., Kearney, P., Bergeron, J.J. and Desjardins, M. (2003) 'Organelle proteomics: looking at less to see more', *Trends in cell biology*, 13(12), pp. 629-638.

Brunet, Y.R., Hénin, J., Celia, H. and Cascales, E. (2014) 'Type VI secretion and bacteriophage tail tubes share a common assembly pathway', *EMBO reports*, 15(3), pp. 315-321.

Burland, V., Shao, Y., Perna, N.T., Plunkett, G., Blattner, F.R. and Sofia, H.J. (1998) 'The complete DNA sequence and analysis of the large virulence plasmid of Escherichia coli O157: H7', *Nucleic acids research*, 26(18), pp. 4196-4204.

Burrus, V. and Waldor, M.K. (2004) 'Shaping bacterial genomes with integrative and conjugative elements', *Research in microbiology*, 155(5), pp. 376-386.

Busch, C., Hofmann, F., Selzer, J.r., Munro, S., Jeckel, D. and Aktories, K. (1998) 'A common motif of eukaryotic glycosyltransferases is essential for the enzyme activity of large clostridial cytotoxins', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(31), pp. 19566-19572.

Büttner, D. (2012) 'Protein export according to schedule: architecture, assembly, and regulation of type III secretion systems from plant-and animal-pathogenic bacteria', *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews*, 76(2), pp. 262-310.

Campellone, K.G., Giese, N., Tipper, O.J. and Leong, J.M. (2002) 'A tyrosine-phosphorylated 12-amino-acid sequence of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli Tir binds the host adaptor protein Nck and is required for Nck localization to actin pedestals', *Molecular microbiology*, 43(5), pp. 1227-1241.

Campos, M., Nilges, M., Cisneros, D.A. and Francetic, O. (2010) 'Detailed structural and assembly model of the type II secretion pilus from sparse data', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(29), pp. 13081-13086.

#### Bibliography

Cantey, J.R. and Blake, R. (1977) 'Diarrhea due to Escherichia coli in the rabbit: a novel mechanism', *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 135(3), pp. 454-462.

Carver, D.J., Aman, M.J. and Ravichandran, K.S. (2000) 'SHIP inhibits Akt activation in B cells through regulation of Akt membrane localization', *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology*, 96(4), pp. 1449-1456.

Cassady-Cain, R.L., Blackburn, E.A., Alsarraf, H., Dedic, E., Bease, A.G., Böttcher, B., Jørgensen, R., Wear, M. and Stevens, M.P. (2016) 'Biophysical characterization and activity of lymphostatin, a multifunctional virulence factor of attaching and effacing Escherichia coli', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 291(11), pp. 5803-5816.

Cassady-Cain, R.L., Blackburn, E.A., Bell, C.R., Elshina, E., Hope, J.C. and Stevens, M.P. (2017) 'Inhibition of antigen-specific and nonspecific stimulation of bovine T and B cells by lymphostatin from attaching and effacing Escherichia coli', *Infection and immunity*, 85(2).

Celli, J., Olivier, M. and Finlay, B.B. (2001) 'Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli mediates antiphagocytosis through the inhibition of PI 3-kinase-dependent pathways', *The EMBO journal*, 20(6), pp. 1245-1258.

Cepeda-Molero, M., Berger, C.N., Walsham, A.D., Ellis, S.J., Wemyss-Holden, S., Schüller, S., Frankel, G. and Fernández, L.Á. (2017) 'Attaching and effacing (A/E) lesion formation by enteropathogenic E. coli on human intestinal mucosa is dependent on non-LEE effectors', *PLoS pathogens*, 13(10), p. e1006706.

Cepeda-Molero, M., Schüller, S., Frankel, G. and Fernández, L.Á. (2020) 'Systematic Deletion of Type III Secretion System Effectors in Enteropathogenic E. coli Unveils the Role of Non-LEE Effectors in A/E Lesion Formation', in *E. coli Infection*. IntechOpen.

Chalhoub, N. and Baker, S.J. (2009) 'PTEN and the PI3-kinase pathway in cancer', *Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease*, 4, pp. 127-150.

Chandran, V., Fronzes, R., Duquerroy, S., Cronin, N., Navaza, J. and Waksman, G. (2009) 'Structure of the outer membrane complex of a type IV secretion system', *Nature*, 462(7276), pp. 1011-1015.

Chang, A.C. and Cohen, S.N. (1978) 'Construction and characterization of amplifiable multicopy DNA cloning vehicles derived from the P15A cryptic miniplasmid', *Journal of bacteriology*, 134(3), pp. 1141-1156.

Cho, H., Thorvaldsen, J.L., Chu, Q., Feng, F. and Birnbaum, M.J. (2001) 'Akt1/PKBα is required for normal growth but dispensable for maintenance of glucose homeostasis in mice', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(42), pp. 38349-38352.

Christie, P.J., Whitaker, N. and González-Rivera, C. (2014) 'Mechanism and structure of the bacterial type IV secretion systems', *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research*, 1843(8), pp. 1578-1591.

Cisneros, D.A., Pehau-Arnaudet, G. and Francetic, O. (2012) 'Heterologous assembly of type IV pili by a type II secretion system reveals the role of minor pilins in assembly initiation', *Molecular microbiology*, 86(4), pp. 805-818.

Clarke, S., Haigh, R., Freestone, P. and Williams, P. (2003) 'Virulence of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli, a global pathogen', *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 16(3), pp. 365-378.

Clements, A., Young, J.C., Constantinou, N. and Frankel, G. (2012) 'Infection strategies of enteric pathogenic Escherichia coli', *Gut microbes*, 3(2), pp. 71-87.

Coburn, B., Sekirov, I. and Finlay, B.B. (2007) 'Type III secretion systems and disease', *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 20(4), pp. 535-549.

Cornelis, G.R. (2006) 'The type III secretion injectisome', *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 4(11), pp. 811-825.

Corr, S.C., Gahan, C.C. and Hill, C. (2008) 'M-cells: origin, morphology and role in mucosal immunity and microbial pathogenesis', *FEMS Immunology & Medical Microbiology*, 52(1), pp. 2-12.

Corrêa-Oliveira, R., Fachi, J.L., Vieira, A., Sato, F.T. and Vinolo, M.A.R. (2016) 'Regulation of immune cell function by short-chain fatty acids', *Clinical & translational immunology*, 5(4), p. e73.

Costa, T.R., Felisberto-Rodrigues, C., Meir, A., Prevost, M.S., Redzej, A., Trokter, M. and Waksman, G. (2015) 'Secretion systems in Gram-negative bacteria: structural and mechanistic insights', *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 13(6), pp. 343-359.

Creasey, E.A., Delahay, R.M., Daniell, S.J. and Frankel, G. (2003) 'Yeast two-hybrid system survey of interactions between LEE-encoded proteins of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli', *Microbiology*, 149(8), pp. 2093-2106.

Crepin, V.F., Shaw, R., Abe, C.M., Knutton, S. and Frankel, G. (2005) 'Polarity of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli EspA filament assembly and protein secretion', *Journal of bacteriology*, 187(8), pp. 2881-2889.

Creuzburg, K., Giogha, C., Lung, T.W.F., Scott, N.E., Mühlen, S., Hartland, E.L. and Pearson, J.S. (2017) 'The type III effector NIeD from enteropathogenic Escherichia coli differentiates between host substrates p38 and JNK', *Infection and immunity*, 85(2).

Croxen, M.A. and Finlay, B.B. (2010) 'Molecular mechanisms of Escherichia coli pathogenicity', *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 8(1), pp. 26-38.

Croxen, M.A., Law, R.J., Scholz, R., Keeney, K.M., Wlodarska, M. and Finlay, B.B. (2013) 'Recent advances in understanding enteric pathogenic Escherichia coli', *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 26(4), pp. 822-880.

Dalbey, R.E. and Kuhn, A. (2012) 'Protein traffic in Gram-negative bacteria–how exported and secreted proteins find their way', *FEMS microbiology reviews*, 36(6), pp. 1023-1045.

Datta, S.R., Katsov, A., Hu, L., Petros, A., Fesik, S.W., Yaffe, M.B. and Greenberg, M.E. (2000) '14-3-3 proteins and survival kinases cooperate to inactivate BAD by BH3 domain phosphorylation', *Molecular cell*, 6(1), pp. 41-51.

Dautin, N. (2010) 'Serine protease autotransporters of enterobacteriaceae (SPATEs): biogenesis and function', *Toxins*, 2(6), pp. 1179-1206.

Deacon, V., Dziva, F., Van Diemen, P.M., Frankel, G. and Stevens, M.P. (2010) 'Efa-1/LifA mediates intestinal colonization of calves by enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli O26: H–in a manner independent of glycosyltransferase and cysteine protease motifs or effects on type III secretion', *Microbiology*, 156(8), pp. 2527-2536.

Dean, P. (2011) 'Functional domains and motifs of bacterial type III effector proteins and their roles in infection', *FEMS microbiology reviews*, 35(6), pp. 1100-1125.

Dean, P. and Kenny, B. (2004) 'Intestinal barrier dysfunction by enteropathogenic Escherichia coli is mediated by two effector molecules and a bacterial surface protein', *Molecular microbiology*, 54(3), pp. 665-675.

Dean, P. and Kenny, B. (2009) 'The effector repertoire of enteropathogenic E. coli: ganging up on the host cell', *Current opinion in microbiology*, 12(1), pp. 101-109.

Dean, P., Maresca, M., Schüller, S., Phillips, A.D. and Kenny, B. (2006) 'Potent diarrheagenic mechanism mediated by the cooperative action of three enteropathogenic Escherichia coliinjected effector proteins', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(6), pp. 1876-1881.

Dean, P., Mühlen, S., Quitard, S. and Kenny, B. (2010) 'The bacterial effectors EspG and EspG2 induce a destructive calpain activity that is kept in check by the co-delivered Tir effector', *Cellular microbiology*, 12(9), pp. 1308-1321.

Dean, P., Young, L., Quitard, S. and Kenny, B. (2013) 'Insights into the pathogenesis of enteropathogenic E. coli using an improved intestinal enterocyte model', *PloS one*, 8(1), p. e55284.

Deborah Chen, H. and Frankel, G. (2005) 'Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli: unravelling pathogenesis', *FEMS microbiology reviews*, 29(1), pp. 83-98.

Deng, W., Hong, B.Y., de Hoog, C.L., Stoynov, N., Li, Y., Foster, L.J. and Finlay, B.B. (2012) 'Quantitative proteomic analysis of type III secretome of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli reveals an expanded effector repertoire for attaching/effacing bacterial pathogens', *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics*, 11(9), pp. 692-709.

Deng, W., Puente, J.L., Gruenheid, S., Li, Y., Vallance, B.A., Vázquez, A., Barba, J., Ibarra, J.A., O'Donnell, P. and Metalnikov, P. (2004) 'Dissecting virulence: systematic and functional analyses of a pathogenicity island', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101(10), pp. 3597-3602.
Diehl, N. and Schaal, H. (2013) 'Make yourself at home: viral hijacking of the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway', *Viruses*, 5(12), pp. 3192-3212.

Diepold, A., Wiesand, U. and Cornelis, G.R. (2011) 'The assembly of the export apparatus (YscR, S, T, U, V) of the Yersinia type III secretion apparatus occurs independently of other structural components and involves the formation of an YscV oligomer', *Molecular microbiology*, 82(2), pp. 502-514.

Dobrindt, U., Hochhut, B., Hentschel, U. and Hacker, J. (2004) 'Genomic islands in pathogenic and environmental microorganisms', *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 2(5), pp. 414-424.

Dong, N., Liu, L. and Shao, F. (2010) 'A bacterial effector targets host DH-PH domain RhoGEFs and antagonizes macrophage phagocytosis', *The EMBO journal*, 29(8), pp. 1363-1376.

Donnenberg, M.S. and Kaper, J.B. (1991) 'Construction of an eae deletion mutant of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli by using a positive-selection suicide vector', *Infection and immunity*, 59(12), pp. 4310-4317.

Dziva, F., van Diemen, P.M., Stevens, M.P., Smith, A.J. and Wallis, T.S. (2004) 'Identification of Escherichia coli O157: H7 genes influencing colonization of the bovine gastrointestinal tract using signature-tagged mutagenesis', *Microbiology*, 150(11), pp. 3631-3645.

Elisa Drago-Serrano, M., Gavilanes Parra, S. and Angel Manjarrez-Hernández, H. (2006) 'EspC, an autotransporter protein secreted by enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC), displays protease activity on human hemoglobin', *FEMS microbiology letters*, 265(1), pp. 35-40.

Elliott, S.J., Krejany, E.O., Mellies, J.L., Robins-Browne, R.M., Sasakawa, C. and Kaper, J.B. (2001) 'EspG, a novel type III system-secreted protein from enteropathogenic Escherichia coli with similarities to VirA of Shigella flexneri', *Infection and immunity*, 69(6), p. 4027.

Elliott, S.J., O'Connell, C.B., Koutsouris, A., Brinkley, C., Donnenberg, M.S., Hecht, G. and Kaper, J.B. (2002) 'A gene from the locus of enterocyte effacement that is required for enteropathogenic Escherichia coli to increase tight-junction permeability encodes a chaperone for EspF', *Infection and immunity*, 70(5), pp. 2271-2277.

Elliott, S.J., Sperandio, V., Girón, J.A., Shin, S., Mellies, J.L., Wainwright, L., Hutcheson, S.W., McDaniel, T.K. and Kaper, J.B. (2000) 'The Locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE)-encoded regulator controls expression of both LEE-and non-LEE-encoded virulence factors in enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagicEscherichia coli', *Infection and immunity*, 68(11), pp. 6115-6126.

Elliott, S.J., Wainwright, L.A., McDaniel, T.K., Jarvis, K.G., Deng, Y.K., Lai, L.C., McNamara, B.P., Donnenberg, M.S. and Kaper, J.B. (1998) 'The complete sequence of the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE) from enteropathogenic Escherichia coli E2348/69', *Mol Microbiol*, 28(1), pp. 1-4.

Endicott, J.A., Noble, M.E. and Johnson, L.N. (2012) 'The structural basis for control of eukaryotic protein kinases', *Annu Rev Biochem*, 81, pp. 587-613.

Enjalbert, A. and Le Pechon-Vallee, C. (2003) 'Protein Kinases', Encyclopedia of Hormones

Escherich, T. (1988) 'The intestinal bacteria of the neonate and breast-fed infant', *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 10(6), pp. 1220-1225.

Fagundes-Neto, U. and Scaletsky, I.C.A. (2000) 'The gut at war: the consequences of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli infection as a factor of diarrhea and malnutrition', *Sao Paulo Medical Journal*, 118(1), pp. 21-29.

Fayard, E., Tintignac, L.A., Baudry, A. and Hemmings, B.A. (2005) 'Protein kinase B/Akt at a glance', *Journal of cell science*, 118(24), pp. 5675-5678.

Felisberto-Rodrigues, C., Durand, E., Aschtgen, M.-S., Blangy, S., Ortiz-Lombardia, M., Douzi, B., Cambillau, C. and Cascales, E. (2011) 'Towards a structural comprehension of bacterial type VI secretion systems: characterization of the TssJ-TssM complex of an Escherichia coli pathovar', *PLoS pathogens*, 7(11), p. e1002386.

Feria, J.M., García-Gómez, E., Espinosa, N., Minamino, T., Namba, K. and González-Pedrajo, B. (2012) 'Role of EscP (Orf16) in injectisome biogenesis and regulation of type III protein

secretion in enteropathogenic Escherichia coli', *Journal of bacteriology*, 194(22), pp. 6029-6045.

Franco, A.A., Cheng, R.K., Chung, G.-T., Wu, S., Oh, H.-B. and Sears, C.L. (1999) 'Molecular evolution of the pathogenicity island of enterotoxigenic Bacteroides fragilis strains', *Journal of bacteriology*, 181(21), pp. 6623-6633.

Galán, J.E. and Wolf-Watz, H. (2006) 'Protein delivery into eukaryotic cells by type III secretion machines', *Nature*, 444(7119), pp. 567-573.

Gao, W., Xiong, Y., Li, Q. and Yang, H. (2017) 'Inhibition of Toll-Like Receptor Signaling as a Promising Therapy for Inflammatory Diseases: A Journey from Molecular to Nano Therapeutics', *Frontiers in Physiology*, 8(508).

Gao, X., Wan, F., Mateo, K., Callegari, E., Wang, D., Deng, W., Puente, J., Li, F., Finlay, B.B. and Lenardo, M.J. (2009) 'Bacterial effector binding to ribosomal protein s3 subverts NF-κB function', *PLoS Pathog*, 5(12), p. e1000708.

Gao, X., Wang, X., Pham, T.H., Feuerbacher, L.A., Lubos, M.-L., Huang, M., Olsen, R., Mushegian, A., Slawson, C. and Hardwidge, P.R. (2013) 'NIeB, a bacterial effector with glycosyltransferase activity, targets GAPDH function to inhibit NF-κB activation', *Cell host & microbe*, 13(1), pp. 87-99.

Gao, Y., Moten, A. and Lin, H.-K. (2014) 'Akt: a new activation mechanism', *Cell research*, 24(7), pp. 785-786.

Gawenis, L.R., Stien, X., Shull, G.E., Schultheis, P.J., Woo, A.L., Walker, N.M. and Clarke, L.L. (2002) 'Intestinal NaCl transport in NHE2 and NHE3 knockout mice', *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 282(5), pp. G776-G784.

Gaytán, M.O., Martínez-Santos, V.I., Soto, E. and González-Pedrajo, B. (2016) 'Type three secretion system in attaching and effacing pathogens', *Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology*, 6, p. 129.

Gensollen, T., Iyer, S.S., Kasper, D.L. and Blumberg, R.S. (2016) 'How colonization by microbiota in early life shapes the immune system', *Science*, 352(6285), pp. 539-544.

Giacalone, M.J., Gentile, A.M., Lovitt, B.T., Berkley, N.L., Gunderson, C.W. and Surber, M.W. (2006) 'Toxic protein expression in Escherichia coli using a rhamnose-based tightly regulated and tunable promoter system', *Biotechniques*, 40(3), pp. 355-364.

Gibson, D.G., Young, L., Chuang, R.-Y., Venter, J.C., Hutchison, C.A. and Smith, H.O. (2009) 'Enzymatic assembly of DNA molecules up to several hundred kilobases', *Nature Methods*, 6(5), pp. 343-345.

Gill, R.K., Borthakur, A., Hodges, K., Turner, J.R., Clayburgh, D.R., Saksena, S., Zaheer, A., Ramaswamy, K., Hecht, G. and Dudeja, P.K. (2007) 'Mechanism underlying inhibition of intestinal apical Cl–/OH–exchange following infection with enteropathogenic E. coli', *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 117(2), pp. 428-437.

Giron, J.A., Ho, A. and Schoolnik, G.K. (1991) 'An inducible bundle-forming pilus of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli', *Science*, 254(5032), pp. 710-713.

Glotfelty, L.G. and Hecht, G.A. (2012) 'Enteropathogenic E. coli effectors EspG1/G2 disrupt tight junctions: new roles and mechanisms', *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1258, p. 149.

Goldberg, T., Rost, B. and Bromberg, Y. (2016) 'Computational prediction shines light on type III secretion origins', *Scientific reports*, 6, p. 34516.

Goosney, D.L., Celli, J., Kenny, B. and Finlay, B.B. (1999) 'Enteropathogenic Escherichia coliinhibits phagocytosis', *Infection and immunity*, 67(2), pp. 490-495.

Goosney, D.L., DeVinney, R. and Finlay, B.B. (2001) 'Recruitment of cytoskeletal and signaling proteins to enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli pedestals', *Infection and immunity*, 69(5), pp. 3315-3322.

Gray, M.D., Bagdasarian, M., Hol, W.G. and Sandkvist, M. (2011) 'In vivo cross-linking of EpsG to EpsL suggests a role for EpsL as an ATPase-pseudopilin coupling protein in the Type II secretion system of Vibrio cholerae', *Molecular microbiology*, 79(3), pp. 786-798.

Green, E.R. and Mecsas, J. (2016) 'Bacterial secretion systems: an overview', *Microbiology spectrum*, 4(1), p. 4.1. 13.

Griffin, R.J., Moloney, A., Kelliher, M., Johnston, J.A., Ravid, R., Dockery, P., O'Connor, R. and O'Neill, C. (2005) 'Activation of Akt/PKB, increased phosphorylation of Akt substrates and loss and altered distribution of Akt and PTEN are features of Alzheimer's disease pathology', *J Neurochem*, 93(1), pp. 105-17.

Gujral, T., Kumar, A., Priyamvada, S., Saksena, S., Gill, R.K., Hodges, K., Alrefai, W.A., Hecht, G.A. and Dudeja, P.K. (2015) 'Mechanisms of DRA recycling in intestinal epithelial cells: effect of enteropathogenic E. coli', *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 309(12), pp. C835-C846.

Guttman, J.A. and Finlay, B.B. (2009) 'Tight junctions as targets of infectious agents', *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes*, 1788(4), pp. 832-841.

Guttman, J.A., Samji, F.N., Li, Y., Deng, W., Lin, A. and Finlay, B.B. (2007) 'Aquaporins contribute to diarrhoea caused by attaching and effacing bacterial pathogens', *Cellular microbiology*, 9(1), pp. 131-141.

Hacker, J., Hochhut, B., Middendorf, B., Schneider, G., Buchrieser, C., Gottschalk, G. and Dobrindt, U. (2004) 'Pathogenomics of mobile genetic elements of toxigenic bacteria', *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 293(7-8), pp. 453-461.

Hacker, J. and Kaper, J.B. (1999) 'The concept of pathogenicity islands', in *Pathogenicity* islands and other mobile virulence elements. American Society of Microbiology, pp. 1-11.

Hacker, J. and Kaper, J.B. (2000) 'Pathogenicity islands and the evolution of microbes', *Annual Reviews in Microbiology*, 54(1), pp. 641-679.

Hamaguchi, M., Hamada, D., Suzuki, K.N., Sakata, I. and Yanagihara, I. (2008) 'Molecular basis of actin reorganization promoted by binding of enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli EspB to  $\alpha$ -catenin', *The FEBS journal*, 275(24), pp. 6260-6267.

Hartl, F.-U., Lecker, S., Schiebel, E., Hendrick, J.P. and Wickner, W. (1990) 'The binding cascade of SecB to SecA to SecYE mediates preprotein targeting to the E. coli plasma membrane', *Cell*, 63(2), pp. 269-279.

Hauser, A.R. (2009) 'The type III secretion system of Pseudomonas aeruginosa: infection by injection', *Nature reviews. Microbiology*, 7(9), pp. 654-665.

Hayashi, T., Makino, K., Ohnishi, M., Kurokawa, K., Ishii, K. and Shinagawa, H. (2001) 'Complete genome sequence of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157: H7 and genomic comparison with a laboratory strain K-12. DNA Res', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, pp. 17043–17048.

Hecht, G., Hodges, K., Gill, R.K., Kear, F., Tyagi, S., Malakooti, J., Ramaswamy, K. and Dudeja, P.K. (2004) 'Differential regulation of Na+/H+ exchange isoform activities by enteropathogenic E. coli in human intestinal epithelial cells', *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 287(2), pp. G370-G378.

Heinemann, U. and Schuetz, A. (2019) 'Structural features of tight-junction proteins', *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(23), p. 6020.

Hemrajani, C., Berger, C.N., Robinson, K.S., Marchès, O., Mousnier, A. and Frankel, G. (2010) 'NIeH effectors interact with Bax inhibitor-1 to block apoptosis during enteropathogenic Escherichia coli infection', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(7), pp. 3129-3134.

Hers, I., Vincent, E.E. and Tavaré, J.M. (2011) 'Akt signalling in health and disease', *Cellular signalling*, 23(10), pp. 1515-1527.

Hill, M. (1997) 'Intestinal flora and endogenous vitamin synthesis', *European journal of cancer prevention: the official journal of the European Cancer Prevention Organisation (ECP)*, 6, pp. S43-5.

Hodges, K., Alto, N.M., Ramaswamy, K., Dudeja, P.K. and Hecht, G. (2008) 'The enteropathogenic Escherichia coli effector protein EspF decreases sodium hydrogen exchanger 3 activity', *Cellular microbiology*, 10(8), pp. 1735-1745.

Huang, Z., Sutton, S.E., Wallenfang, A.J., Orchard, R.C., Wu, X., Feng, Y., Chai, J. and Alto, N.M. (2009) 'Structural insights into host GTPase isoform selection by a family of bacterial GEF mimics', *Nature structural & molecular biology*, 16(8), p. 853.

Hugon, P., Dufour, J.-C., Colson, P., Fournier, P.-E., Sallah, K. and Raoult, D. (2015) 'A comprehensive repertoire of prokaryotic species identified in human beings', *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 15(10), pp. 1211-1219.

Hyland, R.M., Sun, J., Griener, T.P., Mulvey, G.L., Klassen, J.S., Donnenberg, M.S. and Armstrong, G.D. (2008) 'The bundlin pilin protein of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli is an N-acetyllactosamine-specific lectin', *Cellular microbiology*, 10(1), pp. 177-187.

Ide, T., Laarmann, S., Greune, L., Schillers, H., Oberleithner, H. and Schmidt, M.A. (2001) 'Characterization of translocation pores inserted into plasma membranes by type III-secreted Esp proteins of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli', *Cellular microbiology*, 3(10), pp. 669-679. Iguchi, A., Thomson, N.R., Ogura, Y., Saunders, D., Ooka, T., Henderson, I.R., Harris, D., Asadulghani, M., Kurokawa, K. and Dean, P. (2009) 'Complete genome sequence and comparative genome analysis of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli O127: H6 strain E2348/69', *Journal of bacteriology*, 191(1), pp. 347-354.

lizumi, Y., Sagara, H., Kabe, Y., Azuma, M., Kume, K., Ogawa, M., Nagai, T., Gillespie, P.G., Sasakawa, C. and Handa, H. (2007) 'The enteropathogenic E. coli effector EspB facilitates microvillus effacing and antiphagocytosis by inhibiting myosin function', *Cell host & microbe*, 2(6), pp. 383-392.

Inman, L. and Cantey, J. (1983) 'Specific adherence of Escherichia coli (strain RDEC-1) to membranous (M) cells of the Peyer's patch in Escherichia coli diarrhea in the rabbit', *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 71(1), pp. 1-8.

Jepson, M.A., Pellegrin, S., Peto, L., Banbury, D.N., Leard, A.D., Mellor, H. and Kenny, B. (2003) 'Synergistic roles for the Map and Tir effector molecules in mediating uptake of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) into non-phagocytic cells', *Cellular microbiology*, 5(11), pp. 773-783.

Jerse, A.E., Yu, J., Tall, B.D. and Kaper, J.B. (1990) 'A genetic locus of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli necessary for the production of attaching and effacing lesions on tissue culture cells', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 87(20), pp. 7839-7843.

Junker, M., Besingi, R.N. and Clark, P.L. (2009) 'Vectorial transport and folding of an autotransporter virulence protein during outer membrane secretion', *Molecular microbiology*, 71(5), pp. 1323-1332.

Kanack, K.J., Crawford, J.A., Tatsuno, I., Karmali, M.A. and Kaper, J.B. (2005) 'SepZ/EspZ is secreted and translocated into HeLa cells by the enteropathogenic Escherichia coli type III secretion system', *Infect Immun*, 73(7), pp. 4327-37.

Kaper, J.B., Nataro, J.P. and Mobley, H.L. (2004) 'Pathogenic escherichia coli', *Nature reviews microbiology*, 2(2), pp. 123-140.

Kenny, B. (1999) 'Phosphorylation of tyrosine 474 of the enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) Tir receptor molecule is essential for actin nucleating activity and is preceded by additional host modifications', *Molecular microbiology*, 31(4), pp. 1229-1241.

Kenny, B. (2002) 'Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC)–a crafty subversive little bug', *Microbiology*, 148(7), pp. 1967-1978.

Kenny, B., Abe, A., Stein, M. and Finlay, B.B. (1997a) 'Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli protein secretion is induced in response to conditions similar to those in the gastrointestinal tract', *Infection and immunity*, 65(7), pp. 2606-2612.

Kenny, B. and Dean, P. (2013) 'Do Caco-2 subclones provide more appropriate in vitro models for understanding how human enteric pathogens cause disease?', *Future microbiology*, 8(6), pp. 701-703.

Kenny, B., DeVinney, R., Stein, M., Reinscheid, D.J., Frey, E.A. and Finlay, B.B. (1997b) 'Enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC) transfers its receptor for intimate adherence into mammalian cells', *Cell*, 91(4), pp. 511-520.

Kenny, B. and Finlay, B.B. (1995) 'Protein secretion by enteropathogenic Escherichia coli is essential for transducing signals to epithelial cells', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 92(17), pp. 7991-7995.

Kenny, B., Haigh, R. and Holland, I. (1991) 'Analysis of the haemolysin transport process through the secretion from Escherichia coli of PCM, CAT or  $\beta$ -galactosidase fused to the Hly C-terminal signal domain', *Molecular microbiology*, 5(10), pp. 2557-2568.

Kenny, B. and Jepson, M. (2000) 'Targeting of an enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) effector protein to host mitochondria', *Cellular microbiology*, 2(6), pp. 579-590.

Kenny, B. and Warawa, J. (2001) 'Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) Tir receptor molecule does not undergo full modification when introduced into host cells by EPEC-independent mechanisms', *Infection and immunity*, 69(3), pp. 1444-1453.

Klapproth, J.-M.A. (2010a) 'The role of lymphostatin/ÉHEC factor for adherence-1 in the pathogenesis of gram negative infection', *Toxins*, 2(5), pp. 954-962.

Klapproth, J.-M.A., Sasaki, M., Sherman, M., Babbin, B., Donnenberg, M.S., Fernandes, P.J., Scaletsky, I.C., Kalman, D., Nusrat, A. and Williams, I.R. (2005) 'Citrobacter rodentium lifA/efa1 is essential for colonic colonization and crypt cell hyperplasia in vivo', *Infection and immunity*, 73(3), pp. 1441-1451.

Klapproth, J.-M.A., Scaletsky, I.C., McNamara, B.P., Lai, L.-C., Malstrom, C., James, S.P. and Donnenberg, M.S. (2000) 'A large toxin from pathogenic Escherichia coli strains that inhibits lymphocyte activation', *Infection and immunity*, 68(4), pp. 2148-2155.

Klapproth, J.M. (2010b) 'The role of lymphostatin/EHEC factor for adherence-1 in the pathogenesis of gram negative infection', *Toxins (Basel)*, 2(5), pp. 954-62.

Klapproth, J.M., Donnenberg, M.S., Abraham, J.M. and James, S.P. (1996) 'Products of enteropathogenic E. coli inhibit lymphokine production by gastrointestinal lymphocytes', *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 271(5), pp. G841-G848.

Klapproth, J.M., Donnenberg, M.S., Abraham, J.M., Mobley, H.L. and James, S.P. (1995) 'Products of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli inhibit lymphocyte activation and lymphokine production', *Infection and immunity*, 63(6), pp. 2248-2254.

Knutton, S. (1995) 'Cellular responses to enteropathogenic Escherichia coli infection', *Bioscience reports*, 15(6), pp. 469-479.

Knutton, S., Rosenshine, I., Pallen, M.J., Nisan, I., Neves, B.C., Bain, C., Wolff, C., Dougan, G. and Frankel, G. (1998) 'A novel EspA-associated surface organelle of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli involved in protein translocation into epithelial cells', *The EMBO journal*, 17(8), pp. 2166-2176.

Knutton, S., Shaw, R.K., Anantha, R.P., Donnenberg, M.S. and Zorgani, A.A. (1999) 'The type IV bundle-forming pilus of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli undergoes dramatic alterations in structure associated with bacterial adherence, aggregation and dispersal', *Molecular microbiology*, 33(3), pp. 499-509.

Kodama, T., Akeda, Y., Kono, G., Takahashi, A., Imura, K., Iida, T. and Honda, T. (2002) 'The EspB protein of enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli interacts directly with  $\alpha$ -catenin', *Cellular microbiology*, 4(4), pp. 213-222.

Koronakis, V., Eswaran, J. and Hughes, C. (2004) 'Structure and function of ToIC: the bacterial exit duct for proteins and drugs', *Annual review of biochemistry*, 73(1), pp. 467-489.

Korotkov, K.V., Sandkvist, M. and Hol, W.G. (2012) 'The type II secretion system: biogenesis, molecular architecture and mechanism', *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 10(5), pp. 336-351.

Kostich, M., English, J., Madison, V., Gheyas, F., Wang, L., Qiu, P., Greene, J. and Laz, T.M. (2002) 'Human members of the eukaryotic protein kinase family', *Genome biology*, 3(9), pp. 1-12.

Laemmli, U.K. (1970) 'Cleavage of Structural Proteins during the Assembly of the Head of Bacteriophage T4', *Nature*, 227(5259), pp. 680-685.

Lai, Y., Rosenshine, I., Leong, J.M. and Frankel, G. (2013) 'Intimate host attachment: enteropathogenic and enterohaemorrhagic E scherichia coli', *Cellular microbiology*, 15(11), pp. 1796-1808.

Law, R.J., Gur-Arie, L., Rosenshine, I. and Finlay, B.B. (2013) 'In vitro and in vivo model systems for studying enteropathogenic Escherichia coli infections', *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine*, 3(3), p. a009977.

LeBlanc, J.G., Milani, C., De Giori, G.S., Sesma, F., Van Sinderen, D. and Ventura, M. (2013) 'Bacteria as vitamin suppliers to their host: a gut microbiota perspective', *Current opinion in biotechnology*, 24(2), pp. 160-168. Leiman, P.G., Basler, M., Ramagopal, U.A., Bonanno, J.B., Sauder, J.M., Pukatzki, S., Burley, S.K., Almo, S.C. and Mekalanos, J.J. (2009) 'Type VI secretion apparatus and phage tailassociated protein complexes share a common evolutionary origin', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(11), pp. 4154-4159.

Levine, M., Nalin, D., Hornick, R., Bergquist, E., Waterman, D., Young, C., Sotman, S. and Rowe, B. (1978) 'Escherichia coli strains that cause diarrhoea but do not produce heat-labile or heat-stable enterotoxins and are non-invasive', *The Lancet*, 311(8074), pp. 1119-1122.

Levine, M.M., Nataro, J.P., Karch, H., Baldini, M.M., Kaper, J.B., Black, R.E., Clements, M.L. and O'Brien, A.D. (1985) 'The diarrheal response of humans to some classic serotypes of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli is dependent on a plasmid encoding an

enteropathogenic Escherichia con is dependent on a plasmid encoding an enteroadhesiveness factor', *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 152(3), pp. 550-559. Levton, D.L., Rossiter, A.E. and Henderson, I.R. (2012) 'From self sufficiency to dependence:

Leyton, D.L., Rossiter, A.E. and Henderson, I.R. (2012) 'From self sufficiency to dependence: mechanisms and factors important for autotransporter biogenesis', *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 10(3), pp. 213-225.

Liao, D.-H., Zhao, J.-B. and Gregersen, H. (2009) 'Gastrointestinal tract modelling in health and disease', *World Journal of Gastroenterology: WJG*, 15(2), p. 169.

Liao, Y. and Hung, M.-C. (2010) 'Physiological regulation of Akt activity and stability', *American journal of translational research*, 2(1), p. 19.

Libertucci, J. and Young, V.B. (2019) 'The role of the microbiota in infectious diseases', *Nature Microbiology*, 4(1), pp. 35-45.

Lipton, J.O. and Sahin, M. (2014) 'The neurology of mTOR', Neuron, 84(2), pp. 275-291.

Little, D.J. and Coombes, B.K. (2018) 'Molecular basis for CesT recognition of type III secretion effectors in enteropathogenic Escherichia coli', *PLoS pathogens*, 14(8), p. e1007224.

Litvak, Y., Sharon, S., Hyams, M., Zhang, L., Kobi, S., Katsowich, N., Dishon, S., Nussbaum, G., Dong, N. and Shao, F. (2017) 'Epithelial cells detect functional type III secretion system of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli through a novel NF-κB signaling pathway', *PLoS pathogens*, 13(7), p. e1006472.

Liu, L., Oza, S., Hogan, D., Chu, Y., Perin, J., Zhu, J., Lawn, J.E., Cousens, S., Mathers, C. and Black, R.E. (2016) 'Global, regional, and national causes of under-5 mortality in 2000–15: an updated systematic analysis with implications for the Sustainable Development Goals', *The Lancet*, 388(10063), pp. 3027-3035.

Lodish, H., Berk, A., Zipursky, S.L., Matsudaira, P., Baltimore, D. and Darnell, J. (2000) 'Intracellular ion environment and membrane electric potential', in *Molecular Cell Biology. 4th edition*. WH Freeman.

Louis, P. and Flint, H.J. (2017) 'Formation of propionate and butyrate by the human colonic microbiota', *Environmental microbiology*, 19(1), pp. 29-41.

Low, D., David, V., Lark, D., Schoolnik, G. and Falkow, S. (1984) 'Gene clusters governing the production of hemolysin and mannose-resistant hemagglutination are closely linked in Escherichia coli serotype O4 and O6 isolates from urinary tract infections', *Infection and immunity*, 43(1), pp. 353-358.

Luo, W. and Donnenberg, M.S. (2011) 'Interactions and predicted host membrane topology of the enteropathogenic Escherichia coli translocator protein EspB', *Journal of bacteriology*, 193(12), pp. 2972-2980.

Madkour, A.Z.H. (2017) *Studies on virulence-critical proteins of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC)*. Newcastle University [Online]. Available at: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10443/3942</u>.

Makino, K., Ishii, K., Yasunaga, T., Hattori, M., Yokoyama, K., Yutsudo, C.H., Kubota, Y., Yamaichi, Y., Iida, T. and Yamamoto, K. (1998) 'Complete nucleotide sequences of 93-kb and 3.3-kb plasmids of an enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157: H7 derived from Sakai outbreak', *DNA Research*, 5(1), pp. 1-9.

Malladi, V., Puthenedam, M., Williams, P.H. and Balakrishnan, A. (2004) 'Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli outer membrane proteins induce iNOS by activation of NF-κB and MAP kinases', *Inflammation*, 28(6), pp. 345-353.

Manjarrez-Hernandez, H.A., Baldwin, T.J., Williams, P.H., Haigh, R., Knutton, S. and Aitken, A. (1996) 'Phosphorylation of myosin light chain at distinct sites and its association with the

cytoskeleton during enteropathogenic Escherichia coli infection', *Infection and immunity*, 64(6), pp. 2368-2370.

Manning, B.D. and Cantley, L.C. (2007) 'AKT/PKB signaling: navigating downstream', *Cell*, 129(7), pp. 1261-1274.

Manning, G., Whyte, D.B., Martinez, R., Hunter, T. and Sudarsanam, S. (2002) 'The protein kinase complement of the human genome', *Science*, 298(5600), pp. 1912-1934.

Marchès, O., Covarelli, V., Dahan, S., Cougoule, C., Bhatta, P., Frankel, G. and Caron, E. (2008) 'EspJ of enteropathogenic and enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli inhibits opsono-phagocytosis', *Cellular microbiology*, 10(5), pp. 1104-1115.

Martens, J.-H., Barg, H., Warren, M.a. and Jahn, D. (2002) 'Microbial production of vitamin B 12', *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, 58(3), pp. 275-285.

Martinez-Argudo, I., Sands, C. and Jepson, M.A. (2007) 'Translocation of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli across an in vitro M cell model is regulated by its type III secretion system', *Cellular microbiology*, 9(6), pp. 1538-1546.

Matsuzawa, T., Kuwae, A., Yoshida, S., Sasakawa, C. and Abe, A. (2004) 'Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli activates the RhoA signaling pathway via the stimulation of GEF-H1', *The EMBO journal*, 23(17), pp. 3570-3582.

McDaniel, T.K., Jarvis, K.G., Donnenberg, M.S. and Kaper, J.B. (1995) 'A genetic locus of enterocyte effacement conserved among diverse enterobacterial pathogens', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 92(5), pp. 1664-1668.

McDaniel, T.K. and Kaper, J.B. (1997) 'A cloned pathogenicity island from enteropathogenic Escherichia coli confers the attaching and effacing phenotype on E. coli K-12', *Molecular microbiology*, 23(2), pp. 399-407.

McNamara, B.P., Koutsouris, A., O'Connell, C.B., Nougayréde, J.-P., Donnenberg, M.S. and Hecht, G. (2001) 'Translocated EspF protein from enteropathogenic Escherichia coli disrupts host intestinal barrier function', *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 107(5), pp. 621-629.

Mellies, J.L., Elliott, S.J., Sperandio, V., Donnenberg, M.S. and Kaper, J.B. (1999) 'The Per regulon of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli: identification of a regulatory cascade and a novel transcriptional activator, the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE)-encoded regulator (Ler)', *Molecular microbiology*, 33(2), pp. 296-306.

Mills, A. (2014) 'Health care systems in low-and middle-income countries', *New England Journal of Medicine*, 370(6), pp. 552-557.

Mills, E., Baruch, K., Aviv, G., Nitzan, M. and Rosenshine, I. (2013) 'Dynamics of the type III secretion system activity of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli', *MBio*, 4(4).

Mills, E., Baruch, K., Charpentier, X., Kobi, S. and Rosenshine, I. (2008) 'Real-time analysis of effector translocation by the type III secretion system of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli', *Cell host & microbe*, 3(2), pp. 104-113.

Misra, A., George, B., Rajmohan, R., Jain, N., Wong, M.H., Kambadur, R. and Thanabalu, T. (2012) 'Insulin Receptor Substrate protein 53 kDa (IRSp53) is a negative regulator of myogenic differentiation', *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology*, 44(6), pp. 928-941.

Mogensen, J.E. and Otzen, D.E. (2005) 'Interactions between folding factors and bacterial outer membrane proteins', *Molecular microbiology*, 57(2), pp. 326-346.

Moon, H., Whipp, S., Argenzio, R., Levine, M. and Giannella, R. (1983) 'Attaching and effacing activities of rabbit and human enteropathogenic Escherichia coli in pig and rabbit intestines', *Infection and immunity*, 41(3), pp. 1340-1351.

Moraga, P. and Collaborators, G.C.o.D. (2017) 'Global, regional, and national age-sex specific mortality for 264 causes of death, 1980-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016', *The Lancet*, 390(10100), pp. 1151-1210.

Morrison, D.J. and Preston, T. (2016) 'Formation of short chain fatty acids by the gut microbiota and their impact on human metabolism', *Gut microbes*, 7(3), pp. 189-200.

Mougous, J.D., Cuff, M.E., Raunser, S., Shen, A., Zhou, M., Gifford, C.A., Goodman, A.L., Joachimiak, G., Ordoñez, C.L. and Lory, S. (2006) 'A virulence locus of Pseudomonas aeruginosa encodes a protein secretion apparatus', *Science*, 312(5779), pp. 1526-1530.

Mühlen, S., Ruchaud-Sparagano, M.-H. and Kenny, B. (2011) 'Proteasome-independent degradation of canonical NFkB complex components by the NIeC protein of pathogenic Escherichia coli', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(7), pp. 5100-5107.

Müller, M. (2005) 'Twin-arginine-specific protein export in Escherichia coli', *Research in microbiology*, 156(2), pp. 131-136.

Mundy, R., Pickard, D., Wilson, R.K., Simmons, C.P., Dougan, G. and Frankel, G. (2003) 'Identification of a novel type IV pilus gene cluster required for gastrointestinal colonization of Citrobacter rodentium', *Molecular microbiology*, 48(3), pp. 795-809.

Musso, G., Gambino, R. and Cassader, M. (2010) 'Obesity, diabetes, and gut microbiota: the hygiene hypothesis expanded?', *Diabetes care*, 33(10), pp. 2277-2284.

Muza-Moons, M.M., Schneeberger, E.E. and Hecht, G.A. (2004) 'Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli infection leads to appearance of aberrant tight junctions strands in the lateral membrane of intestinal epithelial cells', *Cellular microbiology*, 6(8), pp. 783-793.

Nadler, C., Baruch, K., Kobi, S., Mills, E., Haviv, G., Farago, M., Alkalay, I., Bartfeld, S., Meyer, T.F. and Ben-Neriah, Y. (2010) 'The type III secretion effector NIeE inhibits NF-κB activation', *PLoS Pathog*, 6(1), p. e1000743.

Nagai, T., Abe, A. and Sasakawa, C. (2005) 'Targeting of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli EspF to host mitochondria is essential for bacterial pathogenesis: critical role of the 16th leucine residue in EspF', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(4), pp. 2998-3011.

Nakano, H., Kawakami, Y. and Nishimura, H. (1992) 'Secretion of genetically-engineered dihydrofolate reductase from Escherichia coli using an E. coli α-hemolysin membrane translocation system', *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, 37(6), pp. 765-771.

Natale, P., Brüser, T. and Driessen, A.J. (2008) 'Sec-and Tat-mediated protein secretion across the bacterial cytoplasmic membrane—distinct translocases and mechanisms', *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Biomembranes*, 1778(9), pp. 1735-1756.

Nataro, J.P. and Kaper, J.B. (1998) 'Diarrheagenic escherichia coli', *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 11(1), pp. 142-201.

Natividad, J.M. and Verdu, E.F. (2013) 'Modulation of intestinal barrier by intestinal microbiota: pathological and therapeutic implications', *Pharmacological research*, 69(1), pp. 42-51.

Neish, A.S. (2009) 'Microbes in gastrointestinal health and disease', *Gastroenterology*, 136(1), pp. 65-80.

Newton, H.J., Pearson, J.S., Badea, L., Kelly, M., Lucas, M., Holloway, G., Wagstaff, K.M., Dunstone, M.A., Sloan, J. and Whisstock, J.C. (2010) 'The type III effectors NIeE and NIeB from enteropathogenic E. coli and OspZ from Shigella block nuclear translocation of NF-κB p65', *PLoS pathogens*, 6(5), p. e1000898.

Nicholls, L., Grant, T.H. and Robins-Browne, R.M. (2000a) 'Identification of a novel genetic locus that is required for in vitro adhesion of a clinical isolate of enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli to epithelial cells', *Mol Microbiol*, 35(2), pp. 275-88.

Nicholls, L., Grant, T.H. and Robins-Browne, R.M. (2000b) 'Identification of a novel genetic locus that is required for in vitro adhesion of a clinical isolate of enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli to epithelial cells', *Molecular microbiology*, 35(2), pp. 275-288.

Nisa, S., Hazen, T.H., Assatourian, L., Nougayrède, J.-P., Rasko, D.A. and Donnenberg, M.S. (2013) 'In vitro evolution of an archetypal enteropathogenic Escherichia coli strain', *Journal of bacteriology*, 195(19), pp. 4476-4483.

Nivaskumar, M., Bouvier, G., Campos, M., Nadeau, N., Yu, X., Egelman, E.H., Nilges, M. and Francetic, O. (2014) 'Distinct docking and stabilization steps of the pseudopilus conformational transition path suggest rotational assembly of type IV pilus-like fibers', *Structure*, 22(5), pp. 685-696.

Novick, R.P., Christie, G.E. and Penadés, J.R. (2010) 'The phage-related chromosomal islands of Gram-positive bacteria', *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 8(8), pp. 541-551.

O'Connell, C.B., Creasey, E.A., Knutton, S., Elliott, S., Crowther, L.J., Luo, W., Albert, M.J., Kaper, J.B., Frankel, G. and Donnenberg, M.S. (2004) 'SepL, a protein required for enteropathogenic Escherichia coli type III translocation, interacts with secretion component SepD', *Molecular microbiology*, 52(6), pp. 1613-1625.

Ogino, T., Ohno, R., Sekiya, K., Kuwae, A., Matsuzawa, T., Nonaka, T., Fukuda, H., Imajoh-Ohmi, S. and Abe, A. (2006) 'Assembly of the type III secretion apparatus of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli', *Journal of bacteriology*, 188(8), pp. 2801-2811.

Ogura, Y., Abe, H., Katsura, K., Kurokawa, K., Asadulghani, M., Iguchi, A., Ooka, T., Nakayama, K., Yamashita, A. and Hattori, M. (2008) 'Systematic identification and sequence analysis of the genomic islands of the enteropathogenic Escherichia coli strain B171-8 by the combined use of whole-genome PCR scanning and fosmid mapping', *Journal of bacteriology*, 190(21), pp. 6948-6960.

Owaga, E., Hsieh, R.-H., Mugendi, B., Masuku, S., Shih, C.-K. and Chang, J.-S. (2015) 'Th17 cells as potential probiotic therapeutic targets in inflammatory bowel diseases', *International journal of molecular sciences*, 16(9), pp. 20841-20858.

Pallen, M.J., Beatson, S.A. and Bailey, C.M. (2005) 'Bioinformatics analysis of the locus for enterocyte effacement provides novel insights into type-III secretion', *BMC microbiology*, 5(1), p. 9.

Papanikou, E., Karamanou, S. and Economou, A. (2007) 'Bacterial protein secretion through the translocase nanomachine', *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 5(11), pp. 839-851.

Papatheodorou, P., Domańska, G., Oxle, M., Mathieu, J., Selchow, O., Kenny, B. and Rassow, J. (2006) 'The enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) Map effector is imported into the mitochondrial matrix by the TOM/Hsp70 system and alters organelle morphology', *Cell Microbiol*, 8(4), pp. 677-89.

Pearce, L.R., Komander, D. and Alessi, D.R. (2010) 'The nuts and bolts of AGC protein kinases', *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology*, 11(1), pp. 9-22.

Pearson, J.S., Giogha, C., Mühlen, S., Nachbur, U., Pham, C.L., Zhang, Y., Hildebrand, J.M., Oates, C.V., Lung, T.W.F. and Ingle, D. (2017) 'EspL is a bacterial cysteine protease effector that cleaves RHIM proteins to block necroptosis and inflammation', *Nature microbiology*, 2(4), pp. 1-10.

Peralta-Ramírez, J., Hernandez, J.M., Manning-Cela, R., Luna-Muñoz, J., Garcia-Tovar, C., Nougayréde, J.-P., Oswald, E. and Navarro-Garcia, F. (2008) 'EspF Interacts with nucleation-promoting factors to recruit junctional proteins into pedestals for pedestal maturation and disruption of paracellular permeability', *Infection and immunity*, 76(9), pp. 3854-3868.

Perna, N.T., Plunkett, G., Burland, V., Mau, B., Glasner, J.D., Rose, D.J., Mayhew, G.F., Evans, P.S., Gregor, J. and Kirkpatrick, H.A. (2001) 'Genome sequence of enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157: H7', *Nature*, 409(6819), pp. 529-533.

Petty, N.K., Bulgin, R., Crepin, V.F., Cerdeño-Tárraga, A.M., Schroeder, G.N., Quail, M.A., Lennard, N., Corton, C., Barron, A. and Clark, L. (2010) 'The Citrobacter rodentium genome sequence reveals convergent evolution with human pathogenic Escherichia coli', *Journal of bacteriology*, 192(2), pp. 525-538.

Pham, T.H., Gao, X., Tsai, K., Olsen, R., Wan, F. and Hardwidge, P.R. (2012) 'Functional differences and interactions between the Escherichia coli type III secretion system effectors NIeH1 and NIeH2', *Infection and immunity*, 80(6), pp. 2133-2140.

Phillips, N., Hayward, R.D. and Koronakis, V. (2004) 'Phosphorylation of the enteropathogenic E. coli receptor by the Src-family kinase c-Fyn triggers actin pedestal formation', *Nature cell biology*, 6(7), pp. 618-625.

Pinaud, L., Sansonetti, P.J. and Phalipon, A. (2018) 'Host Cell Targeting by Enteropathogenic Bacteria T3SS Effectors', *Trends Microbiol*, 26(4), pp. 266-283.

Pompei, A., Cordisco, L., Amaretti, A., Zanoni, S., Matteuzzi, D. and Rossi, M. (2007) 'Folate production by bifidobacteria as a potential probiotic property', *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 73(1), pp. 179-185.

Pop, O., Martin, U., Abel, C. and Müller, J.r.P. (2002) 'The twin-arginine signal peptide of PhoD and the TatAd/Cd proteins of Bacillus subtilis form an autonomous Tat translocation system', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(5), pp. 3268-3273.

Puente, J.L., Bieber, D., Ramer, S.W., Murray, W. and Schoolnik, G.K. (1996) 'The bundleforming pili of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli: transcriptional regulation by environmental signals', *Molecular microbiology*, 20(1), pp. 87-100.

Pukatzki, S., Ma, A.T., Sturtevant, D., Krastins, B., Sarracino, D., Nelson, W.C., Heidelberg, J.F. and Mekalanos, J.J. (2006) 'Identification of a conserved bacterial protein secretion system in Vibrio cholerae using the Dictyostelium host model system', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(5), pp. 1528-1533.

Py, B., Loiseau, L. and Barras, F. (2001) 'An inner membrane platform in the type II secretion machinery of Gram-negative bacteria', *EMBO reports*, 2(3), pp. 244-248.

Quitard, S., Dean, P., Maresca, M. and Kenny, B. (2006) 'The enteropathogenic Escherichia coli EspF effector molecule inhibits PI-3 kinase-mediated uptake independently of mitochondrial targeting', *Cellular microbiology*, 8(6), pp. 972-981.

Ramu, T., Prasad, M.E., Connors, E., Mishra, A., Thomassin, J.-L., Leblanc, J., Rainey, J.K. and Thomas, N.A. (2013) 'A novel C-terminal region within the multicargo type III secretion chaperone CesT contributes to effector secretion', *Journal of bacteriology*, 195(4), pp. 740-756.

Randall, L. and Hardy, S. (2002) 'SecB, one small chaperone in the complex milieu of the cell', *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS*, 59(10), pp. 1617-1623.

Robinson, C. and Bolhuis, A. (2004) 'Tat-dependent protein targeting in prokaryotes and chloroplasts', *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research*, 1694(1-3), pp. 135-147.

Roche, D., Fléchard, M., Lallier, N., Répérant, M., Brée, A., Pascal, G., Schouler, C. and Germon, P. (2010) 'ICEEc2, a new integrative and conjugative element belonging to the pKLC102/PAGI-2 family, identified in Escherichia coli strain BEN374', *Journal of bacteriology*, 192(19), pp. 5026-5036.

Rojas-Lopez, M., Monterio, R., Pizza, M., Desvaux, M. and Rosini, R. (2018) 'Intestinal pathogenic Escherichia coli: insights for vaccine development', *Frontiers in microbiology*, 9, p. 440.

Romo-Castillo, M., Andrade, A., Espinosa, N., Feria, J.M., Soto, E., Díaz-Guerrero, M. and González-Pedrajo, B. (2014) 'EscO, a functional and structural analog of the flagellar FliJ protein, is a positive regulator of EscN ATPase activity of the enteropathogenic Escherichia coli injectisome', *Journal of bacteriology*, 196(12), pp. 2227-2241.

Rosenshine, I., Donnenberg, M.S., Kaper, J. and Finlay, B. (1992) 'Signal transduction between enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) and epithelial cells: EPEC induces tyrosine phosphorylation of host cell proteins to initiate cytoskeletal rearrangement and bacterial uptake', *The EMBO journal*, 11(10), pp. 3551-3560.

Rosenshine, I., Ruschkowski, S. and Finlay, B.B. (1996a) 'Expression of attaching/effacing activity by enteropathogenic Escherichia coli depends on growth phase, temperature, and protein synthesis upon contact with epithelial cells', *Infection and Immunity*, 64(3), pp. 966-973.

Rosenshine, I., Ruschkowski, S., Stein, M., Reinscheid, D., Mills, S. and Finlay, B. (1996b) 'A pathogenic bacterium triggers epithelial signals to form a functional bacterial receptor that mediates actin pseudopod formation', *The EMBO journal*, 15(11), pp. 2613-2624.

Roxas, J.L., Wilbur, J.S., Zhang, X., Martinez, G., Vedantam, G. and Viswanathan, V. (2012) 'The enteropathogenic Escherichia coli-secreted protein EspZ inhibits host cell apoptosis', *Infection and immunity*, 80(11), pp. 3850-3857.

Ruchaud-Sparagano, M.-H., Mühlen, S., Dean, P. and Kenny, B. (2011) 'The enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC) Tir effector inhibits NF-κB activity by targeting TNFα receptor-associated factors', *PLoS pathogens*, 7(12), p. e1002414.

Sal-Man, N., Deng, W. and Finlay, B.B. (2012) 'Escl: a crucial component of the type III secretion system forms the inner rod structure in enteropathogenic Escherichia coli', *Biochemical Journal*, 442(1), pp. 119-125.

Saldana, Z., Erdem, A.L., Schüller, S., Okeke, I.N., Lucas, M., Sivananthan, A., Phillips, A.D., Kaper, J.B., Puente, J.L. and Girón, J.A. (2009) 'The Escherichia coli common pilus and the bundle-forming pilus act in concert during the formation of localized adherence by enteropathogenic E. coli', *Journal of bacteriology*, 191(11), pp. 3451-3461.

Salinger, N., Kokona, B., Fairman, R. and Okeke, I.N. (2009) 'The plasmid-encoded regulator activates factors conferring lysozyme resistance on enteropathogenic Escherichia coli strains', *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 75(1), pp. 275-280.

Sargent, F., Stanley, N.R., Berks, B.C. and Palmer, T. (1999) 'Sec-independent protein translocation in Escherichia coli: a distinct and pivotal role for the TatB protein', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(51), pp. 36073-36082.

Schauer, D. and Falkow, S. (1993) 'Attaching and effacing locus of a Citrobacter freundii biotype that causes transmissible murine colonic hyperplasia', *Infection and immunity*, 61(6), pp. 2486-2492.

Schirmer, J. and Aktories, K. (2004) 'Large clostridial cytotoxins: cellular biology of Rho/Rasglucosylating toxins', *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-General Subjects*, 1673(1-2), pp. 66-74.

Selyunin, A.S., Reddick, L.E., Weigele, B.A. and Alto, N.M. (2014) 'Selective protection of an ARF1-GTP signaling axis by a bacterial scaffold induces bidirectional trafficking arrest', *Cell reports*, 6(5), pp. 878-891.

Selyunin, A.S., Sutton, S.E., Weigele, B.A., Reddick, L.E., Orchard, R.C., Bresson, S.M., Tomchick, D.R. and Alto, N.M. (2011) 'The assembly of a GTPase–kinase signalling complex by a bacterial catalytic scaffold', *Nature*, 469(7328), pp. 107-111.

Sender, R., Fuchs, S. and Milo, R. (2016) 'Revised estimates for the number of human and bacteria cells in the body', *PLoS biology*, 14(8), p. e1002533.

Serapio-Palacios, A. and Navarro-Garcia, F. (2016) 'EspC, an autotransporter protein secreted by enteropathogenic Escherichia coli, causes apoptosis and necrosis through caspase and calpain activation, including direct procaspase-3 cleavage', *MBio*, 7(3), pp. e00479-16.

Shames, S.R., Deng, W., Guttman, J.A., De Hoog, C.L., Li, Y., Hardwidge, P.R., Sham, H.P., Vallance, B.A., Foster, L.J. and Finlay, B.B. (2010) 'The pathogenic E. coli type III effector EspZ interacts with host CD98 and facilitates host cell prosurvival signalling', *Cellular microbiology*, 12(9), pp. 1322-1339.

Shao, F., Merritt, P.M., Bao, Z., Innes, R.W. and Dixon, J.E. (2002) 'A Yersinia effector and a Pseudomonas avirulence protein define a family of cysteine proteases functioning in bacterial pathogenesis', *Cell*, 109(5), pp. 575-588.

Shaulov, L., Gershberg, J., Deng, W., Finlay, B.B. and Sal-Man, N. (2017) 'The ruler protein EscP of the enteropathogenic Escherichia coli type III secretion system is involved in calcium sensing and secretion hierarchy regulation by interacting with the gatekeeper protein SepL', *MBio*, 8(1).

Shi, J., Gu, J.-h., Dai, C.-I., Gu, J., Jin, X., Sun, J., Iqbal, K., Liu, F. and Gong, C.-X. (2015) 'O-GlcNAcylation regulates ischemia-induced neuronal apoptosis through AKT signaling', *Scientific reports*, 5(1), pp. 1-14.

Shifflett, D.E., Clayburgh, D.R., Koutsouris, A., Turner, J.R. and Hecht, G.A. (2005) 'Enteropathogenic E. coli disrupts tight junction barrier function and structure in vivo', *Laboratory investigation*, 85(10), pp. 1308-1324.

Siebers, A. and Finlay, B.B. (1996) 'M cells and the pathogenesis of mucosal and systemic infections', *Trends in microbiology*, 4(1), pp. 22-29.

Simonovic, I., Rosenberg, J., Koutsouris, A. and Hecht, G. (2000) 'Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli dephosphorylates and dissociates occludin from intestinal epithelial tight junctions', *Cellular microbiology*, 2(4), pp. 305-315.

Slater, S.L., Sågfors, A.M., Pollard, D.J., Ruano-Gallego, D. and Frankel, G. (2018) 'The type III secretion system of pathogenic Escherichia coli', in *Escherichia coli, a versatile pathogen*. Springer, pp. 51-72.

Snoeck, V., Goddeeris, B. and Cox, E. (2005) 'The role of enterocytes in the intestinal barrier function and antigen uptake', *Microbes and infection*, 7(7-8), pp. 997-1004.

Sohaskey, C.D., Im, H. and Schauer, A.T. (1992) 'Construction and application of plasmidand transposon-based promoter-probe vectors for Streptomyces spp. that employ a Vibrio harveyi luciferase reporter cassette', *Journal of bacteriology*, 174(2), pp. 367-376.

Staley, C., Weingarden, A.R., Khoruts, A. and Sadowsky, M.J. (2017) 'Interaction of gut microbiota with bile acid metabolism and its influence on disease states', *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, 101(1), pp. 47-64.

Stebbins, C.E. and Galan, J.E. (2001) 'Maintenance of an unfolded polypeptide by a cognate chaperone in bacterial type III secretion', *Nature*, 414(6859), pp. 77-81.

Stevens, J.M., Galyov, E.E. and Stevens, M.P. (2006) Actin-dependent movement of bacterial pathogens', *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 4(2), pp. 91-101.

Stevens, M.P., Roe, A.J., Vlisidou, I., Van Diemen, P.M., La Ragione, R.M., Best, A., Woodward, M.J., Gally, D.L. and Wallis, T.S. (2004) 'Mutation of toxB and a truncated version of the efa-1 gene in Escherichia coli O157: H7 influences the expression and secretion of locus of enterocyte effacement-encoded proteins but not intestinal colonization in calves or sheep', *Infection and immunity*, 72(9), pp. 5402-5411.

Stevens, M.P., van Diemen, P.M., Frankel, G., Phillips, A.D. and Wallis, T.S. (2002) 'Efa1 influences colonization of the bovine intestine by Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli serotypes O5 and O111', *Infection and immunity*, 70(9), pp. 5158-5166.

Stone, K.D., Zhang, H.Z., Carlson, L.K. and Donnenberg, M.S. (1996) 'A cluster of fourteen genes from enteropathogenic Escherichia coli is sufficient for the biogenesis of a type IV pilus', *Molecular microbiology*, 20(2), pp. 325-337.

Swimm, A.I. and Kalman, D. (2008) 'Cytosolic extract induces Tir translocation and pedestals in EPEC-infected red blood cells', *PLoS pathogens*, 4(1), p. e4.

Takeuchi, O. and Akira, S. (2010) 'Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation', *Cell*, 140(6), pp. 805-820.

Tatsuno, I., Horie, M., Abe, H., Miki, T., Makino, K., Shinagawa, H., Taguchi, H., Kamiya, S., Hayashi, T. and Sasakawa, C. (2001) 'toxB gene on pO157 of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coliO157: H7 is required for full epithelial cell adherence phenotype', *Infection and immunity*, 69(11), pp. 6660-6669.

Tejeda-Dominguez, F., Huerta-Cantillo, J., Chavez-Dueñas, L. and Navarro-Garcia, F. (2017) 'A Novel Mechanism for Protein Delivery by the Type 3 Secretion System for Extracellularly Secreted Proteins', *mBio*, 8(2).

Testa, J.R. and Bellacosa, A. (2001) 'AKT plays a central role in tumorigenesis', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98(20), pp. 10983-10985.

Thanabalasuriar, A., Koutsouris, A., Hecht, G. and Gruenheid, S. (2010) 'The bacterial virulence factor NIeA's involvement in intestinal tight junction disruption during enteropathogenic E. coli infection is independent of its putative PDZ binding domain', *Gut Microbes*, 1(2), pp. 114-118.

Thanabalu, T., Koronakis, E., Hughes, C. and Koronakis, V. (1998) 'Substrate-induced assembly of a contiguous channel for protein export from E. coli: reversible bridging of an inner-membrane translocase to an outer membrane exit pore', *The EMBO journal*, 17(22), pp. 6487-6496.

Thapa, N., Chen, M., Horn, H.T., Choi, S., Wen, T. and Anderson, R.A. (2020) 'Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signalling is spatially organized at endosomal compartments by microtubule-associated protein 4', *Nature Cell Biology*, 22(11), pp. 1357-1370.

Thomas, N.A., Deng, W., Puente, J.L., Frey, E.A., Yip, C.K., Strynadka, N.C. and Finlay, B.B. (2005) 'CesT is a multi-effector chaperone and recruitment factor required for the efficient type III secretion of both LEE-and non-LEE-encoded effectors of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli', *Molecular microbiology*, 57(6), pp. 1762-1779.

Thursby, E. and Juge, N. (2017) 'Introduction to the human gut microbiota', *Biochemical Journal*, 474(11), pp. 1823-1836.

Tobe, T., Beatson, S.A., Taniguchi, H., Abe, H., Bailey, C.M., Fivian, A., Younis, R., Matthews, S., Marches, O. and Frankel, G. (2006) 'An extensive repertoire of type III secretion effectors in Escherichia coli O157 and the role of lambdoid phages in their dissemination', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(40), pp. 14941-14946.

Tobe, T., Hayashi, T., Han, C.-G., Schoolnik, G.K., Ohtsubo, E. and Sasakawa, C. (1999) 'Complete DNA sequence and structural analysis of the enteropathogenic Escherichia coli adherence factor plasmid', *Infection and Immunity*, 67(10), p. 5455.

Torres, A.G., Zhou, X. and Kaper, J.B. (2005) 'Adherence of diarrheagenic Escherichia coli strains to epithelial cells', *Infection and immunity*, 73(1), pp. 18-29.

Trokter, M., Felisberto-Rodrigues, C., Christie, P.J. and Waksman, G. (2014) 'Recent advances in the structural and molecular biology of type IV secretion systems', *Current opinion in structural biology*, 27, pp. 16-23.

Tschopp, O., Yang, Z.-Z., Brodbeck, D., Dummler, B.A., Hemmings-Mieszczak, M., Watanabe, T., Michaelis, T., Frahm, J. and Hemmings, B.A. (2005) 'Essential role of protein kinase Bγ (PKBγ/Akt3) in postnatal brain development but not in glucose homeostasis'.

Tseng, T.-T., Tyler, B.M. and Setubal, J.C. (2009) 'Protein secretion systems in bacterial-host associations, and their description in the Gene Ontology', *BMC microbiology*, 9(1), pp. 1-9.

Uchiya, K.i., Tobe, T., Komatsu, K., Suzuki, T., Watarai, M., Fukuda, I., Yoshikawa, M. and Sasakawa, C. (1995) 'Identification of a novel virulence gene, virA, on the large plasmid of Shigella, involved in invasion and intercellular spreading', *Molecular microbiology*, 17(2), pp. 241-250.

Van den Bossche, L. (2017) Bile acids as novel therapeutic agents for inflammatory bowel disease.

Van Engelenburg, S.B. and Palmer, A.E. (2010) 'Imaging type-III secretion reveals dynamics and spatial segregation of Salmonella effectors', *Nature methods*, 7(4), pp. 325-330.

Vanhaesebroeck, B., Guillermet-Guibert, J., Graupera, M. and Bilanges, B. (2010) 'The emerging mechanisms of isoform-specific PI3K signalling', *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology*, 11(5), pp. 329-341.

Vanhaesebroeck, B., Stephens, L. and Hawkins, P. (2012) 'PI3K signalling: the path to discovery and understanding', *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology*, 13(3), pp. 195-203.

Vereecke, L., Beyaert, R. and van Loo, G. (2011) 'Enterocyte death and intestinal barrier maintenance in homeostasis and disease', *Trends in molecular medicine*, 17(10), pp. 584-593.

Vidal, J.E. and Navarro-García, F. (2008) 'EspC translocation into epithelial cells by enteropathogenic Escherichia coli requires a concerted participation of type V and III secretion systems', *Cellular microbiology*, 10(10), pp. 1975-1986.

Vijayakumar, V., Santiago, A., Smith, R., Smith, M., Robins-Browne, R.M., Nataro, J.P. and Ruiz-Perez, F. (2014) 'Role of class 1 serine protease autotransporter in the pathogenesis of Citrobacter rodentium colitis', *Infection and immunity*, 82(6), pp. 2626-2636.

Viswanathan, V., Hodges, K. and Hecht, G. (2009) 'Enteric infection meets intestinal function: how bacterial pathogens cause diarrhoea', *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 7(2), pp. 110-119.

Walter, J., Maldonado-Gómez, M.X. and Martínez, I. (2018) 'To engraft or not to engraft: an ecological framework for gut microbiome modulation with live microbes', *Current opinion in biotechnology*, 49, pp. 129-139.

Wan, F., Anderson, D.E., Barnitz, R.A., Snow, A., Bidere, N., Zheng, L., Hegde, V., Lam, L.T., Staudt, L.M. and Levens, D. (2007) 'Ribosomal protein S3: a KH domain subunit in NF-κB complexes that mediates selective gene regulation', *Cell*, 131(5), pp. 927-939.

Waters, L.S. and Storz, G. (2009) 'Regulatory RNAs in bacteria', Cell, 136(4), pp. 615-628.

Watson, N. (1988) 'A new revision of the sequence of plasmid pBR322', *Gene*, 70(2), pp. 399-403.

Wong, A.R., Pearson, J.S., Bright, M.D., Munera, D., Robinson, K.S., Lee, S.F., Frankel, G. and Hartland, E.L. (2011) 'Enteropathogenic and enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli: even more subversive elements', *Molecular microbiology*, 80(6), pp. 1420-1438.

Yan, D., Quan, H., Wang, L., Liu, F., Liu, H., Chen, J., Cao, X. and Ge, B. (2013) 'Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli Tir recruits cellular SHP-2 through ITIM motifs to suppress host immune response', *Cell Signal*, 25(9), pp. 1887-94.

Yen, H., Ooka, T., Iguchi, A., Hayashi, T., Sugimoto, N. and Tobe, T. (2010) 'NIeC, a type III secretion protease, compromises NF-kB activation by targeting p65/RelA', *PLoS Pathog*, 6(12), p. e1001231.

Yerushalmi, G., Litvak, Y., Gur-Arie, L. and Rosenshine, I. (2014) 'Dynamics of expression and maturation of the type III secretion system of enteropathogenic Escherichia coli', *Journal of bacteriology*, 196(15), pp. 2798-2806.

Zdychova, J. and Komers, R. (2005) 'Emerging role of Akt kinase/protein kinase B signaling in pathophysiology of diabetes and its complications', *Physiol Res*, 54(1), pp. 1-16.

Zhu, C., Agin, T.S., Elliott, S.J., Johnson, L.A., Thate, T.E., Kaper, J.B. and Boedeker, E.C. (2001) 'Complete nucleotide sequence and analysis of the locus of enterocyte effacement from rabbit diarrheagenic Escherichia coli RDEC-1', *Infection and immunity*, 69(4), pp. 2107-2115.

Zhuang, X., Chen, Z., He, C., Wang, L., Zhou, R., Yan, D. and Ge, B. (2017) 'Modulation of host signaling in the inflammatory response by enteropathogenic Escherichia coli virulence proteins', *Cellular & molecular immunology*, 14(3), pp. 237-244.

Zihni, C., Mills, C., Matter, K. and Balda, M.S. (2016) 'Tight junctions: from simple barriers to multifunctional molecular gates', *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology*, 17(9), pp. 564-580.

Zoued, A., Brunet, Y.R., Durand, E., Aschtgen, M.-S., Logger, L., Douzi, B., Journet, L., Cambillau, C. and Cascales, E. (2014) 'Architecture and assembly of the Type VI secretion system', *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research*, 1843(8), pp. 1664-1673.